FREKRETHIRAA

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

JRBH 2R R A PR AT
Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
(Stock Code B3R5 :01209.HK)

— 17746
BT

Two Decades of Heritage
A New Horizon of Legacy

DYAXA W, |

AF RS ¥ -

ANNUAL REPORT T —






Eﬂh 55< CONTENTS

002  A[REHR
Corporate Information

005  sEmzes
Group Structure
006 ARG
Company Profile
008 A[FERE
Company Honour

010 2BE#%RB
Nationwide Presence

012 RERE
Performance Highlights
014 xE#H%E

Chairman’s Statement

025 EEBHWEDN
Management Discussion and Analysis
050 EBEREEEBEASHE
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management
068 HEEARES
Corporate Governance Report

105 EBEBEg®RE
Report of the Directors

157 BIBBEHEES
Independent Auditor’s Report

172 mEeEZREMAZEKIER
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

173 @mEsuBRRE

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

175  @#egzngsx
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

176 HEBEHEX
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

177 HEBMBHRRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

331 HBHE
Financial Summary
332 B2

Definition



002

TR PUEEHY  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

nEER

CORPORATE INFORMATION

5=
FHITES

FMEE ()
BB RE

BITES

W) R BR O A (4B EL)

TER%AE (FI4EH)

FREE

(Bl#a%  R-_F-NF—A=+LHEZ(F)
EBEBERLE (BEAFKEFEIIFE)

SEntE A (B FEEERELE
R-E—pF—A -+ NHEZT
W —EZpFENA+IEEHT)

BELL
(Bl#aE R _F_MF—H1+HHRE)

BYFUTES

ZIRME L
SREIIE A&
PRREITAE
FEkFT LT

BREEY
PR (£
REE S 4
Bkt
St S

REZEE
R L ()

BmELE
Bokast

DIRECTORS
Non-executive Directors

Mr. LI Xin (Chairman)
Mr. GUO Shiging

Executive Directors

Mr. YU Linkang (President)

Mr. WANG Haimin (Vice President)

Mr. WANG Lei (Vice President, appointed with
effect from 29 January 2024)

Mr. NIE Zhizhang (Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. GUO Ruifeng (Vice President and Chief Strategy
and Operating Officer, appointed with effect from
29 January 2024 and resigned with effect from
19 June 2024)

Ms. WEI Xiaohua (Vice President, retired with effect
from 15 January 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer
Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan
Ms. LO Wing Sze

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan (Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching

Ms. LO Wing Sze

Mr. GUO Shiging

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LI Xin (Chairman)
Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer
Ms. LO Wing Sze



FMWEES
B 58 £ ()
REE % 4
R
RS

IHERREES

FIRFEE (E/F)
REIER A
oL

DNEIME

BRI A
(RZZFZmF 7 AN HEHF)

RERELT
(R-ZE-—PFEARANHEZT)

BREAX
FMsek
I TR S

AR EE

PO Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

REBRPETELEME

A
YT
g 1L % 2% 79 K 38 9668 ik
EHE M RNEBEIE

ERIEERH

BB

VBT
BB B 2657
= RE 4612

MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited 003

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer (Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan

Mr. LI Xin

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE

Mr. LI Xin (Chairman)

Mr. YU Linkang

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching
Ms. LO Wing Sze

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. SO Yiu Fung

(resigned with effect from 6 May 2024)
Dr. NGAI Wai Fung

(appointed with effect from 6 May 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. LI Xin
Mr. YU Linkang

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

30/F., China Resources Land Building, Tower B
No. 9668 Shennan Avenue, Nanshan District
Shenzhen

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

46/F., China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong



004

TR PUEEHY  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

nEER

CORPORATE INFORMATION

BREBEBRE

BEEBSFELBRAR
BB

BB 1698
BRRESRP L7

ETEAREAT
SR BBITRIDERAA
BERTRGBRAF

B ZEE

EER TR EHAT

HE BT ED

(Bt KA IERBIFHI) T
Z i MRz
Bz

FREPREITE10RAFAESE

DEEEER
R R
At

www.crmixclifestyle.com.cn

iR 1K 5%

1209

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountant

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Accounting and Financial Reporting
Council Ordinance

8/F, Prince’s Building, 10 Chater Road, Central, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS TO THE COMPANY
Clifford Chance

WEBSITE

www.crmixclifestyle.com.cn

STOCK CODE
1209



246424 China Resources Mixce Lifestyle Services Limited 005

5 2R A
GROUP STRUCTURE

59.55%*

1.43%*

72.29%*

Commercial Property
Management Business Management Business

r mEAE ) { mE )

177 BEELRBBEYTLERBEER(BEEY 1 960 &aREAR
ROLHEIER) ) Contracted projects
Number of contracted shopping mall under
commercial operational services (including
shopping mall subleasing projects)

122 HEELRBEYPLOCHAFER B (BEE 1 823 EEHEE
W OLHHEIEE) ) Projects under management
Number of opened shopping mall under
commercial operational services (including
shopping mall subleasing projects)

32 HEELRBEETESRBERH 429 1 A RMEE
Number of contracted office under u Contracted GFA

commercial operational services B . b illon

27 BERELRBEFREEHEEBH 396 4 EEMEE
Number of opened office under commercial O GFA under management

Operathnal services B & 5K sq.m. in million

CHE_Z-_ME+-A=+—H
As of 31 December 2024
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China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (CR
Mixc Lifestyle) (stock code: 01209.HK) is the leading
property management and commercial operational
services provider in China. We were listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 9 December 2020
and were included in the list of the Hong Kong
Hang Seng Index constituents on 18 November
2022. In addition, we were successfully selected
into the list of “Double Hundred Enterprises” of the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission in 2023. Taking the strategic goal of
“creating a world-class enterprise and becoming
the most influential light asset management
company in China” and the strategic positioning of
“urban quality-life service platform”, upholding to
our corporate vision to “become a trustworthy and
popular urban quality-life service provider among
customers” with focus on the three key elements of
“space”, “customers” and “products and services”,
and adhering to the integrated “2+1” business
model covering commercial management channels,
property management channels and membership
programs, we are committed to creating an integrated
ecosystem featured with “multiple property types,
all customers and full spectrum of product and
service offerings”. Highlighting “Extraordinary MIXC”
as our brand philosophy and adhering to our value
proposition of “capitalizing on smart services in
leading urban quality lifestyle and enhancing the
value of space assets”, CR Mixc Lifestyle, through
an exceptional contribution in terms of humanities,
technology, space and ecology, endows the city
and lifestyle with extraordinary temperament, thus
achieving “Extraordinary MIXC” on quality.
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“MIXC Commercial” boasts China’s leading shopping
mall development and operational capabilities. We
provide services throughout the process for the
development and operation of shopping malls, namely
investment planning, product positioning, design
consulting, leasing, operational services and other
single or multiple service portfolios. MIXC Commercial
has been ranked the No.1 in Commercial Real Estate
Performance Guandian (% 24) for five consecutive
years. As of the end of 2024, CR Mixc Lifestyle had 122
opened shopping malls under management in China,
of which 86 projects ranking among the top three in
the local market by retail sales, with retail sales as
high as RMB215 billion and the number of commercial
members exceeding 57 million.

“MIXC SERVICE” is committed to becoming “the
most influential urban space operational service
provider”. Concentrating on community living space,
office production space and urban public space.
Through integrated urban ecological operation and
service, a technological and intelligent platform is
utilized to integrate urban resources, operate urban
spaces and serve urban people, bringing people a
more extraordinary urban lifestyle experience. MIXC
SERVICE has maintained its position among the first
echelon of comprehensive strength in the property
management industry. As of the end of 2024, MIXC
SERVICE made its presence in 173 cities in China,
with GFA of 413 million sg.m. under management and
GFA of 450 million sq.m. contracted.
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2024 FEPHHEMERIZ1005E — — B2,

No. 1 among 2024 Top 100 Commercial Real Estate Performance — Guandian

U FETERRMELESFAENTOPI00FE — — mEH
No. 1 among 2024 Top 100 Retail Commercial Property Enterprises Comprehensive
Strength — Winshang.com

2024 BMERB N AREEERL — =milin
No. 5 among 2024 China Top 100 Property Service Capability Enterprises — CRIC

2024 FEAFRMERMEEBERR20BE - —BH

No. 1 among 2024 Top 20 Commercial Real Estate Brand Value Performance — Guandian

2024 MELEHRTIRIEEMRIRE — — BE
No. 1 among 2024 Property Service Enterprise in terms of Urban Service Excellence —
Guandian

2024 MEMRB E X FBMBERIAE— — BE
No. 1 among 2024 Property Service Listed Enterprise with Outstanding Financial
Performance — Guandian

REFEZAXENEETHELEE — — EEEE
No. 1 among 2023 Most Influential Commercial Real Estate Enterprise — Wanshang Club

2024 FEMEMEEIRE NRIF20E = — HE
No. 3 among 2024 Top 20 Commercial Real Estate Management Capability —
Guandian
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2024 FEBEFRMERFENRIR20F = — B2

No. 3 among 2024 Top 20 Commercial Real Estate Innovation Capability — Guandian

2024 P B R IRAF X MIEEE 10058 — e fin
2024 China Top 100 Property Service Enterprises Brand Value — CRIC

[SLBIFEBRRHWERELE — REHE

“Golden Compass” Annual Commercial Real Estate Leading Enterprise — Winshang.com

(SR IBELELERENTCE — REHE
“Golden Compass” Digital Intelligence Operation Influential Enterprise — Winshang.com

[ERHE| —2023FEBEWPLEFELETELE — PTEPRRMETRERRE
“Starlight Award” — 2023 Outstanding Shopping Center Operation & Management
Enterprise — China Commercial Real Estate Development Forum

FREIESG E AR 100 — AR
ESG Pioneer 100 Awards for China’s Listed Companies — CCTV

R{ESG - £8100 —BHEE
Top 100 ESG Leading SOE — SASAC
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NATIONWIDE PRESENCE

MEMBEEEE

GFA under management of property management business

396.4

A & F 5 K Million Square Metres

MEMBE K EIE
Contracted GFA of property management business

429.1

B & F 5 K Million Square Metres

BYPLEER

Retail sales of shopping malls

215.0

A E ¥ +187T RMB Billion

EREXBYHLEE

Number of opened shopping malls

122

EFREBYTOEE
GFA of opened shopping malls

13.1

B & F ;5 K Million Square Metres

SEHE

Number of members

6,107

& Ten thousands
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REER
Year-on-Year
2024 2023 Growth
BEmE Commercial Management Business
B A 0 Shopping Malls
-EEHHER — Management Outsourcing
Projects
GREEEE(TERK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 18,568 16,728 11.0%
ERREEEMNIBEBEE Number of projects for contracted
GFA 169’ 154 9.7%
EFREIBEREERE GFA of projects opened
(FFHK) (sg.m. in thousands) 12,691 10,591 19.8%
ERZEIEBEEHE Number of projects opened 118 98 20.4%
-FER KEE — Profit-sharing Projects
GREEEE (FFEHK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 327 127 157.5%
HGRELEEMNIEEHE Number of projects for contracted
GFA 4 2 100.0%
EMEBEREEERE GFA of projects opened
(FFFHK) (sg.m. in thousands) 107 107 -
EMEBEEHE Number of projects opened 1 1 -
-REHEIRA — Leasing Operation Projects
BREEEE (FFHFXK) Contracted GFA (sqg.m. in thousands) 488 340 43.5%
GREEEEMIEEHE Number of projects for contracted
GFA 4 3 33.3%
EMEBEREER GFA of projects opened
(FFEHFK) (sg.m. in thousands) 340 274 24.1%
EMEBEEHE Number of projects opened 3 2 50.0%
EFE Offices
-BEEERY — Commercial Operational Services
EREEEE (FFAK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 2,161 2,207 21%
SRZEEENIER EA Number of projects for contracted
GFA 32 33 -3.0%
EREEEERE(TFAK)  GFA of projects opened
(sg.m. in thousands) 1,893 1,694 11.7%
EMZEBEEHAE Number of projects opened 27 26 3.8%
-YEEERY - Property Management Services
EREEEE (FFHK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 21,401 18,784 13.9%
ERREEEMIBEEHE Number of projects for contracted
GFA 240 210 14.3%
EERERE (TFHAK) GFA under management services
(sg.m. in thousands) 16,686 14,820 12.6%
EEREEENIEEHE Number of projects for GFA under
management 221 195 13.3%

The contracted GFA and number of projects for contracted GFA as at 31 December 2024 excluded those attributable to reserved
shopping malls acquired by CR Land but not contracted. The contracted GFA and number of projects for contracted GFA including
reserved shopping malls acquired by CR Land but not contracted are 21,724 thousand sg.m. and 191 as at 31 December 2024

respectively.

CECNET A=+ -HENARRERERAAZLAEENEE R RCREHEMECENERZOREEBD P OEBRIENERE
KEELARZEAENEBHRE BE-_T-_WNF+-_A=+—H NZEFHELEEMERBZINBERRIAEHE S A

21,724 FF 75 KA 19113 ©
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RFEER
Year-on-Year
2024 2023 Growth
WEME Property Management Business
HEZEH Community Space
AREEEE(TERK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 302,317 300,989 0.4%
ERREEEMNIBEBEE Number of projects for contracted
GFA 1,507 1,481 1.8%
EEREEE (FEHAK) GFA under management
(sg.m. in thousands) 271,445 251,033 8.1%
TEREEEMNIBEBEE Number of projects for GFA under
management 1,385 1,296 6.9%
o 7 22 Urban Space
EREE(FFRAK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 126,778 105,496 20.2%
& REENIEE&E Number of projects for contracted
GFA 453 450 0.7%
EEEE(FFFK) GFA under management
(sg.m. in thousands) 124,935 104,306 19.8%
EEMERIEE 88 Number of projects for GFA under
management 438 435 0.7%
FTEHBER Selected Financial Information
(AR®BEER) (RMB million)
W g Revenue 17,043 14,767 15.4%
E7 Gross Profit 5,609 4,694 19.5%
HRARHEAEEFA Profit for the year attributable to
lpE owners of the parent 3,629 2,929 23.9%
NalEB AREEZL Core net profit attributable to owners
bl of the parent 3,5072 2,920 20.1%
TEEERBEREE Selected Balance Sheet Data
(ANRE®EET) (RMB million)
BEE Total assets 28,908 27,783 4.0%
BfERR Total liabilities 12,187 11,747 3.7%
B Total equity 16,721 16,036 4.3%
TEBKLEE Selected Financial Ratios
ERE Gross profit margin 32.9% 31.8% 1.1pt
FEFEE Net profit margin 21.9% 19.9% 2.0pt
1O R & Core net profit margin 20.6% 19.8% 0.8pt
EREABH(ARET) Basic earnings per share (RMB) 1.590 1.283 23.9%

2 Non-HKFRS measure, refer to definition on page 45.
2 EEBUBRELEANE  EHBRFEL2HESE -

013
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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| am pleased to present to Shareholders the business
review and outlook of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024.

In 2024, China’s economy advanced under pressure
amidst a complex and challenging environment,
and recovered with stable high-quality development
despite fluctuations. The Chinese government
took expanding domestic demand as a strategic
foundation, and implemented multiple measures to
boost consumption, enabling the consumer market to
achieve resilient growth despite the pressure. At the
same time, the differentiation of consumer demand
continued to intensify. The growth of commodity
retail, especially high-end consumption, slowed
down under pressure, while the growth of service
consumption remained robust, and consumers
increasingly attached importance to the value of
consumption. Overall, the landscape of the consumer
market became more complex. Shopping mall
operators continuously strengthened their capabilities
in meticulous adaptation and innovative coordination,
with an aim to achieve structural growth by accurately
grasping segmented scenarios and demands. The
growth rate of the property management industry
shifted gears, as policy guidance and increased
competition drove the focus to shift towards “quality
over quantity”. Leading property management
enterprises firmly promoted high-quality expansion
and service innovation. Through deepened lean
operations and accelerated internal reforms, they
explored the extension and layout of the industrial
chain in sub-segments, and continuously built a
positive cycle of scale, efficiency, and service quality.
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In 2024, notwithstanding the significant increase in
the uncertainty of the external operating environment,
the Group vigorously promoted various strategic
measures. Taking “high quality, high efficiency,
high standard, and stable growth” as the overall
operating principle, the Group implemented the
business strategies of refined management and lean
operations. As a result, we have achieved continuous
growth in business performance and continuous
improvement in management effectiveness, steadily
advancing on the journey of becoming China’s most
influential asset-light management company.

Enhancing quantity and quality to achieve stable
scale growth. The Group’s commercial management
business has adhered to its strategic focus on high-
tier cities, while deepening the management. During
the year, the Group newly signed 12 commercial
asset-light expansion projects, eight of which are
transit-oriented development (TOD) projects in key
cities, maintaining its leading position in terms of
quantity and quality; 21 new shopping malls were
opened. Specifically, Xi'an MIXC, a phenomenon
project, has attracted widespread attention in the
market; Shenzhen Longgang Universiade project
has developed the overall planning model featuring
“cultural, commercial and sports construction and
operation”; and the product competitiveness of YIWU
PLACE, SHAOXING PLACE and other innovative
projects has been ahead of the market. The number
of opened shopping malls under the Group’s
management has increased to 122. The Group’s
property management business has remained in
the first echelon in the industry and focused on
its strategic positioning to continuously expand,
and is accelerating its development into an urban
space operation service provider. During the year,
the Group newly expanded 91 urban public space
projects, developing a series of high-quality model
projects for stadiums, industrial parks, universities,
etc. Capitalising on its advantages in the integrated
operation and services, the Group undertook and
implemented the project in Longgang, Wenzhou,
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which further strengthened the Group’s competitive
edge in the field of urban operation and services.
As of the end of 2024, the area under management
was 413 million sg.m. and the contracted area was
450 million sg.m., covering 173 cities across the
country. In the area of the membership business,
the Group made steady progress with an increasing
size of members and points. As of the end of 2024,
the total number of “MIXC Star” (8 % £ ) members
reached 61.07 million, representing a 32.0% year-
on-year (“YoY”) increase, and the amount of “MIXC
Star” (B85 £ ) points issued totaled RMB1.03 billion,
representing a YoY increase of 15.7%. The Group
has expanded high-frequency points redemption
scenarios such as various kinds of travelling and
community services, which covered the diversified
consumption needs of its members and allowed
further enhancing members’ activeness in the private
domain.

Improving quality and efficiency to make
steady progress. Our shopping mall business in
the commercial management business segment
deepened the professional management to execute
the strategy of “capturing resources, attracting
customers, adopting favourable policies, controlling
expenses, and achieving performance goals”. Our
operation outperformed the general trend. The
shopping malls under the management of the Group
realised retail sales of RMB215.0 billion, representing
a YoY increase of 18.7%.
property owners side reached RMB26.2 billion,
representing a YoY increase of 19.2%, with operating
profit margin from the property owners side increasing
by 0.4 percentage point YoY to 65.1%. The ecosystem
business was fully upgraded. The Group completed
the opening of the first self-owned store of high-end
cosmetics, which effectively improved the project’s
product positioning, competitiveness and service
capabilities and significantly enhanced the project’s
competitive edge. In property management business
segment, the Group comprehensively focused
on building better communities and continued to

Rental income from the
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improve basic service capabilities, with customer
satisfaction increasing by 3.44 points YoY to 91.76
points. The evenness of service standard significantly
improved, and the collection rate reached 87% as
driven by quality services. The Group also tapped
the potential of value-added services to property
owners, with revenue increasing by 6.3% YoY. The
engineering service company commenced physical
operation and constructed the business model,
achieving breakthroughs in commercial maintenance
business. The group-wide emphasis on performance
quality management resulted in a YoY decrease of
1.0 percentage point in selling and administrative
expense ratio to 7.4%, whereas a YoY increase of
4.4 percentage points in operating cash flow ratio to
25.0% and a YoY increase of 17.2 percentage points
in the coverage ratio of operating cash flow to core
net profit attributable to the Shareholders (non-HKFRS
measure) to 121.4%.

Leverage technologies to generate more
development momentum. The Group firmly
implemented digital transformation and accelerated
the utilisation of technologies to achieve “production
technologisation, operation digitalisation, space
intelligentisation and data capitalisation”. In
terms of “production technologisation and
operation digitalisation”, focusing on building
smart malls, the commercial management business
segment reshaped store management systems
by connecting seven core systems to significantly
improve operational efficiency across the entire
business chain and decision-making processes.
Also, it continuously optimised the “Lianggu” (R
&) mini-program to provide merchants with
comprehensive online services and intelligent
business operation reports, and systematically
restructured the commercial settlement middle
platform to further advance the integration of
business and finance and process efficiency. The
property management business segment focused
on production digitalisation, including promoting
the implementation of the parking platform and
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completing the construction of management systems
for property renovation value-added services,
leasing and sales, and public area resources. Efforts
are focused on online operations of frontliner and
customer service as well as optimisation of the
“Zhaoxi” (81 &) platform. Leveraging the “Zhaoxi”
platform, it extended management capabilities for
different urban spaces and improved the quality
and efficiency of service delivery. As for “space
intelligentisation”, the commercial management
business segment has successfully piloted an
Internet of Things (loT) platform to set Shenzhen
Bay MIXC as a benchmark for smart shopping malls
through achieving full-lifecycle management of
smart devices. The property management business
segment has launched an intelligent operations
platform, with pilot applications in equipment room
inspections and public area comprehensive patrols.
Regarding “data capitalisation”, the Group
developed a user profiling platform, which integrates
data across multiple business areas to achieve
comprehensive multi-dimensional membership
data accumulation. Strengthening data insights has
yielded initial success in offline consumer traffic
driven by commercial coupons from the commercial
management business segment, while the property
management business segment continues refining its
self-developed e-commerce platform to further unlock
customer value.
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Transformation revitalises organisational vitality.
The Group remains committed to organisational
transformation and enhancing efficiency within the
organisation through iterations. During the year, the
management framework featured “service-platform
headquarters, legally anchored business segments,
specialisation in prioritised verticals” has been
established. In line with the principles of “streamline
for efficiency and authority with corresponding
responsibility”, the commercial management and
the property management business segments have
been structured as business entities. Decentralised
authorisation, organisational alignment and team
strengthening have further enhanced organisational
capabilities and operational vitality of the full-value
chain for major segments. In-depth differentiated
management for sub-segments and mid-and-
back-office function sharing ensure simultaneous
improvements in professional competency and
operational efficiency. Focusing on critical positions
of operations, the Group promoted the quality
improvement and upgrading of the talent team and
built a talent reserve by internal promotions and
external recruitment to support business growth. The
frontline compensation system has been restructured
to improve employees’ sense of gain and satisfaction.
A refined salary standard framework highlighted value
differentiation for aiding in talent retention. Incentive
mechanisms for market expansion and tenant
sourcing have been optimised by strengthening
the linkage with individual contribution for further
reinforcing a performance-driven culture.
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Sustainable development for a better future.
The Group integrates its Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) strategy into business
operations and management to drive sustainable
development and value creation. In fulfilling our
commitment to sustainable cities and communities,
the Group has joined the WELL at Scale, released
our first community prosperity report, and expanded
implementation frameworks. We actively address
to climate change by refining our carbon peak
and carbon neutrality management mechanisms
while achieving our annual targets. Additionally,
the beautiful community green initiative has been
launched by the Group, incorporating zero-
waste community development into its operations.
Further strengthening the connotation of the “MIXC
Care” (8 % <T #) responsibility brand, the Group
remains focused on rural revitalisation, low-carbon
environmental protection, community engagement,
and public responsibility, while consistently rolling
out a series of initiatives. We prioritise stakeholder
engagement, including consumers, tenants,
and property owners, to foster the sustainable
development of the industry and expand its impact.
For two consecutive years, the Group has been
listed in the “China’s Listed Companies ESG Pioneer
100" (R BIESG £ A Al 5L $& 100) and the “Listed
Companies of Central SOEs ESG Pioneer 100" (&1
A FIESG % $2100%8 #) and has also received
prestigious honours, including the “Rising Star Award”
(£ #i 3 £ #2) from the International WELL Building
Institute (IWBI), “Most Respected Enterprise Award”
(R E R {2 #8) from The Economic Observer and
“Annual Low-Carbon Pioneer” ({& fi% %t %) from the
Southern Weekly.
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In 2024, the Group delivered steady growth across
key performance indicator, achieving solid results.
Our consolidated revenue amounted to RMB17.043
billion, representing a YoY increase of 15.4%, and
core net profit attributable to the Shareholders (non-
HKFRS measure) amounted to RMB3.507 billion,
representing a YoY increase of 20.1%. Core net profit
per Share attributable to the Shareholders (non-
HKFRS measure) were RMB1.536, with a steady
growth in each core performance indicator. The
Board resolved to recommend a final dividend of
RMBO0.643 per share, representing a YoY increase of
33.7% and leading to an increase of 5 percentage
points in dividend payout rate to 60% for the year,
and simultaneously declaring a special dividend of
RMBO0.614 per share, which significantly boosted
Shareholders’ returns.

Looking forward to 2025, the complex and challenging
domestic and international environment will extend for
China’s economy, and intensifying market competition
and insufficient endogenous driving force in consumer
spending for industries. However, the Group believes
that proactive macroeconomic policies and precise
regulatory measures will drive sustained improvement
in the national economy. Guided by policies focused
on people’s livelihoods and bolstered by initiatives
to stimulate consumption, the consumer market is
expected to achieve a virtuous cycle of demand
release and structural upgrading. The year of 2025
marks the conclusion of the 14th Five-Year Strategic
Plan. The Group will adhere to the principle of
“‘reform-driven development”, with “stable growth” as
the overarching operational goal. Guided by the core
business strategy of “organic growth + extensional
growth”, we will do our utmost to achieve steady
results growth and enhance Shareholders’ value. In
terms of operation, our commercial management
business segment continues to consolidate its
competitive advantage in the market. For shopping
malls, the Group will deepen the professional
management of the segment, using benchmark
development as a key driver to comprehensively
enhance the full-chain operational capabilities
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of malls. For office building business, the Group
will focus on the integrated management mode of
‘leasing + operations + property management” to
improve leasing efficiency, enhance service quality,
and build robust facility maintenance capabilities,
thereby to further elevate brand influence. For
ecosystem business, the Group will effectively
balance scale growth with development quality,
continuously strengthening core competitiveness.
In property management business segment, the
Group will transit from a singular focus on quality
service to a customer-centric mindset, providing
scenario-based services to improve service quality
and consistency. This approach will further enhance
customer satisfaction and loyalty. The Group will
change the value-added services model to convert
customer trust into tangible value and continuously
scale up operations. The engineering services
company will focus on core business scenarios to
enhance its market-oriented professional capabilities,
and strive to establish itself as a comprehensive
supply chain integration platform. In the area of the
membership business, the Group will centre on
membership operations. By focusing on the three
core assets of “points, benefits and data”, we will
expand the scenarios for points consuming and the
scope of benefits, cultivate data-driven marketing
capabilities, and clarify the value creation model
and asset monetisation pathways. In terms of
scale development, the Group will stick to high-
quality growth. In commercial management business
segment, the Group will focus on tapping the potential
of existing and sub-leased projects, continuously
looking for high-quality projects in key cities, and
actively exploring opportunities in segmented sectors.
In property management business segment, the
Group will concentrate on mid-to-high-end residential
projects, and accelerate the transformation into an
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urban space operation service provider by promoting
and replicating the acquisition of citywide operational
projects. In terms of capacity building, the Group
will integrate insights into technological trends with
the application of cutting-edge technologies to
drive the implementation of emerging technologies
in core business scenarios. Key focus areas will
include enhancing consumer experiences, improving
operational efficiency, accumulating data assets,
and applying Al large model technologies. These
will accelerate digital transformation and elevate
organisational capabilities across the entire value
chain.

In the medium to long term, deepening transformation,
developing new quality productive forces and
advancing Chinese modernisation will provide solid
support for the long-term economic growth of China.
The synergy between the advantages of the super-
large-scale market and the strategy of expanding
domestic demand will provide a broad space for the
high-quality development of the Group. With strategic
foresight and under the strategic guidance of
“developing a world-class enterprise” and “becoming
China’s most influential asset-light management
company”, the Group will continue to expand,
optimise and strengthen the two main businesses of
commercial management and property management,
systematically build industry-leading competitiveness
in quality services, space operation and technological
intelligence, and accelerate the value realisation
of the membership business. With a continuous
focus on the three key elements, i.e. “space,
customer, and product and service”, the Group
will improve the ecological distribution of industries
and strengthen its ability to lead the industry and
provide comprehensive services. Looking ahead,
opportunities and challenges coexist. We will insist on
promoting transformation and innovation with our own
changes, winning reputation among customers with
quality services, enhancing development resilience
with management improvement, and continue to
explore growth space, striving to achieve long-term
effective results growth and enhance Shareholders’
value.



024

TR PUEEHY  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RS

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

K& AABREREFE A ENRBIXHAS
BZEROKRR FPREESABARORES | A&
B ARR R K TETRIFTART - BECRAER
REEE -

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like
to extend my heartfelt gratitude to the Shareholders,
customers and the public who have been paying
attention to and supporting the development of the
Group. The Group will continue to innovate and
improve at a steady pace to create greater value for
our Shareholders.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business comprises two main
businesses, (i) commercial management business
and (ii) property management business, and
ecosystem business.

Commercial management business: commercial
properties under the Group’s management include
shopping malls and office buildings.

For shopping malls, the Group provides:

— Commercial operational services, including
pre-opening management and operation
management services;

— Property management and other services,
principally including security, cleaning and
greening, repair and maintenance, as well as
other value-added services; and

— Commercial subleasing services, where the
Group leases certain quality shopping malls
from their owners and sublease to tenants such
as retail stores and supermarkets. Commercial
subleasing services include profit-sharing and
leasing operation mode.

For office buildings, the Group provides:

— Commercial operational services, including
tenant sourcing, operational services, and
opening preparation services; and property
management and other services, principally
including security, cleaning and greening,
repair and maintenance, as well as other value-
added services.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property management business: the Group introduces
various services that meet the needs of families
and residents living in residential communities, and
provides operation and management services for city
utilities and other urban space properties, including
neighbourhoods, stadiums, parks, rivers and
industrial parks.

For community space property management services,
the Group provides:

— Property management services, including
security, cleaning and greening, as well as
repair and maintenance services to (i) property
developers for properties prior to their delivery,
and (ii) property owners, property owners’
associations or residents for properties sold and
delivered;

— Value-added services to non-property owners
regarding property developers, including
consultancy, preliminary preparation, and pre-
delivery marketing services; and

— Value-added services to community property
owners, including community life-style services,
and brokerage and asset management services.

For urban space property management services, the
Group provides:

— Property management services, including
security, cleaning and greening, as well as
repair and maintenance services; and value-
added services, including consultancy, tenant
sourcing and operation, venue leasing and
event support.



EHEE (&)

AR  AERBER I HUBRMMNER KRG ME
Bl MABERNZPREER MR THER
B’ E—SRELENERRY - BRKmAE
MACEEFET -

TREFIFR BRI 5 35 AR 5815
ABHE

MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited 027

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Ecosystem business: based on basic services
and operation services provided by main business
segments and leveraging accumulated customer
flow and resource, the Group expands the eco-chain
of up-stream and down-stream and further provides
ample eco-services, including self-owned cosmetics,
cultural operation and other businesses.

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue
by business segment and type of services as of the
dates indicated:

R+=A=t+-H
As of 31 December
—E-NE Sy
2024 2023
(AE¥Fr) ke (AREFIL) fit
(RMB’000) (%) (RMB'000) (%)
HEMmE Commercial management
business
BohH L Shopping malls 4,209,198 24.7 3,238,307 219
BT Office buildings 2,065,108 121 1,928,033 13.1
NEF Subtotal 6,274,306 36.8 5,166,340 35.0
WEmE Property management
business
HEZEMH Community space 8,894,059 522 8,264,604 56.0
— MEEERE — Property management
services 6,659,780 39.1 6,017,782 40.8
— FEERERE — Value-added services to
non-property owners 718,427 4.2 821,016 56
— EXEERY — Value-added services to
property owners 1,515,852 8.9 1,425,806 9.6
0, %2 fe] Urban space 1,820,889 10.7 1,336,008 9.0
NEF Subtotal 10,714,948 62.9 9,600,612 65.0
EREER Ecosystem business 53,404 0.3 - -
At Total 17,042,658 100.0 14,766,952 100.0
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COMMERCIAL MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS

Shopping Malls

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
revenue from the commercial operational and
management services for shopping malls amounted
to RMB4,209.2 million, representing an increase
of 30.0% as compared with the corresponding
period of last year and accounting for 24.7% of the
total revenue. As of 31 December 2024, the Group
provided commercial operational services for 118
opened shopping mall projects with an aggregate
GFA of 12.7 million sg.m., among which, the vast
majority of shopping malls were provided property
management services by the Group at the same time.
In addition, the Group had one opened profit-sharing
project and three opened leasing operation projects,
with an aggregate GFA of 0.4 million sg.m. as of 31
December 2024.

There was 81.5% segment revenue from the provision
of commercial operational and property management
services for shopping malls, with the remaining
revenue derived from the commercial subleasing
services.
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COMMERCIAL MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS (continued)

Shopping Malls (continued)

TREFFIREEEDPLOEENAREZEMENA The table below sets forth details of the contracted

XIEEBREMEBEFS GFA of shopping mall projects and the GFA of
projects opened as of the dates indicated:
R+=—HA=+—~H
As of 31 December
—EI@F —E_=%F
2024 2023
EEHHER Management outsourcing projects
EREEEE (FFEHAK) Contracted GFA (sq.m. in thousands)' 18,568 16,728
cREEEENIEREA Number of projects for contracted
GFA' 169 154
EF¥IBEEREERE GFA of projects opened
(FFEHXK) (sg.m. in thousands) 12,691 10,591
EMZEEEHE Number of projects opened 118 98
FE2 KRIEE Profit-sharing projects
ARREERE (FFEHK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 327 127
ARBEEEMNIBERHE Number of projects for contracted
GFA 4 2
EREHEEREEEE (FTFHK) GFA of projects opened
(sg.m. in thousands) 107 107
BER%EIEEHAE Number of projects opened 1 1
REHERA Leasing operation projects
AREERE (FFAK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 488 340
AREEAERNIEE #HE Number of projects for contracted
GFA 4 3
EFEIEB REmE (TFHEK) GFA of projects opened
(sg.m. in thousands) 340 274
EFR¥BEEHE Number of projects opened 3 2
e —E—NFE+ A=+t BMeREEEELEREER Note 1: The contracted GFA and number of projects for contracted
BOEEEACEERNENEENERENRER DR O GFA as at 31 December 2024 excluded those attributable
EBhENERARZEEAERAAZELEENIEREKE - #HiE= to reserved shopping malls acquired by CR Land but not
T_MF+_A=+—H MEEEHEMHDIEINERE contracted. The contracted GFA and number of projects for
HMEEMERIBEHE DRI/ 21,724 FFH KM 19118 - contracted GFA including reserved shopping malls acquired

by CR Land but not contracted are 21,724 thousand sg.m.
and 191 as at 31 December 2024 respectively.
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COMMERCIAL MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS (continued)

Shopping Malls (continued)

The table below sets forth, by type of property
developer, a breakdown of the number of opened
shopping malls for which commercial operational and
property management services were provided and
their aggregate GFA as of the dates indicated, and
a breakdown of revenue generated from commercial
operational and property management services for
the periods indicated:

M+=ZA=t+-AH
As of 31 December
“BCME s
2024 2023
£ e
BEAR ER¥A 6 EERE EEHE W
GFA under Number of GFA under Number of
management projects Revenue  management projects Revenue
(F¥HK) (AR®TR) (FIAX) (AR%F7)
(sq.m. in (sq.m. in
thousands) (RMB’000) thousands) (RMB'000)
EHEN CR Land 10,720 92 3,037,807 9,221 78 2,400,764
EHEER CR Group and
EZHRED third-party developers 1,971 26 391,400 1,370 20 233,783
@t Total 12,691 118 3,429,207 10,591 928 2,634,547
BEFE OFFICE BUILDINGS

HEZ-_WOMF+-_A=-1+—HLEFE TEEX
BERETFENEXELRMEEERBBRARZARKE
20651 BB L RAFRAMER7 1% - HBKA
121% HE_ZE-_NE+_A=+—RH1 ~&H
RTERTERERNXELRY  BEEEREA19
BEFFK: B2\ ASTERMMEETEERY - 2
BEEBA16TEEFER K-

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
revenue from the commercial operational and
property management services to office buildings
was RMB2,065.1 million, representing an increase
of 7.1% as compared with the corresponding
period of last year, and accounted for 12.1% of the
total revenue. As of 31 December 2024, the Group
provided commercial operational services for 27
office buildings with an aggregate GFA of 1.9 million
sg.m., and property management services for 221
office buildings with an aggregate GFA of 16.7 million
sg.m.
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OFFICE BUILDINGS (continued)

93.7% of the segment revenue was generated from
the provision of property management services to
office buildings, with the remaining revenue from the
provision of commercial operational services to office
buildings.

The table below sets forth details of our contracted
GFA and GFA under management of office buildings
as of the dates indicated:

R+=—A=+-—H
As of 31 December
—EC-E —E-=F
2024 2023
BEELERE Commercial operational services
AREERE (FFEAK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 2,161 2,207
AREEMENIEE HE Number of projects for contracted
GFA 32 33
FIXEL RN ELEERE GFA of the commercial operational
(FFHK) services (sg.m. in thousands) 1,893 1,694
FEEEREMNIELHE Number of projects for commercial
operational services 27 26
VI3 E IR Property management services
AREERE (FFAK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 21,401 18,784
AREEMERNIEE HE Number of projects for contracted
GFA 240 210
MEBIRIREHEEEE GFA of the property management
(FFHK) services (sg.m. in thousands) 16,686 14,820
VEEBRRGHIEREE Number of projects for property
management services 221 195
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OFFICE BUILDINGS (continued)

The table below sets forth, by type of property
developers, a breakdown of the number of office
buildings under management and the aggregate GFA
under management as of the dates indicated, and a
breakdown of revenue generated from commercial
operational services and property management
services to office buildings for the periods indicated:

R+t=A=+-H
As of 31 December
ZBCQmE s
2024 2023
EE EE
BEER HEHA 6= BEAE ERHER Wiz
GFA under Number of GFA under Number of
management projects Revenue  management projects Revenue
(FE7K) (AR®FR) (FFAK) (ARETT)
(sg.m. in (sg.m. in
thousands) (RMB’000) thousands) (RMB'000)
HEEERE Commercial operational
services
EHEM CR Land 1,392 21 103,979 1,255 20 99,418
EHEEN CR Group and third-party
S=HAEE developers 501 6 26,055 439 6 32,802
@t Total 1,893 27 130,034 1,694 26 132,220
NEEERY Property management
services
EHEW CR Land 10,183 105 1,435,085 9,375 95 1,352,266
EHEER CR Group and third-party
E-HRED developers 6,503 116 499,989 5,445 100 443 547
o Total 16,686 221 1,935,074 14,820 195 1,795,813
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PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS

Community Space
Property Management Services

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group'’s
revenue from property management services for
community space amounted to RMB6,659.8 million,
representing an increase of 10.7% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year and accounting
for 39.1% of the total revenue. The quality expansion
of the scale of property under management has led to
a steady growth in revenue from property services. As
of 31 December 2024, there were 1,385 community
space projects under management, representing an
increase of 89 as compared with the corresponding
period of last year; and the aggregate GFA under
management was 271.4 million sg.m., representing
an increase of 20.4 million sg.m. as compared with
the corresponding period of last year.

The table below sets forth details of our contracted
GFA and GFA under management of community
space properties as of the dates indicated:

R+=—A=+—H
As of 31 December
—EF —ET=F
2024 2023
AREEEE (FTFFHXK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 302,317 300,989
EFRBREEENIEEHE Number of projects for contracted
GFA 1,507 1,481
FERERE (FTFEAK) GFA under management (sg.m. in
thousands) 271,445 251,033
ERERERNIEE EHE Number of projects for GFA under
management 1,385 1,296
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PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS (continued)

Community Space (continued)
Property Management Services (continued)

The table below sets forth, by type of property
developer, a breakdown of the number of community
space properties under management, the aggregate
GFA under management as of the dates indicated,
and a breakdown of revenue generated from property
management services for the periods indicated:

R+=A=t+-H
As of 31 December
ZE-Q@E —T_=F
2024 2023
EE £E
BEER EE¥A g EEHE ERHE 6
GFA under Number of GFA under Number of
management projects Revenue  management projects Revenue
(FF¥HK) (AR¥TR) (FIAX) (AR%F7)
(sq.m.in (sq.m. in
thousands) (RMB’000) thousands) (RMB'000)
EHEN CR Land 150,790 708 4214171 134,588 605 3,647,431
EHEENE CR Group and
ZHREE third-party developers 120,655 677 2,445,609 116,445 691 2,370,351
@t Total 271,445 1,385 6,659,780 251,033 1,296 6,017,782
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PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS (continued)

Community Space (continued)

Value-added Services to Non-Property
Owners

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded revenue generated from value-added
services to non-property owners provided by
developers of RMB718.4 million, accounting for 4.2%
of our total revenue, which decreased by 12.5% as
compared with the corresponding period of last year.
Such decrease was mainly affected by the slowed
acquisition of new projects and delivery progress
of the existing projects by developers, leading to a
decrease in the revenue of pre-delivery businesses
such as preparation, marketing services and
preliminary consultancy services.

Value-added Services to Property Owners

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded revenue generated from value-added
services to property owners for community space of
RMB1,515.9 million, accounting for 8.9% of our total
revenue, which increased by 6.3% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year. Such increase
was driven by the continued exploration of value-
added services, the transformation and upgrading of
traditional businesses, and the successful piloting of
innovative business models that fueled expansion.
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PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS (continued)

Urban Space

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
revenue from property management services for
urban space amounted to RMB1,820.9 million,
representing an increase of 36.3% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year, and accounting
for 10.7% of our total revenue. The rapid increase
in revenue was mainly attributable to the market
expansion strategy of the Group with a focus on its
strategic positioning. By accelerating the process
of becoming an urban space operation service
provider, the proactive expansion into the market has
significantly increased the GFA under management
of urban space. As of 31 December 2024, there were
438 managed urban space properties, increasing
by 3 properties as compared with last year; and the
aggregate GFA under management was 124.9 million
sg.m., representing an increase of 20.6 million sg.m.
as compared with the corresponding period of last
year.

91.5% of the segment revenue was generated from
the provision of property management services to
urban space, with the remaining revenue derived
from the provision of value-added services.

The table below sets forth details of our contracted

B FE - GFA and GFA under management of urban space
properties as of the dates indicated:
R+=—A=+—H
As of 31 December
—E-NE T =%
2024 2023
ARERE(FFEHFK) Contracted GFA (sg.m. in thousands) 126,778 105,496
ARMEERNIEE #E Number of projects for contracted
GFA 453 450
EEEE(FFFHK) GFA under management
(sg.m. in thousands) 124,935 104,306
FEMEMIEE HE Number of projects for GFA under
management 438 435
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PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS (continued)

Urban Space (continued)

The table below sets forth, by type of property
developer, a breakdown of the number of urban
space properties under management, the aggregate
GFA under management as of the dates indicated,
and a breakdown of revenue generated from property
management services for the periods indicated:

R+=ZA=t-H
As of 31 December
—E-@E e 3
2024 2023
EEER BEEHE W& EEER ERHA Yz
GFA under Number GFA under Number
management  of projects Revenue  management of projects Revenue
(F¥EX) (AR®TR) (F¥HX) (AR¥T)
(sg.m. in (sg.m. in
thousands) (RMB’000) thousands) (RMB'000)
EHEN CR Land 2,355 22 81,261 2,610 22 83,883
ZHEER CR Group and third-party
F-HRAER developers 122,580 416 1,584,464 101,696 413 1,143,712
ECHY Total 124,935 438 1,665,725 104,306 435 1,227,595
TRREER Ecosystem Business

HE_T-WNF+_A=+t—BILFE ~EEXE
HRBEEBRARARKES4BE T TERBEL
M EB RSB EEBWRATR

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group'’s
revenue from ecosystem business amounted to
RMB53.4 million, mainly contributed by the revenue
from self-owned cosmetics business and cultural
operation business.
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OUTLOOK

Pursuing High-Quality Scale Development
to Promote the Leading Market Position
of the Company

The Group will implement the strategy to lead scale
expansion, and achieve high-quality and large-
scale development of the two main segments,
namely commercial management business and
property management business. First, the Group
will adhere to its strategy to penetrate urban market
and intensify market penetration in core cities. By
aligning with China’s regional development strategies
and leveraging established networks and brand
advantages in existing markets, we will focus on
replicating successful projects in key regions to
enhance regional management efficiency. Second, the
Group will adhere to its strategy to raise professional
level in its main segments and cultivate differentiated
competitive advantages. We will focus on serving
diversified urban spaces by continuously optimising
our industrial ecosystem layout, cultivating specialised
and integrated service capabilities tailored to distinct
urban spaces, thereby acquiring more projects
through enhancing space values. Third, the Group
will adhere to its strategy to promote mergers and
acquisitions. We will proactively pursue mergers
and acquisitions opportunities in respect of premium
property management firms, specialised service
providers demonstrating synergistic effects with the
Group’s business, and outstanding enterprises across
upstream and downstream industrial chains, in a
view to accelerate our scale expansion, capability
reinforcement, and ecosystem enrichment.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

Maintaining High-Quality and Efficient
Operation to Achieve Resilient
Development Through Excellent Product
and Service

The Group adheres to systematically building
quality services, technological intelligence, and
organisational efficiency, driving connotative growth
through refined and efficient operations. First, we
remain committed to providing quality services. In
response to increasingly segmented and diversified
consumer demands, we actively investigate customer
demand to deliver more precise and differentiated
services, establishing core competitive strength
for our products and services in the intense market
competition. Second, we resolutely advance our
digitalisation strategy of “production technologisation,
operation digitalisation, space intelligentisation and
data capitalisation”. With more open and proactive
attitude to technological trends, we continuously
enhance customer experience, improve management
efficiency, and strengthen technological capabilities.
Third, we deepen our management model of “service-
platform headquarters, legally anchored business
segments, and specialisation in prioritised verticals”.
This approach will achieve streamlined organisational
efficiency, enhanced talent quality, and precise
incentive systems, consolidating powerful momentum
for high-quality development.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

Developing an Integrated Membership
Program With Cross-Business Function
to Expand More Space for Value Creation

The Group continues to enhance the functionality of
its membership system to capture members’ interest
in our products and services, boost their loyalty,
attract new users into our ecosystem and build
digital connections with customers. We will continue
to consolidate our membership programs, which
allow us to fully understand the needs of users and
enrich the options for the interests of the members
and strengthen the identity value perception of the
members, while improving customers’ cross platform
experience and realising cross-segment customer
diversion. We will also continue to promote the
membership programs to attract third-party merchants
and further develop our platform and ecosystem
through creating value and growth opportunities.

Practising Sustainable Development
While Committing to Our Mission and
Vision

The Group will continue to uphold the concept of
green, low carbon and sustainable development,
and will unswervingly incorporate ESG concepts
throughout the entire process of our business.
Focusing on the five major areas of MIXC-ecology,
people orientation, partnership, green development,
and honest operation, we are committed to creating
long-term value for the stakeholders and urban
development. At the same time, in response to the
“dual-carbon” (£ 4%) strategy of the country, the
Group has set and worked towards our goal under
the initiative of “carbon peak by 2030 and carbon
neutrality by 2050” (2030 4F #jx £ I& + 2050 4F #jx
A1) | actively fulfilling our social responsibilities and
delivering on our sustainability commitments.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue is mainly generated from two
main business segments, (i) commercial management
business and (ii) property management business, and
ecosystem business.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group’s revenue amounted to RMB17,042.7 million,
representing an increase of 15.4% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year. Such increase
was primarily due to the continuous increase in
management scale. The revenue from commercial
operation management services and property
management services grew steadily.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprises (i) staff
costs; (ii) subcontracting costs; (iii) utilities costs;
(iv) common area facility costs; (v) office and related
expenses; and (vi) depreciation and amortisation,
which is mainly the amortisation of customer
relationships brought about by historical mergers and
acquisitions.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
cost of sales amounted to RMB11,433.2 million,
representing an increase of 13.5% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year. Such increase
was primarily due to the increase in various types of
corresponding costs resulting from the continuous
growth of business scale.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the gross
profit of the Group amounted to RMB5,609.5 million,
representing an increase of 19.5% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year, and the gross
profit margin was 32.9%, representing an increase
of 1.1 percentage points as compared with the
corresponding period of last year.

The table below sets forth details of the gross profit

15 and gross profit margin by segment as of the dates
indicated:
BE+t-A=1+-ALEE
For the year ended 31 December
“E-RE —EC=F
2024 2023
EF EFES EM ERE
Gross profit Gross profit
Gross profit margin Gross profit margin
(AR®T ) % (ARE&TT) %
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
HEmE Commercial management
business
B Shopping malls 3,056,291 726 2,328,961 719
BYE Office buildings 720,728 34.9 687,175 35.6
INEt Subtotal 3,777,019 60.2 3,016,136 58.4
MEME Property management
business
HEZEMHE Community space 1,584,020 17.8 1,513,176 18.3
— MEERRB — Property management
services 958,235 14.4 843,288 14.0
— FEFRERS — Value-added services to
non-property owners 237,352 33.0 281,959 34.3
— ¥EEERS — Value-added services to
property owners 388,433 25.6 387,929 272
Bz Urban space 235,072 12,9 164,966 12.3
gt Subtotal 1,819,092 17.0 1,678,142 175
FREEY Ecosystem business 13,357 25.0 - -
a5t Total 5,609,468 329 4,694,278 318
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
gross profit margin of commercial management
business was 60.2%, representing an increase
of 1.8 percentage points as compared with the
corresponding period of last year. The increase
was mainly due to the expansion of commercial
operational services and the improvement in leverage
effect and the increase in gross profit margin driven
by the increase in revenue as well as cost reduction
and efficiency improvement.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the gross
profit margin of property management business
was 17.0%, representing a YoY decrease of 0.5
percentage point, which was attributable to the a
decrease in the proportion of revenue from value-
added services to non-property owners (which has
a higher gross profit margin) as the community
space property management services segment was
impacted by the developer industry, resulting in a
decrease in gross profit margin.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the gross
profit margin of ecosystem business was 25.0%.

GAIN ON CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE
OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded gain on changes in fair value of investment
properties of RMB40.7 million, which was mainly
related to the valuation change of the commercial
subleasing projects.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded other income and gains of RMB704.7
million, representing an increase of 22.2% as
compared with the corresponding period of last year,
which was mainly attributable to changes in fair value
of contingent consideration arising from historical
acquisition and merger transactions.
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MARKETING EXPENSES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded marketing expenses of RMB290.7 million,
representing an increase of 2.1% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year, which was
mainly due to the increase in marketing expenses for
newly opened commercial subleasing projects.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
administrative expenses were RMB975.2 million,
representing an increase of 2.7% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year. Benefiting
from the continuous deepening of cost control
and efficiency enhancement measures as well as
efforts put in the sharing middle and back office
functions, the intensive management has significantly
improved, and the proportion of administrative
expenses in revenue for the current period decreased
by 0.7 percentage point as compared with the
corresponding period of last year.

OTHER EXPENSES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded other expenses of RMB81.1 million,
representing an increase of 65.7% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year, which was
mainly attributable to the increase in the impairment
losses for trade receivables.

FINANCE COSTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
finance costs were RMB115.8 million, which was
mainly the interest expenses incurred on lease
liabilities and the amount was basically unchanged as
compared with the corresponding period of last year.
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INCOME TAX

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group'’s
effective income tax rate was 23.8%, representing a
decrease of 1.0 percentage point as compared with
the corresponding period of last year, which was
mainly attributable to the tax exclusion of the gains
arising from the change in the fair value of contingent
consideration recognised in acquisition and merger
transactions.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
net profit was RMB3,730.1 million, representing
an increase of 26.8% as compared with the
corresponding period of last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the net
profit attributable to equity Shareholders amounted
to RMB3,629.4 million, representing an increase of
23.9% as compared with the corresponding period of
last year.

CORE NET PROFIT (NON-HKFRS
MEASURE)

To supplement the consolidated financial statements,
which are prepared in accordance with HKFRS, we
also adopt core net profit (non-HKFRS measure) as an
additional financial measure, which is not required by,
or presented in accordance with HKFRS. We believe
that the presentation of core net profit (non-HKFRS
measure) provides useful information to investors and
the management in understanding the consolidated
results of the core operation of the Group from
period to period by excluding the potential impact
of certain items that are unrelated to the Company’s
daily business operations and management. The
core net profit (non-HKFRS measure) is defined as
the net profit attributable to Shareholders adjusted
by deducting revaluation gain/loss from investment
properties and the associated deferred tax impact,
amortisation and disposal of intangible assets —
customer relationships and the associated deferred
tax impact and gain/loss on changes in fair value of
contingent consideration.
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CORE NET PROFIT (NON-HKFRS
MEASURE) (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the core
net profit attributable to Shareholders (non-HKFRS
measure, which has been adjusted by (i) deducting
the gain on fair value change of investment properties
together with the associated deferred tax impact of
RMB30.5 million; (ii) deducting the gain on changes
in fair value of contingent consideration of RMB151.5
million; and (iii) adding the amortisation and disposal
of intangible assets — customer relationships
together with the associated deferred tax impact of
RMB59.3 million), amounted to RMB3,506.7 million,
representing an increase of 20.1% as compared
with the corresponding period of last year. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, the core net
profit attributable to Shareholders (non-HKFRS
measure, if adjusted on the same basis) amounted to
RMB2,919.5 million.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s total bank
deposits and cash (including restricted bank
deposits) amounted to RMB9,669.4 million and
were mainly held in RMB. The Group maintains a
reasonable and adequate level of cash through
centralised fund management.

GEARING RATIO

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s gearing
ratio was 42.2%, representing a decrease of
0.1 percentage point as compared with the
corresponding period of last year. The gearing ratio
was calculated by total liabilities divided by total
assets.
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PROPERTY HELD FOR INVESTMENT

As of 31 December 2024, three of the properties
of the Group, namely Shenzhen Buji MIXC ONE,
Lanzhou MIXC and Shenzhen Longgang Universiade
project, were recognised as the investment properties
under HKFRS 16 in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the relevant percentage ratios
of such investment properties exceed 5% pursuant
to Rule 14.04(9) of the Listing Rules. Shenzhen
Buji MIXC ONE is located at No. 2 Xiangge Road,
Buji Sub-district, Longgang District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, the PRC, Lanzhou MIXC
is located at No.2, Qingyang Road, Chengguan
District, Lanzhou, Gansu Province, the PRC, and
Shenzhen Longgang Universiade project is located
in Huanggekeng Community, Longcheng Sub-
district, Longgang District, Shenzhen, the PRC. They
are currently used for operating lease and are held
under long-term leases. During the effective term
of the lease contracts, the lessors have no right to
unilaterally terminate the contracts except for force
majeure events and extreme conditions such as
the default on rental payment by the Group, illegal
operation and damage to the buildings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had no pledge
of assets (31 December 2023: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s capital
commitments amounted to RMB26.6 million
(31 December 2023: RMB417.2 million).
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
had no significant investments and material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures.

Save as disclosed in the section “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus and the
announcement of the Company dated 25 March
2024 in relation to the change in use of net proceeds
from the global offering and the exercise of the over-
allotment option (the “Announcement”), the Group
has no future plans for material investments or capital
assets.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As the Group’s business is mainly conducted in
the PRC, we mainly adopt RMB as the settlement
currency. As of 31 December 2024, non-RMB assets
and liabilities mainly included cash of HKD8.2 million
and US$19,467.7. The management believes that
the operation of the Group was not exposed to
material foreign currency risk. No significant impact
was caused by the fluctuation of RMB exchange
rate on the Group’s financial position. Currently, the
Group does not have any hedging policies against
its foreign exchange risk, but the management will
actively monitor the foreign exchange exposure and
make necessary adjustments in accordance with the
changes in market environment.
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EMPLOYEE AND COMPENSATION
POLICY

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 42,046 full-
time employees in Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong
(31 December 2023: 40,977). The Group remunerates
its employees based on their performance, working
experience and market salary levels. In addition,
performance bonus is granted on a discretionary
basis. Other employee benefits include provident
fund, insurance and medical coverage.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. YU Linkang, aged 53, has been our Director
since July 2020 and was appointed as an executive
Director and the President of the Company in August
2020. He is a member of the sustainability committee
of the Company. Mr. Yu has approximately 30 years
of experience in real estate investment, commercial
operation and corporate management.

Mr. Yu worked in China Resources Hotel in Beijing
(4t R E B AR JE) from August 1992 to September
1996, where he successively served as the deputy
manager and manager of the food and beverage
department. He worked in Longdation Enterprises
Limited (P& #h 1> % B BR A 7)) from September 1996
to December 2000, where he successively served
as the supervisor, deputy manager and manager
of the investment management department. Mr. Yu
served as the assistant general manager of Shenzhen
Foreign Trade Center (J& Y% 4NE 5 & ) from
December 2000 to June 2003, the chairman and
general manager of Shenzhen Hotel Kapok Co., Ltd.
ORI THARAEIEE JE A BR A A]) from January 2002 to
June 2003, and the deputy general manager of Hotel
Kapok Co., Ltd. (/R #8768 /& B R 2 7)) from June
2003 to November 2004.
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)

From November 2004 to May 2011, Mr. Yu served
as the deputy general manager of China Resources
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (8 (xJI)EBR A F]) (“China
Resources Shenzhen”) (which has been a subsidiary
of CR Land since October 2005), during which he
concurrently served as the general manager of China
Resources Shenzhen Bay Development Co., Ltd.
(FEHRYEZERABRAF) from December 2008
to May 2011. He was the deputy general manager
of Shenzhen region from May 2011 to August 2013.
From August 2013 to July 2016, he served as the
director for commercial real estate, general manager
of Wuhan region as well as the assistant president
of CR Land. In July 2016, he was appointed as the
vice president of CR Land, managing the Group’s
business, in particular our commercial operational
services business. Since November 2018 and March
2020, he has been respectively appointed as the
senior vice president of CR Land and the chairman
of its property management business, managing
the overall operation and business of the Group.
For the purpose of the Reorganisation, Mr. Yu was
appointed as the Group’s president in August 2020 to
continue leading the management of the Group and
ceased his appointment at CR Land. He received the
Commercial Real Estate Leader Award (7 2 it = %8
T AW HE) granted by the China Commercial Real
Estate Industry Annual Award Panel (7 B8 i ¥ ith & 17
¥FFHRIBEFTZLG) for the year 2018 and 2020.

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in hotel
management from Beijing International Studies
University in the PRC in 1992 and an MBA degree
from Wright State University in Ohio, the United States
in 2006.
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. WANG Haimin, aged 54, was appointed as
an executive Director and the Vice President of
the Company in August 2020. He has extensive
experience in real estate and corporate management.

Mr. Wang worked in China Northern Airlines (7 B
it 75 fin 22 2 7)) from July 1993 to May 2003, where
he successively served as the budgeting officer of
the construction department of the airline’s Dalian
branch, general manager of Dalian Aviation Hotel (X
# %= & £8), director and deputy general manager
of Shenyang Northern Airlines Yangzi Industrial Co.,
Lid. (BRIt AMEH FEXER QA He joined
the preparation group of China Southern Airlines
Tourist Hotel (A B 7 J5 i 25 & B ik #% )8 J& ) in May
2003 and served as the deputy general manager of
China Southern Airlines Tourism Development Co.,
Ltd. (FEfn & B jR %2 3 & 22 A) from August 2003
to April 2010. In addition, Mr. Wang also worked in
Northern Airlines Yangzi Industrial Co., Ltd. (3t 75 fit
=I5 FEEARAF) from February 2007 to January
2012, during which he served as the vice chairman,
director and deputy general manager. From January
to October 2012, he served as the manager of the
corporate management department of Northern
branch of China Southern Airlines Company Limited
(B A MR EBR2AR). In addition, Mr. Wang
also served as the deputy general manager of Yuexiu
Property Shenyang Co., Ltd. (&S FEE AR A F)
from October 2012 to October 2013.
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Wang joined CR Land in October 2013 till now,
which he successively served as the deputy general
manager of China Resources Land (Shenyang) Co.,
Ltd. (EHE M (5 ) B R 2 A) of the Shenyang
region from October 2013 to May 2015, and the
general manager of the marketing management
department of the Shenyang region from May 2015
to December 2016. From December 2016 onwards,
Mr. Wang has been responsible for overseeing the
Group’s business and is in charge of primarily the
property management business of the Group. He has
assumed various roles including the general manager
of the Dalian company of Northeast China Region
from December 2016 to August 2019 as well as the
assistant general manager of Northeast China Region
from August 2017 to August 2019. He was the general
manager of the operation management department
of CR Land from August 2019 to August 2020. For
the purpose of the Reorganisation, Mr. Wang was
appointed as the Group’s Vice President in August
2020 to continue managing the Group's business and
ceased his appointment at CR Land.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics
(investment and economic management) and a
doctoral degree in national economics from Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics in the PRC in
1993 and 2010, respectively.

Mr. WANG Lei, aged 44, has been appointed
as an executive Director and the Vice President
of the Company in January 2024. He has
extensive experiences in property development
and management, commercial property operation
and management, and corporate operation and
management.
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Wang joined China Resources Group after
obtaining his bachelor’'s degree in July 2002. He has
served as mechanical and electrical engineer, cost
engineer of the contract department and executive
manager of the project department of Shenzhen Mixc
City Project of China Resources Construction Co., Ltd.
(FEMEEBRAF]). Mr. Wang was then transferred
to CR Land (together with its subsidiaries, “CR Land
Group”), in April 2007 and held different positions
within the CR Land Group. He successively served as
the deputy manager of the engineering management
department of China Resources Land (Shenyang)
Co., Ltd. (ZHE b (FF%) B R F)), the engineering
manager and the deputy project manager of the
China Resources Center project department; he was
the general manager of the MIXC project of China
Resources Land (Shandong) Co., Ltd. (8 & i (1L
YA AF]) from May 2011 to December 2012, the
assistant general manager and the deputy general
manager of China Resources Land (Weihai) Co., Ltd.
(EHEEH(EE)B R A A) from December 2012
to October 2014, the deputy general manager of
engineering management department of CR Land
headquarters from October 2014 to August 2016. He
was the deputy general manager of China Resources
Land Commercial Management Service (Shenzhen)
Co, Ltd (ZEHEMBEETERBCRINER AR
under the commercial property services division of
CR Land from August 2016 to January 2018; and
the assistant general manager and deputy general
manager of the commercial property services division
of CR Land from January 2018 to October 2020, fully
responsible for the commercial property services
division. Mr. Wang has been appointed as the general
manager of the asset management department of CR
Land headquarters in October 2020.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor of engineering degree
in Water Supply and Drainage Engineering from
Tongji University of China in July 2002.
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. NIE Zhizhang, aged 41, has been appointed as
an executive Director, the secretary to the Board,
the Vice President and the Chief Financial Officer
of the Company in August 2023. He has extensive
experience in finance, operation, marketing and
investment.

Mr. Nie joined CR Land, after obtaining his master’s
degree from the Northeastern University of China
in July 2008. From July 2008 to October 2013, he
successively served as a supervisor, an assistant
manager and a deputy manager of finance
department of Shenyang company of CR Land. From
October 2013 to September 2017, he successively
served as the deputy manager, assistant general
manager and deputy general manager of finance
management department of Shenyang region of CR
Land. He served as the general manager of finance
department of Northeast region of CR Land from
September 2017 to June 2019, responsible for legal
and audit management, the general manager of
both finance department and marketing department
of Northeast region of CR Land from June 2019 to
January 2020, the assistant general manager and the
general manager of finance department, marketing
department and investment management department
of Northeast region of CR Land from January 2020
to August 2020, the assistant general manager and
the general manager of marketing department of
Northeast region of CR Land from August 2020 to
January 2022, and the assistant general manager
of Northeast region of CR Land from January 2022
to April 2022, responsible for finance, operation and
investment management. Mr. Nie has been transferred
to South China region of CR Land in April 2022 and
has successively served as the assistant general
manager and deputy general manager of South China
region of CR Land since April 2022, responsible for
investment, marketing and operation management.

Mr. Nie holds a bachelor’s degree and a master’s
degree in accounting both from the Northeastern
University of China.
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Non-executive Directors

Mr. LI Xin, aged 53, has been our Director since
July 2020 and was appointed as a non-executive
Director in August 2020. He has experience in
corporate management and real estate development
management. He is the chairman of nomination
committee and sustainability committee and a
member of remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Li joined China Resources Group in August
1994, where he successively served at the personnel
department of the then China Resources National
Corporation (currently known as China Resources
Company Limited), as director of Chongging Kuixing
Industrial Co., Ltd. (EEZEEFTXEBRMHAER A A), as
managing director of Chongging Runlong Industrial
Co., Ltid. (EEBEEZABMRAT), and as manager
and senior manager of Longdation Enterprises Limited
(B> % AR A a). He joined CR Land in July
2001, where he successively served from July 2001
to June 2013 as the general manager of the corporate
development department of CR Land, general
manager of China Resources (Dalian) Co., Ltd. (#
F(KE)YER AT, vice president of CR Land,
and general manager of the Shenyang region and
other positions. He was appointed as the senior vice
president of CR Land in June 2013 and concurrently
served as the general manager of Shenyang region,
responsible for business development of Northeast
China region. He was appointed as the co-president
of CR Land and chairman of East China Region in
July 2016, responsible for the business development
of East China region (known as Shanghai region prior
to November 2016) of CR Land. Since April 2017,
Mr. Li has been appointed as an executive director
of CR Land, and subsequently, Mr. Li was appointed
as the president of CR Land in December 2018 and
the chairman of the board of directors of CR Land
in May 2022. He is currently the chairman of the
nomination committee, the executive committee and
the sustainability committee and a member of the
corporate governance committee of CR Land.
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor of economics degree in
investment economics management from Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics in the PRC
and a master of engineering degree in project
management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 1994 and 2005, respectively.

Mr. GUO Shiging, aged 55, has been our Director
since December 2018 and was appointed as a non-
executive Director in August 2020. He is a member of
audit committee of the Company.

Mr. Guo served as the accountant of Guangdong
Electric Power First Engineering Bureau (EXR & &
NITHERE—TIEB) from July 1994 to October
2001. Subsequently, he joined CR Land in October
2001 and served as the manager of the finance
management department of Shenzhen CR Property
Management Co. Ltd. (R EEDEEEEAR
~ A]) from October 2001 to September 2006. He
subsequently served as finance director of China
Resources (Dalian) Co., Ltd. (ZEH(KXE)ER A
7)) from September 2006 to January 2011, assistant
general manager of China Resources (Dalian) Co.,

Ltd. (ZEHE(KE)AF R QA F]) from January 2011 to
August 2012, and general manager of the finance
department of Shenyang region (known as Liaoning
region prior to October 2013) from August 2012 to
November 2014. At the same time, he also served as
the assistant general manager and deputy general
manager of China Resources (Shenyang) Property
Co., Ltd. (EH(EE)HEHBR 2 F]). Mr. Guo was
the assistant general manager and finance director
of Shenyang region between November 2014 to
November 2016, assistant general manager and
finance director of Northeast China Region from
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Non-executive Directors (continued)

November 2016 to August 2017 and deputy general
manager of Northeast China Region from August
2017 to October 2018, mainly responsible for financial
management of CR Land in the Northeast China
Region. He has been the general manager of the
finance department of CR Land since October 2018.
He was appointed as the chief financial officer of CR
Land in June 2020. Since December 2020, Mr. Guo
has also been serving as an executive director of CR
Land. In December 2022, he was further appointed
as the secretary to the board of directors of CR Land.
He is currently a member of the executive committee
of CR Land.

Mr. Guo graduated from Xiamen University in the PRC
in 1994, majoring in accounting.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer GBS, SBS, J.P., aged
73, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 25 November 2020. He is the chairman of
remuneration committee and a member of nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Lau is currently the Managing Director of Biel
Asset Management Company Ltd. Mr. Lau has also
been serving as an independent non-executive
director of SEM Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9929) since
January 2020 and SOCAM Development Limited (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
983) since June 2023, respectively. Previously, he
served as an independent non-executive director of
Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1888) from
August 2015 to January 2022 and MTR Corporation
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 0066) from August 2015 to May 2019.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors
(continued)

Mr. Lau has more than 30 years of experience in the
real estate industry. Mr. Lau is one of the founders
of Hong Kong Coalition of Professional Services and
has been its chairman since June 2012. He is also
a member of the Board of Governors of Our Hong
Kong Foundation. Previously, he was a member of
the Basic Law Promotion Steering Committee and
served as a member of the Long Term Housing
Strategy Steering Committee from September 2012 to
December 2013 and the chairman of the Surveyors
Registration Board from 1996 to 1997. Mr. Lau was
a member of the National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference from March
2018 to March 2023 and served as a member of the
HKSAR Legislative Council between October 2000 to
September 2004.

Mr. Lau obtained a higher diploma in quantity
surveying from Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently
known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University)
in 1974. Mr. Lau obtained a master degree in
construction project management from The University
of Hong Kong in 1990.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching, aged 64, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 25
November 2020. He is a member of audit committee,
remuneration committee and sustainability committee
of the Company.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors
(continued)

Mr. Cheung has over 30 years of experience in the
real estate industry and is the founder and chairman
of ACR Asset Management founded in March 2019.
Prior to the establishment of ACR Asset Management,
Mr. Cheung joined C.Y. Leung & Co., in March 1993
as a director of the PRC business. In 1997, he was
appointed as the General Manager of the Shanghai
office of C.Y. Leung & Co., which became part of
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited in 2000. In 2007,
he was appointed as DTZ mainland China CEO and
in 2010, he was appointed as DTZ Greater China
CEO. After DTZ merged with Cushman & Wakefield
(a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
stock code: CWK) in 2015, he was Greater China CEO
and chairman of Asia Pacific Board of Cushman &
Wakefield until April 2019. Mr. Cheung is the honorary
chairman of the Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce
in Shanghai, the chairman of Shanghai — Hong Kong
Association and a Shanghai representative in the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor of science degree in
urban and environmental planning from Anglia Ruskin
University of the United Kingdom in 1985. He is also
a fellow member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors since 2018.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors
(continued)

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan, age 58, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on
25 November 2020. He is the chairman of audit
committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company.

Mr. Chan is currently the chief operations officer of
Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, Limited,
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 00071). He served as an independent non-
executive director of Upbest Group Limited (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
00335) from September 2007 to August 2022 and
UBA Investments Limited (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 00768) from September
2007 to April 2022. He was the managing director of
Chinalink Express Holdings Limited (a wholly owned
subsidiary of Kwoon Chung Bus Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 306)) from 2003 to 2021,and the vice president
(Corporate Operation) of Henderson China Holdings
Limited (B &9 Bl & E A BR A ") from 2002 to 2003.

Mr. Chan has been appointed as a member of the
Chief Executive’s Policy Unit Expert Group since 30
May 2023. Mr. Chan was appointed as a member
of the Board of Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance)
of the HKSAR from 2009 to 2011. He became an
elected member of the Election Committee of the
HKSAR since 2021. Mr. Chan is a standing member
and convenor of Hong Kong members of the Yunfu
Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference since 2011, a standing
member and vice president of the Guangdong’s
Association for Promotion of Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Cooperation since 2009 and 2025
respectively, a member of the China Overseas
Friendship Association since 2019 and a member of
Friends of Hong Kong Association 2019 and a co-
founder of Hong Kong Coalition since 2020.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors
(continued)

Mr. Chan graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in 1989 with a professional diploma in
Business Studies (Banking) and graduated from
Monash University in Australia with master degrees
in Practising Accounting and Business Law in
2000 and 2006, respectively. He is a member and
fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 2002 and 2014 respectively, a
member and fellow of CPA Australia since 2001 and
2014 respectively, the certified membership and
fellow certified member of the Institute of Certified
Management Accountants (Australia) since 2003
and 2023 respectively, a fellow of The Chartered
Governance Institute (CGl) since 2001 (and has
subsequently received the designations of “Chartered
Secretary” and “Chartered Governance Professional”
in 2018), a fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (HKCGI) (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) since
2001, a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
since 2002, an ordinary member and fellow of the
Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute since
2015 and 2021, a member of Chartered Institute of
Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong since 2000.
Mr. Chan is also a member of the Chartered Banker
Institute, the United Kingdom since 2014 with a
designation of “Chartered Banker” and an associate
and “Certified Banker” of the Hong Kong Institute of
Bankers since 2003 and 2018 respectively.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors
(continued)

Ms. LO Wing Sze BBS, JP, aged 53, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 July 2023. She is a member of audit
committee, nomination committee and sustainability
committee of the Company.

She is the financial director of Million Tour Limited and
the founder and financial director of M1 Hotel Group.
Ms. Lo was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in
2017 and awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2020
by the HKSAR Government. She is a member of All-
China Women'’s Federation Hong Kong SAR delegate
and the Election Committee 2021 (The Fourth Sector)
of the HKSAR and was a member of the Election
Committee for the Fifth Government of the HKSAR
(Tourism Subsector), a member of the Social Workers
Registration Board and a member of the District Fire
Safety Committee (Wan Chai District). Ms. Lo is also
a member of the Chief Executive’s Policy Unit Social
Development Expert Group, @ member of the Advisory
Committee on Post-office Employment for Former
Chief Executives and Politically Appointed Officials, a
member of the Advisory Committee on Admission of
Quality Migrants and Professionals and the convener
of its Panel 3, a member of the Immigration Department
Users’ Committee, a member of the Correctional
Services Children’s Education Trust Investment
Advisory Board and a member of the District Fight
Crime Committee (Wan Chai District). She is also an
Honorary Court Member of the Lingnan University in
Hong Kong. Ms. Lo is the Chairlady of Tai Hang Fire
Dragon Heritage Centre (Revitalising Historic Buildings
Through Partnership Scheme Batch IV).

Ms. Lo is an independent non-executive director of
New World Development Company Limited (stock
code: 17), Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited
(stock code: 1520), Goldlion Holdings Limited (stock
code: 533) and Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing
Limited (stock code: 2314), all being companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. She served as an
independent non-executive director of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8018) from
21 August 2020 to 7 July 2023.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors
(continued)

She holds a Bachelor of Economics Degree from the
University of Sydney and a Master of Commerce in
Finance Degree from the University of New South
Wales in Australia. She is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow member of CPA Australia.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. YU Linkang, Mr.
WANG Haimin, Mr. WANG Lei and Mr. NIE Zhizhang,
please refer to “Executive Directors” in this section.
Biographical details of other members of the senior
management are as follows:

Mr. LOU Kewei, aged 41, was appointed as the
chief human resources officer of the Company in
April 2022. He has experience in human resources
administration and party-mass work.

Mr. Lou has joined CR Land since May 2009 after
obtaining his master’s degree, where he successively
served as the recruitment specialist and senior
human resources executive of Dalian company and
Changchun company of CR Land. From May 2013
to January 2017, he successively served as the
assistant manager, deputy manager and manager
of human resources department of Northeast China
Region of CR Land. From January 2017 to January
2018, he successively served as the director of
party affairs of the party-mass work department and
the recruitment director of the human resources
administration department of CR Land. From January
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

2018 to March 2021, he successively served as the
deputy general manager and general manager of
the human resources administration department
of East China Region of CR Land, responsible for
the human resources and administration of East
China Region of CR Land. From January 2018 to
February 2020, he also served as the deputy general
manager and general manager of the party-mass
work department of East China Region of CR Land,
responsible for the party-mass work of East China
Region, and served as the assistant general manager
of East China Region of CR Land from August 2020
to March 2021, responsible for the human resources
and administration and party-mass work in East China
Region. Mr. Lou was transferred to CR Land in March
2021 as the assistant general manager of the human
resources department, responsible for the human
resources management of CR Land.

Mr. Lou obtained a bachelor’s degree in management
majoring in information management and information
system management and a master’s degree
in management majoring in human resources
management from Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics in 2006 and 2008, respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Xu Fan, aged 44, was appointed as a Vice
President of the Company in March 2024. He has
extensive experience in real estate development
management and company operation management.

Mr. Xu has joined CR Land since June 2007 after
graduating with a master’s degree, and served as a
landscape designer of the development department
and a landscape engineer of the design and
technology management department in Shenzhen
company of CR Land successively. From July 2010
to March 2012, he served as a senior landscape
engineer and an assistant manager of the design and
technology management department in Shenzhen
Region successively. From March 2012 to February
2015, he served as the assistant general manager
and the manager of the project integration department
of Shenzhen company’s Hubei project company (in
preparation) in Shenzhen Region. From February
2015 to April 2018, he served as the assistant general
manager of the design management department
in Shenzhen Region (presiding over the work), the
assistant general manager of the design management
department in South China Region (presiding over the
work), and the deputy general manager of the design
management department in South China Region
(presiding over the work) successively. From April
2018 to November 2021, he served as the general
manager of Shantou company in Southern China
Region and the general manager of Guangzhou
company in Southern China Region successively.
In November 2021, Mr. Xu was appointed as an
assistant general manager, a member of the party
committee and the general manager of Guangzhou
Company in South China Region of CR Land.

Mr. Xu obtained a Master of Arts degree in design art
from Xi’an University of Architecture and Technology
in June 2007.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Wang Xin, aged 40, was appointed as a Vice
President of the Company June 2024. He has
experience in fund operation and management as
well as corporate operation and management.

Mr. Wang has joined and served as an investment
analyst at New China Wealth Management Co., Ltd
since June 2009 after graduating with a master’s
degree. From March 2011 to May 2013, he was the
investment manager of the High-end Manufacturing
Department at Beijing Hony Yuanfang Investment
Consulting Co., Ltd. In May 2013, he joined China
Resources Group and held the positions of Senior
Manager of the Strategy Department of China
Resources Group and Chief Investment Officer of
CR Enterprise Joint Fund from May 2013 to May
2018. In May 2018, Mr. Wang was appointed General
Manager of China Resources Runxiang Joint Fund,
and in October 2021, he also took on the concurrent
role of General Manager of China Resources Guodiao
Xiamen Consumption Fund.

In June 2009, Mr. Wang obtained a Master of
Law degree in Economic Sociology from Nanjing
University. In June 2017, he earned a Master
of Business Administration degree in Business
Administration from Columbia University in the
United States, London Business School in the United
Kingdom, and The University of Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or
senior management members (i) has any relationship
with any Directors, senior management or substantial
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company, (i) hold any other positions
with the Company or other members of the Group;
or (iii) held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate
governance report for the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Through the values of integrity, results orientation,
people orientation, and mutually beneficial
cooperation and positioning itself as an urban quality
life service platform, the Group is committed to
becoming an urban quality life service provider that
is trusted and favoured by customers. The Company
proactively cultivates a sincere, united, open and
progressive working culture within the enterprise, and
has integrated its corporate culture into employee
training, talent development and other fields.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the Board are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices
and procedures. The Company recognises the
importance of maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to the long-term stable development of
the Group.

The Company has applied the principles and
adopted the code provisions stated in the CG Code.
The Company is committed to the view that the Board
should include a balanced composition of executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors
so that there is a strong independent element on the
Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgment.

The Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions set out in the CG Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules as its own securities dealing code to
regulate all dealings of securities of the Company by
Directors and other matters covered by the Model
Code.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company to
all the Directors and all of them have confirmed that
they have complied with the Model Code for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors.

The Directors who held office during the year ended
31 December 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable
Date are:

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LI Xin (Chairman)
Mr. GUO Shiging



070

TR PUEEHY  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BRERR S

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

E=g (&)
HITES

W FRER A (HEE)

FTEREE (FEH)

ITEEx(lEs R-E-_mWFE—F=-1+1H
EZ(E)

BEELRE (BIEHAFEREIEER)

BImEEE (BAAFREEEBEELE R-F_H
F—H -t NABZEALR T _AFATA
HEHE)

BNELL (BIES R-F_MF—H1THHERE)

BAFHUTES

FmELE
REIIERA
RRFERE
oL L

E=EHREENANFREOAESR
EEANBRBE| 8-

7TEIEELRRE

ITRELERSRBEREVERN T _NFEF-A-+H
AESE 0D R ZEZRER  MKEZECHE
RTIBEEREENEME -

BRAFHABREEN  TREAERIEFTENERS
REBABZRERBEREER BEYE X5 X
ERHEMER MHEHBE -

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Directors

Mr. YU Linkang (President)

Mr. WANG Haimin (Vice President)

Mr. WANG Lei (Vice President, appointed with effect
from 29 January 2024)

Mr. NIE Zhizhang (Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer)

Mr. GUO Ruifeng (Vice President and Chief Strategy
and Operating Officer, appointed with effect from
29 January 2024 and resigned with effect from 19
June 2024)

Ms. WEI Xiaohua (Vice President, retired with effect
from 15 January 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer
Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan
Ms. LO Wing Sze

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 50 to 67 of this
annual report.

Mr. WANG Lei and Mr. GUO Ruifeng had both
obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D
on 25 January 2024, respectively, and each of them
has confirmed he understood his obligations as a
Director.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no
relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s)) between the
Chairman and the President or among the Board and
senior management.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S LIABILITY
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate liability
insurance to indemnify the Directors and senior
management of the Company for their liabilities
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

BOARD MEETINGS, COMMITTEE
MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates
that Board meetings should be held at least four
times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with
active participation of the majority of the Directors,
either in person or through electronic means of
communications.

The Board held 8 meetings during the financial
year ended 31 December 2024. The Directors are
expected to convene at least four regular Board
meetings in each financial year at approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with code provision
C.5.1 of the CG Code.
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(continued)

A summary of the attendance record of the Directors
for the year ended 31 December 2024 at Board

meetings is set out below:

BE-ZE-_WE+=-A=1+—H
LHBREFEHESRRE
FERHENESSEEAE
Number of meeting(s) attended/
number of board meeting(s)
eligible to attend during the
financial year ended

=Y e Name of Director 31 December 2024
HITES Executive Directors:
Wen 7R B2 S A Mr. YU Linkang 8/8
FEREAE Mr. WANG Haimin 8/8
T@eEE(R=FZmE Mr. WANG Lei (appointed with effect 717
— A=+ NHEZF) from 29 January 2024)
BEELE Mr. NIE Zhizhang 8/8
IR LA (RZF - MEF Mr. GUO Ruifeng (appointed with effect 3/3
— A=+ NAEZFT from 29 January 2024 and resigned
RZFZPUENH+ILABHE)  with effect from 19 June 2024)
BNELE(R-_FE-_WF Ms. WEI Xiaohua (retired with effect 1/1
—HA+AHEM) from 15 January 2024)
FEHITES Non-executive Directors:
FMEE Mr. LI Xin 8/8
BB LA Mr. GUO Shiging 8/8
BYEHITES: Independent non-executive Directors:
BRE LA Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer 8/8
o B IF 52 A Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 8/8
PR R S A Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan 8/8
FEkFT LT Ms. LO Wing Sze 8/8
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024,
the Board has complied with the requirements
of Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least
one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise, and the
number of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board. The
Board has also received from each independent non-
executive Director a written annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers each of them to be independent.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service
contract or letter of appointment with the Company for
a specific term of three years.

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association,
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and shall then
be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Pursuant to
Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation and be eligible for re-election
at each annual general meeting of the Company,
provided that every Director is subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Four
Directors (Mr. GUO Shiging, Mr. WANG Haimin, Mr.
CHEUNG Kwok Ching and Mr. CHAN Chung Yee
Alan) are subject to retirement and re-election at
annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to
Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD
AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is the primary decision-making body
of the Company and is responsible for overseeing
the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. The Board makes
decisions objectively to safeguard in the interests of
the Company and its shareholders. The Board has
delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group to the
senior management of the Group.

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
The senior management of the Group is responsible
for the day-to-day management and operation of the
Group.

DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES
BETWEEN THE CHAIRMAN AND THE
PRESIDENT

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code and
the terms of reference of the Board adopted by the
Company on 29 June 2023, the roles of Chairman
and President of the Group are separate with clear
division of responsibilities. The Chairman, Mr. LI Xin,
is responsible for monitoring and controlling the long-
term strategies, goals and directions of the Company,
ensuring the Board operates effectively and performs
its responsible duties, and ensuring the Directors
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DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES
BETWEEN THE CHAIRMAN AND THE
PRESIDENT (continued)

receive sufficient, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner, etc. The Chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent
non-executive Directors without presence of other
Directors. Mr. LI Xin has held such private meeting
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
President, Mr. YU Linkang, is responsible for leading
the management to implement the strategies of the
Company and reporting to the Board, providing
the Board with the required information to enable
the Board to monitor the performance of the
management, formulating plans for the development
and succession of management, etc.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely,
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the sustainability
committee (the “Sustainability Committee”), for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. Each of these committees has established
with defined written terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include, but not limited to (1) making
recommendations on the appointment and removal of
the external auditor and approving their remuneration,
(2) reviewing the financial statements of the
Company, (3) overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting system and internal control procedures, and
(4) performing other duties and responsibilities as
may be assigned by the Board. For further details of
the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8
December 2020.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

As of the date of this report, the Audit Committee
comprises one non-executive Director, namely Mr.
GUO Shiging and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching, Mr.
CHAN Chung Yee Alan and Ms. LO Wing Sze. Mr.
CHAN Chung Yee Alan is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024,
the Audit Committee held two meetings, during which
they reviewed and discussed, among other things,
the following matters: (i) the Company’s annual
report and audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023, and the interim report
and unaudited interim financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2024 before submitting to
the Board; (ii) the Company’s continuing connected
transactions; (iii) the independent auditor’s report to
the Board prepared by the external auditors of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023
and the review report to the Board prepared by the
independent auditor for the six months ended 30
June 2024; (iv) the independence of the external
auditors of the Company and effectiveness of the
audit procedures, the election and recommendation
of the external auditor of the Company, and the
remuneration of the external auditor of the Company;
(v) the financial control, internal control and risk
management system of the Company; and (vi)
valuation report of investment properties and other
information.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The attendance record of the Audit Committee
members to committee meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

BHE BERLE

Attended/

=3 Directors Eligible to attend
FRoR & (FE) Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan (Chairman) 2/2
FPF LA Mr. GUO Shiging 2/2
KRB IE A Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 2/2
FEokFF LT Ms. LO Wing Sze 2/2

B-T-MF-A-HREEEKRKERATTH AR -
SRV EREERZZESEINERHE®ESE BT
BHERER T EME THIMAERER

ARFIEREEFLEE
SR TS B R - AR I &
RITHEER -
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HitpEE AR TETT

During the period from 1 January 2024 up to the
Latest Practicable Date, the Board had not deviated
from any recommendation given by the Audit
Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation
or dismissal of external auditor.

There are proper arrangements in place for
employees, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control and other matters.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include, but not limited to
(i) making recommendations to the Board in relation
to remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management of the Company, and the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing such remuneration policy; (ii) reviewing
and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives; (iii) determining remuneration
package of all executive Directors and senior
management according to the authorisation of the
Board; (iv) considering salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;
(v) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors; and (vi)
approving compensation payable to the executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it
is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise
fair and reasonable and not excessive; (vii) reviewing
and approving compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct
to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;
(viii) ensuring that no Director or any of his/her
associates is involved in deciding that Director’s
own remuneration; (ix) reviewing and/or approving
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules; and (x) performing other duties
and responsibilities as may be assigned by the
Board. For further details of the terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 21 December
2022.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(continued)

The emoluments of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are decided by the
Board with reference to the recommendation given
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to
the financial performance of the Group, individual
performance, position, time commitment and
comparable market statistics. In particular, executive
Directors’ remuneration include salaries, allowances
and benefits in kind, discretionary bonuses and
retirement scheme contributions, whilst independent
non-executive Directors’ remuneration include
directors’ fees.

The Remuneration Committee comprises one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. LI Xin, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer, Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching
and Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan. Mr. LAU Ping
Cheung Kaizer is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024,
the Remuneration Committee held three meetings
during which they reviewed and discussed, inter
alia, the following matters: (i) Directors’ fee; (ii) the
remuneration and contract policy, performance and
the remuneration packages and performance-based
bonus of the executive Directors and the senior
management; and (iii) remuneration matters relating
to the appointment of new executive Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(continued)

FWZEeNENEREZE RN EHIN T : The attendance record of the Remuneration
Committee members to committee meetings is set out
below:

BHE BEKREE
Attended/Eligible
=) Directors to attend

RESLAE (FE) Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer (Chairman) 3/3

oREIE & Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 3/3

FRoRF A Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan 3/3

FMREE Mr. LI Xin 3/3

BHE_Z-_NF+_A=+—HULEFEEMEARRAZ Details of the remuneration payable to each Director
BEEHM o BENGEE M mERMMES - of the Company for the year ended 31 December

B

2024 are set out in Note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

2T NF+-_A=Z+—BUILFESHEEEK The remuneration of the members of senior
ZEHMIR S EH 0T

management by band for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:

AE
e E (B% ) Remuneration bands (HKD) Number of persons
<1,000,000 < 1,000,000 2
1,000,001 £ 1,500,000 1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1
1,500,001 £ 2,000,000 1,500,001 to 2,000,000 0
2,000,001 £ 2,500,000 2,000,001 to 2,500,000 1
2,500,001 & 3,000,000 2,500,001 to 3,000,000 2
3,000,001 £ 3,500,000 3,000,001 to 3,500,000 2
3,500,001 £ 4,000,000 3,500,001 to 4,000,000 1
st Total 9
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination
Committee in compliance with Rule 3.27A of the
Listing Rules and the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee include, but
not limited to (i) review the structure, size and
composition of the Board at least once a year and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any
proposed changes to the corporate strategy of the
Company; (i) identify individuals qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships; (iii) assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment of our Directors and succession plan for
Directors. For further details of the terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 8 December
2020.

As of the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. LI Xin, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer and
Ms. LO Wing Sze. Mr. LI Xin is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(continued)

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024,
the Nomination Committee held one meeting during
which the committee reviewed and discussed, inter
alia, the following matters: (i) the structure, size and
composition of the Board; and (ii) board diversity
and board diversity policy, including reviewing
measurable objectives and exploring improvement
measures.

The attendance record of the Nomination Committee
members to committee meeting for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:

BHE BEEBHE

Attended/Eligible

= Directors to attend

TMEE(EE) Mr. LI Xin (Chairman) 1/1

A=A Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer 1/1

BOFE T Ms. LO Wing Sze 1/1
BYHITES(—NEMES) AEGFESEE®E  The independent non-executive Directors (as the
TR EENEREEAESTE—FEHREX same with other Directors) are entitled to seek

ffF ° ?&$7TEJW$"_TZ/‘T$M$EIT%E)J YRS

A ANEXERSRBELER - ERAMHAN
ﬂ?%ﬁ%‘ MEFRFEFZEMBEEREARENE
WX LHFEAEANG - NZBILIENTESTE

further information and documentation from the
senior management members on the matters to be
discussed at Board meetings. They can also seek
assistance from the Company’s company secretary
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(continued)

and, where necessary, independent advice from
external professional advisers at the Company’s
expense. They shall not vote or be counted in the
quorum on any board resolution approving any
contract or arrangement in which he/she or any
of his/her close associates has a material interest.
Such mechanisms are to ensure that the Board has
a strong independent element, and independent
views and input are available to the Board. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, all independent
non-executive Directors attended Board meetings
regularly and actively participated in the decision-
making process of the Board, and provided
independent views and opinions to the Board when it
performed its duties. In view of the above, and after
review, the Board believes that its mechanisms for
obtaining independent views and input have been
fully implemented and continue to be effective.

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE

The Company established the Sustainability
Committee on 28 March 2023. The primary duties
of the Sustainability Committee include, but are not
limited to (i) assessing the matters in relation to ESG
of the Company etc.; (ii) reviewing the objectives
and plans of the Company on ESG matters and
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SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
(continued)

monitoring the policies and measures adopted by
the Company to achieve such objectives and plans;
(iii) assessing the adequacy of resources invested by
the Company on ESG matters, and the compliance
of the Group on these matters and the effectiveness
of procedures in place; (iv) assessing the risks and
opportunities faced by the Company on ESG matters;
(v) reviewing the Company’s performance on ESG
matters from the perspective of sustainability; (vi)
assessing the difference between the Company and
comparable companies domestically and overseas
in terms of policies and performance on ESG
matters; (vii) assessing the impact of the Company’s
business activities on employees, third parties,
the communities in which the Company operates
and the Company’s reputation; (viii) reviewing the
annual sustainability report to ensure the accuracy
and completeness of the sustainability report and to
continuously improve the quality of disclosure; (ix)
making recommendations to the Board in respect of
the aforementioned matters; and (x) performing such
other duties and functions as may be assigned by
the Board from time to time. For further details of the
terms of reference of the Sustainability Committee,
please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 28 March 2023.

The Sustainability Committee comprises one
executive Director, Mr. YU Linkang, one non-
executive Director, Mr. LI Xin, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHEUNG
Kwok Ching and Ms. LO Wing Sze. Mr. LI Xin is the
chairman of the Sustainability Committee.
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SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
(continued)

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024,
the Sustainability Committee held one meeting during
which they reviewed and discussed, inter alia, the
Company'’s sustainability report for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The attendance record of the Sustainability Committee
members to committee meeting for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:

BHE BEREE

Attended/Eligible

== Directors to attend
TMIEE(EE) Mr. LI Xin (Chairman) 1/1
sREIE A Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 1/1
BokFFR T Ms. LO Wing Sze 1/1
) % B 5 A Mr. YU Linkang 11

EERA

ARAEREFERATEETHEBA T LERNE
o BERE SREXEZTEHENTE A
BARAEREBENERRABEHFTK - RAFRE
HMKEBETEAREZFEINES  HERREFTS
KREZITICERER  FRHENTXESTEZTLBE]
— & e

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company follows a fair and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new Directors for the
Board to achieve a balance of skills and experience
and diversity to achieve the Company’s strategic
focus and specific business needs. Recognising the
vitalness of diversity of the Board, the Company has
adopted a board diversity policy, details of which are
set out in the below section headed “Board Diversity
Policy”.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition of the Board at least once a
year and makes recommendation to the Board to
complement the corporate strategy of the Company.
The appointment of a new Director is a collective
decision of the Board, taking into consideration the
procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company and the board
diversity policy adopted by the Company. The Board
believes that changes to the Board composition
shall be managed without undue disruption, and
shall continue to provide a balanced composition
of executive Directors and non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors)
so that there is a strong independent element in
the Board, which can assist the Board in effectively
exercising independent judgement.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company formalised and adopted a dividend
policy with effect from 29 March 2021, aiming to
provide Shareholders with an annual dividend payout
of not less than 35% of the annual core net profit
available for distribution generated in any financial
year, subject to the criteria set out below. Such
declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to
be determined at the absolute discretion of the Board
and subject to all applicable requirements (including
without limitation restrictions on dividend declaration
and payment) under the Companies Act and the
Articles of Association.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall
also suitably take into account various factors,
including: (1) the Group’s actual and expected
financial performance; (2) Shareholders’ interests;
(3) general business strategies; (4) retained earnings
and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the other members of the Group; (5) the Group’s
indebtedness level, key financial ratios (such as the
Group’s debt to equity ratio and return on equity)
and any financial covenants to which the Group is
subject; (6) the Group’s expected working capital
requirements and future expansion plans; (7) liquidity
position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend; (8) taxation considerations,
and legal and regulatory restrictions; (9) possible
effects on the Group’s creditworthiness; (10) general
economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Company; and (11)
other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the
Shareholders such interim dividends subject to the
Companies Act and the Articles of Association.
Except in the case of interim dividend and special
dividend, any dividends declared by the Company
must be approved by an ordinary resolution of
Shareholders at an annual general meeting and
must not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board. Dividends may be distributed in the form of
cash or shares subject to and in accordance with the
Companies Act and the Articles of Association. The
Company will regularly review the dividend policy and
reserve the right in its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy
at any time, and the dividend policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy
(the “Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity of the Board. The Group
recognises the benefits of having a diversified Board
and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment
of the Group’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

The Group has developed measurable objectives to
achieve diversity of our Board through considering
a number of factors, including but not limited to
professional experience, talents, skills, knowledge,
cultural and education background, gender, age,
ethnicity and length of service. Our Directors have
a balanced mix of experiences, including overall
management, brand improvement, business
development and finance experiences. Our Directors
obtained degrees in various majors including
accounting, engineering and economics. As of 31
December 2024, the male-to-female ratios of the
Company’s Board members, senior management and
all employees are set out as follows:

Exg EREERE FRERE

Board of Senior
% 5l Gender Directors management All employees
S Male 90% 100% 67%
g Female 10% 0% 33%




EXEZ R BEHA)

RERZTERRMNE REBEE2E_F_NF+-A
=T -BUEUMBFEEERTIAAERR (VAR
AEE ST E AR BEAERESTSARAIRE - (i)
BIAFATEZFABTERIR=ZBRTEINESTE
ABO=D2— (N2> —RBUFATEELH

AREENEXERA ST IEBEYBEEND &
( WEL—REFEARAREEEMBRITXREBER
HEELR -

U

EFEeHONESSRSAETEEBNER LEF MR
ZRAENBEZURTRE - EERHZTEBRNEE -
BREETERRBZENAFEEZE EFTRE RE
FEEEL BREMRZT/AIFTEEEHN HEE
FETBER BHESEERAUTEE  AA6EHR
— BB EE  RERIEETLRAMELEES]H
MRIZ LA EERE - KK - ARFAHFERZRE
SRZMEZREA  UBERERZHEZEZENEZA
B - EZCHEERDNSEIR REEZTTEPMH
ABZ Tt U BB EE R - IREEEEN
BELEBFERI —XZTIEBRRELEE  UERE
BN EFEERET2BR -

HEMBERETGAH AT China Resources Mixce Lifestyle Services Limited 089

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
(continued)

For the purpose of implementing the Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were achieved
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024: (i)
the Company should comply with the requirements
on Board composition in the Listing Rules from time
to time; (ii) the number of independent non-executive
Directors should be not less than three and one-
third of the Board; (iii) at least one of the independent
non-executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise; and (iv) at least one
Director should be a professional or have intensive
experience of the industry on which the business of
the Group is in.

The Board recognises the importance and benefits
of gender diversity at both the Board and senior
management level. Keeping in mind the objectives
of the Diversity Policy, including but not limited to
the measurable objectives set, the Board is of the
view that it has followed the Diversity Policy at the
Board level, except for the measurable gender
diversity objective. As at the Latest Practicable Date,
the Company has one female Director and has not
achieved the measurable gender diversity objective
of “having no less than two female Directors”. Going
forward, the Company will search for female Director
candidates through multiple channels, and ensure the
targeted number of female directors will be attained.
The Board will continue to take initiatives to promote
gender diversity among the Board and implement
measurable objectives in this regard. The Nomination
Committee will also review the Diversity Policy and
its implementation at least on an annual basis to
ensure its implementation and monitor its continued
effectiveness.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
(continued)

Going forward, the Company will continue to
promote corporate diversity and inclusion, including
the gender diversity among the Group’s senior
management, by (i) creating an open, inclusive
and equal working environment for all employees,
ensuring equal opportunities and fair treatment for
all employees through the principle of fairness in the
recruitment process, fair distribution of remuneration
and benefits, and equal treatment of training and
promotion opportunities, and encouraging male and
female employees to give full play to their strengths
in different positions; (ii) encouraging women to
participate in training and enhance academic
qualifications, smoothening career development paths
for female employees, carrying out women’s activities
on a regular basis, and providing rich and diverse
communication platforms for female employees; and
(iii) actively promoting diverse forms of employee
communication, listening to employees’ voices,
actively providing assistance, and promoting a culture
of gender diversity and inclusion in the workplace.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for the corporate
governance duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code.

The Board reviews the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of the Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in its Corporate
Governance Report.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The company
secretary of the Company may from time to time and
as the circumstances require provide updated written
training materials relating to the roles, functions and
duties of a director of a company listed on the Stock
Exchange to the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of the responsibilities
as a director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.

The Company recognises the importance of Directors
participating in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed. The company secretary
of the Company may from time to time and as the
circumstances require provide updated written
training materials relating to the roles, functions
and duties of a director of a company listed on the
Stock Exchange to the Directors. Relevant internally-
facilitated briefings for the Directors have been
arranged and reading materials on relevant topics
would be issued to the Directors where appropriate.
They are encouraged to attend relevant training
course at the Company’s expense. Directors have
provided a record of the training they received during
the year ended 31 December 2024 to the Company.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL

DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

In compliance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG

g
ZWHETZA=T—HLEFE EEFUTIFAL2H Code, the Directors participated in the continuous
A K

BAR&IAILEEER  EFRBRBE

PN professional developments in relation to legal and

BEEBNFEEETR regulatory update, the duties and responsibility of
the Directors and the business of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2024 in the following
manner:

FEEXBRZER
Type of continuous
professional development
HERBRAARR
HEBRCBRHNEE
EMHEHR HEEERRR
Reading regulatory ESHEEI
updates or information Attending training
relevant to the on regulatory
Company or its development and

BEx Directors business directors’ duties

BITES: Executive Directors:

TR R Sk A () Mr. YU Linkang (President) v v

ITHEREAE Mr. WANG Haimin v v

IRRER-FE-_MmE Ms. WANG Lei (appointed with v v

—AZTNAEZ(F) effect from 29 January 2024)
mEERE Mr. NIE Zhizhang v v
;IK g (R=—F =W  Ms. GUO Ruifeng (appointed with effect v TEH
— A+ NAEZER from 29 January 2024 and resigned N/A
RZFEZWENHA+NH with effect from 19 June 2024)
BFIE)
BNELL (R=-F-/mMF  Ms. WEI Xiaohua (retired with effect v T iE A
—HA+HHREL) from 15 January 2024) N/A

FHITES ! Non-executive Directors:

BMEE(FE) Mr. LI Xin (Chairman) v %

BHOF L& Mr. GUO Shiging v v



EEREEXRE (B

MBS /BTG APRAN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

REESXBR2ER
Type of continuous
professional development

MERRAARR

HEBBHNEE
EARSER HEEERRR
Reading regulatory ESREEI

updates or information Attending training
relevant to the

Company or its

on regulatory
development and

Bx Directors business directors’ duties
BUFHTES: Independent non-executive Directors:

ZIMELE Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer v v
REIIE L AE Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching v v
BRRZELEE Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan v %
Bkt Ms. LO Wing Sze v %

ARABLZHERELE  REFRH MR LEAM
HEZRMEERETHNEHERIES - BEET
BREHARRRE MRAKMENENESN  RES
SEBLEEERETREA -

The Company will arrange regular seminars to provide
Directors with updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal
and regulatory requirements from time to time. The
Directors are also provided with regular updates on
the Company’s performance, position and prospects
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY AND
REMUNERATION

The Company appointed KPMG, Certified Public
Accountants, Hong Kong (“KPMG”) as the
external auditor for the year ended 31 December
2024. A statement by KPMG about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is included
in the section headed “Independent Auditor’'s Report”
of this annual report.

Details of the fees paid/payable in respect of the
assurance services and non-assurance services
provided by KPMG for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the table below.

P it B9 BR 7% Services rendered
EXRR Assurance services:
HE-Z-_NWF+=-A=1+—H Annual audit for the year ended AR #2965,0007T
I FERNFEEZ 31 December 2024 RMB2,965,000
HE-_T-WFA=1H Review for the interim financial statements AR # 600,000 7T
LE7XE A A ER BT # ek O = B for the six months ended 30 June 2024 RMB600,000
EXRRBENEER Total fees for assurance services: AR #3,565,0007T
RMB3,565,000
FEFR Non-assurance services:
EARY Due diligence service AR # 300,000 7T
RMB300,000
FEFRBENWEAER : Total fees for non-assurance services: AR # 300,000 7T

RMB300,000
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and for
reviewing its effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
Group’s internal audit team, legal and compliance
team, and senior management conduct reviews of
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee
reviews the findings and recommendations of the
internal audit team, legal and compliance team, and
the senior management in their meetings at least
twice a year and reports to the Board on the results of
such review.

The risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage, rather than eliminate
business risk; to help safeguard the Group’s assets
against fraud and other irregularities; and to give
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material financial misstatement or loss. In addition,
it should provide a basis for the maintenance of
proper and fair accounting records and assist in the
compliance with relevant rules and regulations. The
Company has established a whistleblowing policy and
system for employees and those who deal with the
Company (such as customers and suppliers) to raise
concerns confidentially and anonymously with the
Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any
matters related to the Company. The Company has
also established policies and systems that promote
and support anti-corruption laws and regulations.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEMS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Board, through the Audit Committee, reviewed the
overall effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems, covering financial,
operational and compliance controls, ESG related
risks and risk management functions and results of
risk assessment. The Board believes that there are no
material internal control deficiencies that may affect
the Shareholders and an effective and adequate risk
management and internal control system is in place
to safeguard the assets of the Group. The Audit
Committee and senior management will together
monitor the implementation of risk management
policies on an ongoing basis to ensure the policies
and implementation are effective and sufficient.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has in place a framework for the disclosure
of inside information by reference to the Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission. The framework
sets out the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information in
an appropriate and timely manner, such as steps
to ascertain sufficient details, conduct internal
assessment of the matter and its likely impact on the
Company, seek professional advice where required
and verification of the facts. Before the information
is fully disclosed to the public, any persons who
possess the knowledge of such information must
ensure strict confidentiality and must not deal in any
of the Company’s securities.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

With effect from 6 May 2024, Mr. SO Yiu Fung (“Mr.
S0”) resigned, and Dr. NGAI Wai Fung (“Dr. NGAI"),
a fellow of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute, a fellow of the Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom, a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a fellow of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and a member of
the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, was appointed
as the Company Secretary. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6
May 2024. Although the Company Secretary is not
a full-time employee of the Company, he reports to
the Board and in his capacity as Company Secretary
advises the Board on governance matters. The
primary contact person of the Company with the
Company Secretary was Mr. NIE Zhizhang, an
executive Director of the Company. Each of Mr. SO
and Dr. NGAI has confirmed that he has attended at
least 15 hours of professional development in 2024.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

The Board strives to maintain a continuing open
dialogue with the Shareholders. Shareholders are
encouraged to participate in general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the
meetings. The process of the Company’s general
meeting is monitored and reviewed on a regular
basis, and, if necessary, changes will be made to
ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served.

The Company uses annual general meeting as
one of the principal channels for communicating
with the Shareholders. The Company ensures that
Shareholders’ views are communicated to the Board.
At the annual general meeting, each substantially
separate issue would be considered by a separate
resolution, including the election of individual
Directors. The Chairman of the Board, chairmen of
the respective Board committees and the external
auditor will endeavour to attend annual general
meetings to interact with and answer questions from
Shareholders.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(continued)

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company held one general meeting, which was
the 2024 AGM. The 2024 AGM was held on 7 June
2024, at Ball Room, 1st Floor, Hotel Kapok Shenzhen
Bay, No. 3001, Binhai Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong, China. The Directors,
including the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of
the Audit Committee, the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, and the external auditor of the Company,
KPMG, attended the 2024 AGM. The attendance
records of the Directors at the 2024 AGM are set out
below:

BEHE BITRE
Meeting(s)
=3 Directors attended/held
HITES Executive Directors:
g R B ST A (A8 L) Mr. YU Linkang (President) 1/1
FERLAE Mr. WANG Haimin 1/1
F@mEE Mr. WANG Lei (appointed with effect from 29 1/1
(R=ZFZF—A=Z1+NHAEZE)  January 2024)
BEELEE Mr. NIE Zhizhang 1/1
imig e E (R—F - WF—H =+ /1.H Ms. GUO Ruifeng (appointed with effect from 11
BEERR-_ZFE_MEF 29 January 2024 and resigned with effect
NA A BHE) from 19 June 2024)
BNELL Ms. WEI Xiaohua (retired with effect from 15 NEMA
(R=ZFZpF— A+ A HEMF) January 2024) N/A
FEHITES Non-executive Directors:
TMR&E(EE) Mr. LI Xin (Chairman) 1/1
BEFLE Mr. GUO Shiging 1/1
BUFHTES: Independent non-executive Directors:
2mE L& Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer 1/1
REES A Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 1/1
R4 Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan 1/1
Bk L Ms. LO Wing Sze 1/1
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(continued)

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS
(continued)

The chairman of the meeting exercised his power
under the Articles of Association to put each
proposed resolution to vote by way of a poll. The
Company adopted poll voting for all resolutions put to
vote at the meeting. The procedures for voting by poll
at the 2024 AGM was explained at the 2024 AGM,
prior to the polls being taken.

All resolutions put to the Shareholders at the 2024
AGM were passed. There were no Shares entitling
the Shareholders to attend and abstain from voting in
favour of the resolution at the 2024 AGM as set out in
Article 14.2 of the Company’s Article of Association
or Rule 2.15 of the Listing Rules, no Shareholders
were required under the Listing Rules to abstain from
voting at the 2024 AGM and no Shareholders had
stated their intention in the circular to vote against
or to abstain from voting on the proposed resolution
at the 2024 AGM. Tricor Investor Services Limited,
the Branch Share Registrar of the Company in Hong
Kong acted as scrutineer for the poll and counted
the poll votes cast at the 2024 AGM. The results of
the voting by poll were published on the respective
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETINGS (“EGM”) BY
SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association,
the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an
EGM. General meetings shall also be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members
holding together, as at the date of deposit of the
requisition, Shares representing not less than one-
tenth of the voting rights, one vote per share basis,
of the Company which carry the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. The written
requisition shall be deposited at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office of the Company, specifying
the objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be
added to the meeting agenda and signed by the
requisitionist(s). If the Board does not within 21 days
from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene the meeting to be held within a
further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or
any of them representing more than one- half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

There are no specific provisions in the Articles of
Association for the Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings. Shareholders who
wish to put forward proposals may request the
Company to convene an EGM in accordance with
the procedures set out in the above paragraph
headed “Convening of Extraordinary General
Meetings (“EGM”) by Shareholders”. Procedures
for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director have been uploaded to the Company’s
website.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO
THE BOARD AND CONTACT DETAILS

The Shareholders shall direct their questions about
their shareholdings to the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong.

In addition, the Shareholders and the investment
community may at any time contact the Company’s
Investor Relations Department to enquire about the
information published by the Company. The contact
details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited
30/F., China Resources Land Building, Tower B, No. 9668
Shennan Avenue,

Nanshan District, Shenzhen, China

Email: ir_mixc@crland.com.cn

Tel: 852-2877 2330/86-755 2699 9056

Fax: 852-2877 9068
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication
with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor
relations and investors’ understanding of the Group’s
business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. To ensure that the Shareholders and
potential investors are provided with ready, equal
and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company, the Company has
established the Shareholders’ Communication Policy,
which include several channels to communicate with
the Shareholders as follows:

(i) corporate communications such as annual
reports, interim reports and circulars are
available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange;

(i) periodic announcements are published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange;

(i) corporate information is made available on the
Company’s website; and

(iv) annual and extraordinary general meetings
provide a forum for the shareholders to make
comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations
and enhancing communication with the existing
shareholders and potential investors.

The Company has reviewed and considered its
Shareholders’ communication policy properly
implemented and effective during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

In order to fully comply with the latest regulatory
requirements in relation to the expanded paperless
listing regime and the electronic dissemination of
corporate communications by listed issuers and the
relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules, the
second amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company was adopted
by special resolution at the annual general meeting
held on 7 June 2024. The second amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association
of the Company is available at the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. Save as
disclosed, no other changes have been made to
the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.

For further details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 25 March 2024 and the
circular of the Company sent to the Shareholders
dated 29 April 2024.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The Board is pleased to present this report of
Directors together with the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended
31 December 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable
Date are:

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LI Xin (Chairman)
Mr. GUO Shiging

Executive Directors

Mr. YU Linkang (President)

Mr. WANG Haimin (Vice President)

Mr. WANG Lei (Vice President, appointed with effect
from 29 January 2024)

Mr. NIE Zhizhang (Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer)

Mr. GUO Ruifeng (Vice President and Chief Strategy
and Operating Officer, appointed with effect from
29 January 2024 and resigned with effect from 19
June 2024)

Ms. WEI Xiaohua (Vice President, retired with effect
from 15 January 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer
Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan
Ms. LO Wing Sze

Biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Company are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 50 to 67 of this annual
report.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is a leading property management and
commercial operational service provider in China.
The Group provides property management and
value-added services to one of the largest portfolios
of residential properties and gradually promotes
its business transformation into an urban space
operation service provider, and also manages
and operates a diversified and growing portfolio of
commercial properties comprising shopping malls
and office buildings.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set
out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group achieved
improvements in some of the major operating
indicators, details of which are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
this annual report. Analysis of the strategies and core
competitiveness of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group including
an analysis of the Group’s financial performance
and an indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report. These discussions form part of the report of
the Directors. The Group’s key relationship with its
stakeholders (including employees, customers and
suppliers) who have a significant impact on the Group
and on which the Group’s success depends, is set
out in this report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a
number of risks and uncertainties. The key risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group are set out as
follows:

The growth of property management and
commercial operation service markets
depends on general economic and
market conditions

Changes in the general economic and market
conditions including changes in international,
national, regional and local economic conditions,
market volatility, declining demand for residential
or commercial real estate, falling real estate values,
disruption to the global capital or credit markets may
also negatively affect the PRC property management
and commercial operational service markets which
could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on
the PRC property management and commercial
operational service markets which could, in turn, have
a material adverse effect on the Group.

A significant portion of the Group’s
property management and commercial
operational services was provided in
relation to properties developed and/or
owned by CR Group and CR Land

As the Group does not have control over the business
strategies of CR Group and CR Land, nor any factor
that may affect their business operations, any adverse
development in the operations of CR Group and CR
Land or their ability to develop new properties may
affect the Group’s ability to procure new service
contracts. In addition, there can be no assurance that
all of the Group’s service contracts with CR Group
and CR Land will be renewed successfully upon their
expiration.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

A significant portion of the Group’s
property management and commercial
operational services was provided in
relation to properties developed and/
or owned by CR Group and CR Land
(continued)

The Group intends to strategically expand its
business through collaboration with independent third
parties. However, there can be no assurance that it
will maintain its current revenue levels and profitability
if it takes on more projects from, or sign more service
contracts with, independent third-party developers in
the future.

The Group’s continued success depends
on its ability to preserve, grow and
leverage the value of its brands

The Group provides property management services
under the trade name of “Z£ & " (China Resources)
and commercial operational and subleasing
services mainly under brands of “& & ¥~ (MIXC)
and “& R [E” (MIXC ONE). Any material negative
publicity associated with the Group’s brands and
any unauthorised use of its brand names or related
trademarks could diminish the value of its brands,
market reputation and competitive advantages.

The protection of the Group’s brands, including
related trademarks, may require the expenditure
of significant financial and operational resources.
Moreover, the steps the Group takes to protect
its brands may not adequately protect its
rights or prevent third parties from infringing or
misappropriating its trademarks. Even when
infringement or misappropriation of its trademarks
is detected, the Group may not be able to enforce
all such trademarks. Any unauthorised use by third
parties of the Group’s brands may adversely affect
its brands. Furthermore, as the Group continues to
expand its business, there is a risk that the Group
may face claims of infringement or other alleged
violations of third-party intellectual property rights,
which may restrict us from leveraging its brands in a
manner consistent with its business goals.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

The Group’s continued success
depends on its ability to preserve, grow
and leverage the value of its brands
(continued)

The Group has adopted a sound risk management
and internal control systems, details of which are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report — Risk management and internal control
systems” of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to operate its business in
compliance with applicable environmental protection
laws and regulations and has implemented relevant
environmental protection measures in compliance
with the required standards under applicable PRC
laws and regulations.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies
and performance will be disclosed in the sustainability
report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 to be published at the same time as
the publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT
LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the
Group has complied in all material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there
was no material breach of, or non-compliance with,
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group believes that the expertise, experience
and professional development of the employees
contribute to the growth of the Group. The human
resources department of the Group manages, trains
and hires employees. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group had 42,046 (as at 31 December 2023:
40,977) full-time employees in Chinese Mainland and
Hong Kong. The Group believes in the importance
of attraction, recruitment and retention of quality
employees in achieving the Group’s success.
The Group’s success depends on our ability to
attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.
Compensation for the Group’s employees typically
consists of basic salary, allowances and subsidies
(transportation, communication, housing subsidies
and allowances for staff relocated from other places),
welfare (lunch subsidies, cold and heat prevention
subsidies), performance-based bonus and year-
end bonus. The Group provides the employees with
basic pension scheme, basic medical insurance,
workplace injury insurance, unemployment insurance,
maternity insurance and housing providence funds in
accordance with relevant PRC laws and regulations.
For the remuneration expenses for the year ended
31 December 2024, please refer to Note 6(b) to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The employees
of the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Group are
set out in Note 2(s) to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

OPERATION, STRUCTURE AND
POLICIES OF THE BOARD

The Board has established four committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Sustainability
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. Details of the Board meetings
and Board committees are set out in the sections
headed “Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and
General Meetings” on pages 71 to 72 and “Board
Committees” on pages 75 to 85 of this annual report,
respectively.

The Company has adopted and implemented
the Diversity Policy, and the Group recognises
the significance of a diversified Board. Details of
diversity of the Board are set out in the sections
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 50 to 67 and “Board Diversity
Policy” on pages 88 to 90 of this annual report.

For details of the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the
Company and the terms of reference of the Board
committees, please refer to the sections headed
“Changes in Constitutional Documents” on page 104
and “Board Committees” on pages 75 to 85 of this
annual report, respectively.
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OBJECTIVES AND PLANS OF THE
BOARD

To achieve the high-quality development of the
Group and the function of the Board of strategies
formulation, decision-making and risks prevention,
the Board is committed to improving the compliance
and effectiveness of operation, granting authorisation
in a more scientific and normative way, enhancing
support for the performance of Directors’ duties.

For the financial year ending 31 December 2025, (i)
the Board meetings will be held at least four times
at approximately quarterly intervals in accordance
with code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code and
extraordinary meetings will be held according to its
needs; (ii) the Audit Committee will hold at least two
meetings, each of the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Sustainability
Committee will hold at least one meeting; and (iii)
the Chairman will at least hold one meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without
presence of other Directors.

The Company recognises the importance of Directors
participating in appropriate continuous professional
development to ensure that they have appropriate
understanding of the Company’s business and they
are aware of their duties as Directors under the
applicable laws and regulations. For the financial year
ending 31 December 2025, there will be two training
activities for Directors arranged by the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save for the continuing connected transactions as
disclosed below, during the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group has not carried out any connected
transactions that are not exempt from the annual
reporting requirement in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The following entities are connected persons of
the Company under the Listing Rules who have
continuing connected transactions with our Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024:

CR Capital

CR Capital, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability, which is an investment holding
company indirectly wholly owned by CRH.

CR Capital Group

CR Capital and its associates.

CR Land Connected Persons

CR Land and its associates. CR Land is the
controlling shareholder of the Company, which
directly owns approximately 72.29% of the share
capital of the Company.

CR Group

CRH, its holding companies, and their respective
subsidiaries.

CRH Connected Persons

CRH, its holding companies, their respective
subsidiaries and their associates (excluding CR Land
Connected Persons). CR Land is indirectly held as
to approximately 59.55% by CRH, which is in turn
indirectly wholly owned by CRC.

CRH Borrowers

CRH, Offshore Borrowers (as defined below) and
Onshore Borrowers (as defined below).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

CR Bank

CR Bank is a licensed bank regulated by the
National Financial Regulatory Administration and
headquartered in Zhuhai, the PRC. It has branches
and sub-branches in different locations in the
PRC where it operates and provides financial and
commercial banking services. As of the date of this
report, CR Bank is held as to approximately 49.77%
by CRI, which holds 100% of CRH, and therefore
is the connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules upon the listing.

CRI

CRI, a joint stock limited liability company established
in the PRC, which is an intermediate holding company
of CRH.

CR Trust

China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (ZEH)x=H
#IE5E B R 2 &), in which CRI holds a 51% equity
interest as at the date of this report.
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HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS)

1.

2023 CR Land Property Leasing
Framework Agreement

The Company entered into the property leasing
framework agreement with CR Land on 25
October 2022 (the “2023 CR Land Property
Leasing Framework Agreement”), pursuant
to which (1) the Group may, from time to time,
lease certain properties from the CR Land
Connected Persons as office and/or employee
quarter(s) for its own use or as operating lease
for its operating purpose; (2) the CR Land
Connected Persons may, from time to time,
lease certain properties from the Group as office
for its own use; and (3) the CR Land Connected
Persons may, from time to time, lease certain
retail spaces managed by the Group as tenants
under the commercial subleasing model.

The term of the 2023 CR Land Property Leasing
Framework Agreement is from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025.
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PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

1. 2023 CR Land Property Leasing
Framework Agreement (continued)

The annual caps in respect of the 2023 CR
Land Property Leasing Framework Agreement
and the actual transaction amounts for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out below:

FE LR REEHE

Transaction

Annual cap amount

AR%T AR%T

RMB’000 RMB’000

REBgEHBMBEALT The Group leasing from the CR Land 132,000 16,649

HAME® Connected Persons!”

EHBEMWEEATEAEER CR Land Connected Persons 17,000 -
HAME leasing from the Group

EHEMBEATRERE CR Land Connected Persons 30,000 5,627

DHERAEARERBYE

leasing from the Group under the

commercial subleasing mode

feE

1. BREEBHBRELBE 165 FEEENHESE
ETRMAKE S EOBER TR G EIENE - K%
EENEREAEN AR /A EEANEAEEE -
A SE RN EEENRERRAREEAFAL -

Note:

1. According to HKFRS 16, the rent payable by the
Group contains different components and therefore
different accounting treatments shall be applied. The
fixed lease payments payable by the Group will be
recognised as right-of-use assets of the Group and the
variable lease payments payable by the Group will be
recognised as expenses of the Group.
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HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

2. 2023 CRH Property Leasing
Framework Agreement

The Company entered into the property leasing
framework agreement with CRH on 25 October
2022 (the “2023 CRH Property Leasing
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
(1) the Group may, from time to time, lease
certain properties from the CRH Connected
Persons as office for its own use, and (2) the
CRH Connected Persons may, from time to
time, lease certain retail spaces managed by
the Group as tenants under the commercial
subleasing model.

The term of the 2023 CRH Property Leasing
Framework Agreement is from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025.

The annual caps in respect of the 2023 CRH
Property Leasing Framework Agreement and
the actual transaction amounts for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out below:

FEELR REEHE

Transaction

Annual cap amount

AR¥T T AR¥T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

REBBHER(EH)BE The Group leasing from the CRH 41,300 3,089
ATHAMED Connected Persons("

E=H(KE) BEALTRE CRH Connected Persons leasing 63,000 9,391

BEIHEEAAAEHE
GEVEE/ES

from the Group under the
commercial subleasing mode

B EE -

BREEBHBRELNE6H  FAEEENHESRETH
ARRE D BEERTREEIRT A  AEBRNNTHE
HENABER AT EEOEAREE MAREEMN N
BHENTBERATEENR

Note:

According to HKFRS 16, the rent payable by the Group
contains different components and therefore different
accounting treatments shall be applied. The fixed lease
payments payable by the Group will be recognised as right-
of-use assets of the Group and the variable lease payments
payable by the Group will be recognised as expenses of the
Group.
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PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

3.

2023 Parking Spaces Purchase
Framework Agreement

The Company entered into the parking spaces
purchase framework agreement with CR Land
on 25 October 2022 (the “2023 Parking Spaces
Purchase Framework Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Group may, from time to time, enter
into transactions to purchase the ownership of
and/or the right to use certain unsold parking
spaces which are owned by the CR Land
Connected Persons.

The term of the 2023 Parking Spaces Purchase
Framework Agreement is from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025.

The annual cap of the annual purchase amounts
and the actual purchase amounts in respect of
the 2023 Parking Spaces Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2024 are RMB440 million and RMB102,749
thousands, respectively.
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MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

4., 2023 CRH Procurement Framework
Agreement

The Company entered into the procurement of
and provision of goods and services framework
agreement with CRH on 25 October 2022
(the “2023 CRH Procurement Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which (1) the Group
may, from time to time, procure from the CRH
Connected Persons certain types of goods
and services which include staff uniforms, food
items and utilities (gas and electricity) and
technical services which are aggregated by the
Group to streamline the Group’s management of
these transactions, and (2) the CRH Connected
Persons may, from time to time, procure from
the Group marketing services for the respective
users in the CR Life Club (Z B 3&) through
points conversion.

The term of the 2023 CRH Procurement
Framework Agreement is from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025.

The annual caps in respect of the 2023 CRH
Procurement Framework Agreement and the
actual transaction amounts for the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out below:

FELR REeHE

Transaction

Annual cap amount

ARMF T AR¥T

RMB’000 RMB’000

AEEMEE SRR Purchase amount by the Group 260,000 214,897
EH(KE) BEATH Purchase amount by the CRH 85,000 19,635

BETH

Connected Persons
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PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

5. 2023 CRH Commercial Operational
Services Framework Agreement

The Company entered into the provision of
commercial operational services framework
agreement with CRH on 25 October 2022
(the “2023 CRH Commercial Operational
Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Group may, from time to time,
provide commercial operational services to the
CRH Connected Persons for their commercial
properties (including shopping malls and office
buildings). The commercial operational services
include (i) pre-opening management services
(such as positioning and design management
services, and tenant sourcing and management
services) and (ii) operation management
services (such as opening preparation services,
tenant coaching, consumer management,
and marketing and promotion and product
informationisation services).

The term of the 2023 CRH Commercial
Operational Services Framework Agreement is
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

The annual cap of the annual service fee
amounts and the actual service fee received
by the Group in respect of the 2023 CRH
Commercial Operational Services Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2024 are RMB220 million and RMB55,066
thousands, respectively.
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MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

6.

2023 CRH Value-added Services
Framework Agreement

The Company entered into the value-added
services framework agreement with CRH on 25
October 2022 (the “2023 CRH Value-added
Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Group may from time to time, provide
value-added services to the CRH Connected
Persons for the residential properties and other
non-commercial properties developed and/
or owned by them. The value-added services
include community value-added services (such
as community living services and brokerage
and assets services) and value-added services
to property developers (such as consultancy
services, preliminary preparation services and
pre-delivery marketing services).

The term of the 2023 CRH Value-added Services
Framework Agreement is from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025.

The annual caps and the actual transaction
amounts received by the Group in respect of
the 2023 CRH Value-added Services Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out below:

FELR REeHE

Transaction

Annual cap amount

AR¥T AR®TR

RMB’000 RMB’000

A& E AL R (E R Fees to be received by the Group 80,000 74,248
15 W B & & AR for the community value-added

services
REBE G B EFEEH Fees to be received by the Group 20,000 -

AR AU EH B

for the value-added services to
property developers
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(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

7.

2023 CR Land Procurement
Framework Agreement

The Company entered into the procurement of
goods and services framework agreement with
CR Land on 25 October 2022 (the “2023 CR
Land Procurement Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Group may, from time
to time, procure from the CR Land Connected
Persons certain types of goods and services
which include interior design and construction,
purchase of furniture and fixtures, utilities (water
and electricity) and technical services.

The term of the 2023 CR Land Procurement
Framework Agreement is from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025.

The annual cap and the actual purchase amount
paid by the Group in respect of the 2023 CR
Land Procurement Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
RMB420 million and RMB309,373 thousands,
respectively.
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HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

8.

2023 Deposit and Financial Services
Framework Agreement

The Company entered into the deposit and
financial service framework agreement with
CR Bank on 25 October 2022 (the “2023
Deposit and Financial Services Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group may,
from time to time, (1) deposit cash into CR Bank,
while CR Bank will provide deposit services
and pay deposit interest to the Group on such
deposits; and (2) use the commercial banking
services of CR Bank including, but not limited
to, letter of credit, letter of guarantee, granting
of loans with collaterals, bill acceptance and
discount services, account receivable factoring
services, provision of loans and security, wealth
and cash management services, financial
consulting service and other financial services
as agreed by the parties.

The term of the 2023 Deposit and Financial
Services Framework Agreement is from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2025.
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PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

8. 2023 Deposit and Financial Services
Framework Agreement (continued)

The annual caps in respect of the 2023 Deposit
and Financial Services Framework Agreement
and the actual maximum daily balance of
deposits placed by the Group with CR Bank
and maximum daily amount of financial services
and products provided by CR Bank for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out below:

EELR XEEE
Transaction
Annual cap amount
AR®T AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
RE BTN EHE Maximum daily balance of deposits 700,000 657,188
RITHHE=EH to be placed by the Group with
TF R ER CR Bank
Z=HIRTTIRE SR Maximum daily amount of financial 500,000 -
AR MEMEBER services and products to be
BReE provided by CR Bank
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MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

9.

Framework Loan Agreements 2023

The Company entered into (1) a framework
loan agreement and guarantee for advances in
HKD, RMB and United States Dollar with CRH
(the “Offshore Framework Loan Agreement
2023”), and (2) a framework loan agreement
and guarantee for advances in RMB with
CRI (the “Onshore Framework Agreement
Loan Agreement 2023", together with the
Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2023,
the “Framework Loan Agreements 2023")
on 20 January 2023. Pursuant to the Offshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2023, the Offshore
Lenders (i.e. the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which has become a party to the
Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2023 by
acceding to its terms but excluding any entity
which is established in the PRC) may extend loans
to the Offshore Borrowers (i.e. CRH, any China
Resources Group listed companies and any of
their subsidiaries, which has become a party to
the Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2023
by acceding to its terms, but excluding any entity
which is established in the PRC and any member
of the Group) (the “Offshore Borrowers”) in
accordance with the terms of such agreement.

Pursuant to the Onshore Framework Loan
Agreement 2023, the Onshore Lenders
(i.e. any PRC established subsidiary of the
Company, which has become a party to the
Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2023 by
acceding to its terms) may extend loans to the
Onshore Borrowers (i.e. CRI and any of its PRC
established subsidiary or any China Resources
Group listed companies, which has become
a party to the Onshore Framework Agreement
2023 by acceding to its terms, but excluding
CR Bank, CR Trust and any subsidiary of the
Company) (the “Onshore Borrowers”) in
accordance with the terms of such agreement.
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PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

9. Framework Loan Agreements 2023
(continued)

The initial term of the Framework Loan
Agreements 2023 is from 20 January 2023 to 31
December 2025.

The annual lending caps for the maximum
aggregate amount that can be lent by the Group
on any single day in respect of the Framework
Loan Agreements 2023 and the actual maximum
daily balance of loans extended to the Offshore
Borrowers and the Onshore Borrowers (in the
aggregate) for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out below:

BE-Z-DOF
TZAL
FENERERS
BRREESHE
The actual
maximum daily
outstanding
balance or amount

FELR

during the year

ended

Annual cap December 2024

ARBEETR AR®EER

RMB million RMB million

FANGHESAEESRTE  Maximum daily aggregate amount 1,000 -

outstanding during the year
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HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW AND ANNOUNCEMENT
REQUIREMENTS) (continued)

10. 2024 Advisory Services Framework
Agreement

The Company entered into the advisory services
framework agreement with CR Capital on 8
November 2024 (the “2024 Advisory Services
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Group agrees to provide specific advisory
services to the CR Capital Group, including
industry consultation, investment consultation,
financial consultation, and other value-added
services (including but not limited to advisory
services in respect of strategic planning,
business resources development, and market
development).

The term of the 2024 Advisory Services
Framework Agreement is from 8 November
2024 to 31 December 2025.

The annual cap for service fees receivable
and the actual service fees received by the
Group in respect of the 2024 Advisory Services
Framework Agreement for the year ended
31 December 2024 are RMB30 million and
RMB14,355 thousands, respectively.
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW, ANNOUNCEMENT AND
INDEPENDENT SHAREHOLDERS’
APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS)

11. 2023 CR Land Property Management
Services Framework Agreement

The Company entered into the provision of
property management services framework
agreement with CR Land on 25 October 2022
(the “2023 CR Land Property Management
Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Group may, from time to time,
provide property management services to the
CR Land Connected Persons for the residential
and/or commercial properties and other non-
commercial properties developed and/or owned
by them.

The term of the 2023 CR Land Property
Management Services Framework Agreement is
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

The annual cap and the actual transaction
amount in respect of the 2023 CR Land Property
Management Services Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set

out below:
FEELR REEE
Transaction
Annual cap amount
AR®T T ARBT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEEBRBOYEEIES Property management fees to 1,450,000 763,962
(FIEME) be received by the Group (for
commercial properties)
AEEBRDOYEEIES Property management fees to 725,000 464,283

(EEMEREMIFHE
E)

be received by the Group (for
residential properties and other

non-commercial properties)
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW, ANNOUNCEMENT AND
INDEPENDENT SHAREHOLDERS’
APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS)
(continued)

12. 2023 CR Land Commercial
Operational Services Framework
Agreement

The Company entered into the provision of
commercial operational services (commercial
properties) framework agreement with CR Land
on 25 October 2022, which was supplemented
by a supplemental agreement dated 7
December 2022 (collectively, the “2023 CR
Land Commercial Operational Services
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Group may, from time to time, provide
commercial operational services to the CR
Land Connected Persons for their commercial
properties (including shopping malls and office
buildings). The commercial operational services
include (i) pre-opening management services
(such as positioning and design management
services, and tenant sourcing and management
services) and (ii) operation management
services (such as opening preparation services,
tenant coaching, consumer management
and marketing and publicity and product
informationisation services).

The term of the 2023 CR Land Commercial
Operational Services Framework Agreement is
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2037.

The annual cap and the actual service fees
received by the Group under the 2023 CR Land
Commercial Operational Services Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2024 are RMB4,000 million and RMB2,647,195
thousands, respectively.
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW, ANNOUNCEMENT AND
INDEPENDENT SHAREHOLDERS’
APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS)
(continued)

13. 2023 CR Land Value-added Services
Framework Agreement

The Company entered into the value-added
services framework agreement with CR Land on
25 October 2022 (the “2023 CR Land Value-
added Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Group may, from time to
time, provide value-added services to the CR
Land Connected Persons for the residential
properties and other non-commercial properties
developed and/or owned by them. The value-
added services include community value- added
services (such as community living services
and brokerage and assets services) and value-
added services to property developers (such as
consultancy services, preliminary preparation
services and pre-delivery marketing services).

The term of the 2023 CR Land Value-added
Services Framework Agreement is from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

The annual caps and the actual transaction
amounts in respect of the 2023 CR Land Value-

LREBRRZBEHINAT added Services Framework Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
below:

FELR REEE

Transaction

Annual cap amount

AR® TR AR¥F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AEE AL R IEE RS Fees to be received by the Group 450,000 259,490
15 U B & & FR for the community value-added

services
AEBBETEWEREETH Fees to be received by the Group 1,550,000 596,495

3% B AR 7% 5 U BN O B

for the value-added services to

property developers
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(SUBJECT TO REPORTING, ANNUAL
REVIEW, ANNOUNCEMENT AND
INDEPENDENT SHAREHOLDERS’
APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS)
(continued)

14. 2023 CRH Property Management
Services Framework Agreement

The Company entered into the provision of
property management services framework
agreement with CRH on 25 October 2022 (the
“2023 CRH Property Management Services
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Group may, from time to time, provide property
management services to the CRH Connected
Persons for the residential and/or commercial
properties and other properties developed and/
or owned by them.

The term of the 2023 CRH Property
Management Services Framework Agreement is
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

The annual caps and the property management
fees received by the Group in respect of the
2023 CRH Property Management Services
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out below:

FELR XEEHE

Transaction

Annual cap amount

AR®TF T AR¥TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AEERBBERHOMEEES Property management fees to 395,000 196,688
(FEMZE) be received by the Group (for

commercial properties)
AREEBRBNEERE Property management fees to 1,000,000 363,793

(EEMEREMIEFE
ELgiii)

be received by the Group (for
residential properties and other

non-commercial facilities)
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LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS
AND WAIVERS FROM THE STOCK
EXCHANGE

CR Capital, CR Capital Group, CR Land Connected
Persons, CR Group, CRH Connected Persons, CRH
Borrowers, CR Bank, CRI and CR Trust are connected
persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
each of (1) the 2023 CR Land Property Leasing
Framework Agreement; (2) the 2023 CRH Property
Leasing Framework Agreement; (3) the 2023 Parking
Spaces Purchase Framework Agreement; (4) the
2023 CRH Procurement Framework Agreement; (5)
the 2023 CRH Commercial Operational Services
Framework Agreement; (6) the 2023 CRH Value-
added Services Framework Agreement; (7) the 2023
CR Land Procurement Framework Agreement; (8)
the 2023 Deposit and Financial Services Framework
Agreement; (9) the Framework Loan Agreements
2023; (10) the 2024 Advisory Services Framework
Agreement; (11) the 2023 CR Land Property
Management Services Framework Agreement; (12)
the 2023 CR Land Commercial Operational Services
Framework Agreement; (13) the 2023 CR Land Value-
added Services Framework Agreement; and (14) the
2023 CRH Property Management Services Framework
Agreement as mentioned above (collectively known
as the “CCT Agreements”) constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Group under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Further details
of the CCT Agreements are set out in the relevant
announcements of the Company dated 25 October
2022, 7 December 2022, 20 January 2023 and 8
November 2024 and the circular of the Company
dated 9 December 2022.
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MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the CCT Agreements, and confirmed the CCT
Agreements have been entered into:

(i)  in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

CONFIRMATIONS FROM THE
COMPANY’S INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules,
the Group has engaged its auditor (the “Auditor”)
to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The Auditor has
issued its unqualified letter containing its findings and
conclusions in respect of the aforesaid continuing
connected transactions conducted by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions set out in Note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements include related
party transactions disclosed under accounting
standards and related party transactions which also
constitute connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related
party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of Directors and chief executives of the Company
constitute continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However,
these transactions are exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Save as the connected transactions
and continuing connected transactions disclosed
above, the related party transactions set out in Note
31 to the consolidated financial statements do not fall
within the definition of “connected transactions” or
“continuing connected transactions” under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules (as the case may be). The
Company confirmed that it was in compliance with the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed on this annual report, at no time
during the year ended 31 December 2024 was
the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including
debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

QOur customers primarily consist of property
developers, property owners and tenants, property
owners’ associations and residents.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, a significant
portion of our property management and commercial
operational services was related to properties
developed by CR Group and CR Land. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, the revenue amounts from
the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
35.2% (2023: 33.5%) of the Group’s total revenue and
the revenue amount from the Group’s single largest
customer, CR Land, accounted for 28.6% (2023:
26.0%) of the Group’s total revenue.

Other than CR Group and CR Land, the Group’s
customers during the year ended 31 December 2024
were all independent third parties.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors,
members of senior management, any Shareholder
who, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital
or their close associates held any interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers other than CR Group
and CR Land. During the year ended 31 December
2024, other than CR Group and CR Land, none of the
Group’s major suppliers was the Group's customer.

The Group’s suppliers primarily consist of
subcontractors providing cleaning, greening services,
and repair and maintenance services, services
providers of utilities, third-party merchants providing
renovation services, advertising and community living
services and property owners.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
purchases amount from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 12.1% (2023: 12.1%) of the
Group’s total purchases and the purchases amount
from the Group’s single largest customer, CR Land,
accounted for 5.7% (2023: 5.6%) of the Group’s total
purchases.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, other than
CR Group and CR Land, (i) none of the Group’s major
suppliers was also the Group’s customer and (ii) all of
the Group’s major suppliers were independent third
parties.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors,
members of senior management, any Shareholders
who, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, or
their close associates had any interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers other than CR Group
and CR Land.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and
the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
331 of this annual report. This summary does not form
part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights
under the Articles of Association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.
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HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF
HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or
exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of
their respective holding of the Company’s securities.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES
AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES
ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
details of the Shares issued during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Board, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the
Company has maintained the public float as required
under the Listing Rules as modified by the waiver
granted by the Stock Exchange upon the Listing.

137



138

TR PUEEHY  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

nm

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BR{TEER
HE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HLFE
BT ERERE o

ZEBAX
HE_Z-_NF+_A=+—HLFE
B EMESER -
B i =

HE_Z-_NE+-_A=+—BLFE
BTN ST B (T AR AE A A e o

P REEY R

AR B &

AEEI &

RERRE

AEEEBLE T -ME+-_A=+—HILFENGS
eI IT2ANGEA Rk EtEm ISR -

EEERAN T _RFEtA-tTRAXKBER S
ZEZRFANATABARIARFRE A MAREIR
HE-_Z-_NF+-A=+—BILFENKHERE
BRARB6I T ((ZEBE-_MERGERE]) (=T
—EF BRARB0481 D) REREBEE S _NF
+*ﬂ:+f5¢¢ﬁMﬁ%kgﬁkAEMOm4
T ZE-mEERIRE]) (=T =_=F: ﬂ)
RZZEZMF+A-+THRARGNEZZ miﬂ
ﬂ:+E¢AMEZ$%hw#kAEMQmwﬂﬁ
EREE 0305 (ZE_=F : BRAR®0.2237T)
ERZZEZMF+ A=+ HEMOEFRREGRA
R#05757C (FHEREK0629L) - HE-ZT -
F+ZA=Z+BLEFENRBBEATRARYE
21117T °

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

CHARITABLE DONATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
did not make any charitable donation.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by
the Group, or existed during the year ended 31
December 2024.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The consolidated results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out on page 172
of consolidated statement of profit of loss and other
comprehensive income.

The Board recommended a final dividend of
RMBO0.643 per Share for the year ended 31
December 2024 (the “2024 Final Dividend”) (2023:
RMBO0.481 per Share) and declared a special
dividend of RMB0.614 per Share for the year ended
31 December 2024 (the “2024 Special Dividend”)
(2023: nil), both payable on or about 25 July 2025 to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 16 June 2025. Together
with the interim dividend of RMB0.279 (equivalent to
HKDO0.305) per Share (2023: RMB0.223 per Share)
for the six months ended 30 June 2024 which was
paid on 25 October 2024 and the special dividend of
RMBO0.575 (equivalent to HKDO0.629) per Share which
was paid on 20 December 2024, the total dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 shall amount to
RMB2.111 per Share.
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HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

The 2024 Final Dividend, if approved by Shareholders,
and the 2024 Special Dividend will be payable in
cash in HKD unless an election is made to receive the
same in RMB. The amount in HKD will be converted
from RMB at the average CNY Central Parity Rate
announced by the People’s Bank of China for the
five business days prior to and including the date of
the 2025 AGM. To make such election, Shareholders
should complete the dividend currency election form
which is expected to be dispatched to shareholders
in June 2025 as soon as practicable after the record
date of 16 June 2025 to determine Shareholders’
entitlement to the 2024 Final Dividend and the 2024
Special Dividend, and lodge it to the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investors
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on 10 July 2025.

Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all
or part of their dividends in RMB by cheque(s) should
note that (i) they should ensure that they have an
appropriate bank account to which the RMB cheques
for dividend can be presented for payment; and (ii)
there is no assurance that RMB cheques can be
cleared without material handling charges or delay in
Hong Kong or that RMB cheques will be honoured for
payment upon presentation outside Hong Kong. The
cheques are expected to be posted to the relevant
shareholders by ordinary post on or about 25 July
2025 at the Shareholders’ own risk.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

If no duly completed dividend currency election
form in respect of that Shareholder is received by
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong
by 4:30 p.m. on 10 July 2025, such Shareholder will
automatically receive the 2024 Final Dividend and the
2024 Special Dividend in HKD. All dividend payments
in HKD will be made in the usual way on or about 25
July 2025.

If Shareholders wish to receive the 2024 Final
Dividend and the 2024 Special Dividend in HKD in
the usual way, no additional action is required.

Shareholders should seek professional advice with
their own tax advisers regarding the possible tax
implications of the dividend payment.

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of
the Company has waived or agreed to waive any
dividend.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to
the applicable laws and regulations, every Director
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in
force for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Company has taken out liability insurance to provide
appropriate coverage for the Directors.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the
Group and of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company'’s reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
RMB5.64 billion.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no bank
loans and other borrowings.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
had any service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the
employing company within one year without payment
of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors nor any entity connected with
the Directors had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors or their respective close associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in
a business that competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group, other than being a director of the Company
and/or its subsidiaries.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are decided by the
Board with reference to the recommendation given
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to
the financial performance of the Group, individual
performance, time commitment and comparable
market statistics. In particular, executive Directors’
remuneration include salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind, discretionary bonuses and retirement
scheme contributions, whilst independent non-
executive Directors’ remuneration include director
fees.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments
of the five highest paid individuals (included four
Directors) in the Group are set out in Note 8 and Note
9 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director
or any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors
has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have
been made or are payable, for the year ended 31
December 2024, by the Group to or on behalf of any
of the Directors.
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MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the sections headed
“Connected Transactions”, “Continuing Connected
“Related Party Transactions” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and Note 31
to the consolidated financial statements contained
in this annual report, no contract of significance
was entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders
or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year
and no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by
a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
was entered into during the year ended 31 December
2024 or subsisted at the end of the year.

Transactions”,

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

On 20 November 2020, CR Land entered into a non-
competition undertaking in favour of the Company,
pursuant to which, among other things, CR Land has
given certain non-competition undertakings to the
Company. Details of the non-competition undertaking
are set out in the section headed “Relationship with
Controlling Shareholders — CR Land Non-competition
Undertaking” in the Prospectus.

CR Land confirmed that it and its close associates
have complied with the non-competition undertaking
for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
independent non-executive Directors have conducted
such review for the year ended 31 December 2024
and also reviewed the relevant undertakings and are
satisfied that the non-competition undertaking has
been fully complied with.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers
and business partners are keys to its sustainable
development. The Group is committed to establishing
a close and caring relationship with its employees,
providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.
The Company provides a fair and safe workplace,
promotes diversity to its staff, provides competitive
remuneration and benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance.
The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide
adequate trainings and development resources to its
employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at
the same time, improve their performance and self-
fulfilment in their positions. Further details in relation to
the Group’s employees are set out in the paragraph
headed "Human Resources” in this report.

The Group understands that it is important to
maintain good relationship with customers and
provide the services in a way that satisfies needs and
requirements of the customers. The Group enhances
the relationship by continuous interaction with
customers to gain insight on the changing market
demand for the services so that the Group can
respond proactively. The Group has also established
procedures in place for handling customers’
complaints to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt
with in a prompt and timely manner.

The Group is also dedicated to developing good
relationship with suppliers and subcontractors as
long- term business partners to ensure stability of the
Group’s business. The Group reinforces business
partnerships with suppliers and subcontractors by
ongoing communication in a proactive manner.
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MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITOR

At the conclusion of the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 6 June 2023 (the “2023 AGM"),
Ernst & Young retired as the auditor of the Company,
and with the approval of Shareholders at the 2023
AGM, KPMG has been appointed as the new auditor
of the Company following the retirement of Ernst &
Young with effect from 6 June 2023.

There has been no change in auditors for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
have been audited by KPMG.

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by
KPMG, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment at the 2025 AGM.
A resolution for re-appointment of KPMG as the
independent auditor of the Company will be proposed
at the 2025 AGM.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATIONS ON CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

The Company entered into the following loan
agreement which has specific performance covenant
of its Controlling Shareholders. The obligations of
such loan agreements continue to exist as of the
date of this report. As at the date of this report, CRH
beneficially owns directly or indirectly approximately
73.72% of the issued share capital of the Company,
and CR Land is the single largest shareholder of the
Company, directly owning approximately 72.29% of
the issued share capital of the Company and being
able to control the Company.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATIONS ON CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER (continued)

o A revolving loan facility letter for a facility in an
aggregate amount of up to HKD600,000,000
with a maturity date of 12 months was entered
into on 20 October 2021, details of which
have been disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 20 October 2021. The
Company has undertaken that during the term
of the facility, the Company shall procure that
CRH and CR Land remain directly or indirectly
interested in no less than 35% and 51% of
the issued share capital of the Company
respectively. If violation of the relevant
undertakings under this facility letter occurs,
the lender may declare any commitment under
this facility letter to be cancelled and/or declare
the outstanding loans, together with all the
interests accrued thereon, and all other amounts
due under this facility letter shall become
immediately due and payable. The revolving
loan facility letter has been renewed on the
same terms on 20 October 2022, 20 October
2023 and 20 October 2024 respectively with
the maturity date having been extended for 12
months on each occasion. As of 31 December
2024, the Group did not draw down this facility.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE
LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company
does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting (i.e. the
2025 AGM) will be held on 5 June 2025. Notice of
the 2025 AGM and all other relevant documents will
be published and despatched to Shareholders who
request a printed copy in due course.



T EREROBFERTFE
ARARIBER - E-_RFANA-HE-ZE-_RAF AR

H(BEEEMR)GEHERNDBPELFE  HiH
BAERERNDBFELTE  UHEERRLFEHR

_7_ﬂi/\ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ_v_ﬁﬁﬂxﬁﬁij(’“

WHE LIRENER RTEEREE_ZE-_1FRK
%ﬂiﬁ’“ TREgLEERE FTAEBRPXHERBBR
ﬁﬂi@/,ﬁ/\_?_ﬁiﬁﬂ THTIFEE=+T2H
KEARANBBROBPELOREEZFELE
RAR (Ut AEBSERE16RERTRFO17E)
AR B FE -

RN FRPRE(FRER-_Z-_AFRRAF
ARG LEARE_E_NEFEHIREGRTR_E
ZHEERNATABTFUE =T EXRHEERES
FIRRBIRREMAZIRE - W E - ARARIER_E
—HEANATABEZZE-RAFAAATNAE (BEH
EMR)EERERNBPELFE  HARETE
PERNTRNDBFLPELFE - ARFEZE 2=
FRPBRER T _MFRFHIREZER AR
MBFPXHERBHERKRE  HFEER_ZT_HAF<A
WL:EthFEH—ir:WL’B‘ETJ?; RRARHEBRDEF

DEPEFLFELBRAA - R E - LAPTE
&3 ?%ﬁ"

MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be
closed from 2 June 2025 to 5 June 2025, both days
inclusive and during which period no share transfer
will be effected, for the purpose of ascertaining
shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the
2025 AGM to be held on 5 June 2025. In order to
be eligible to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not
later than 4:30 p.m. on 30 May 2025.

The 2024 Final Dividend (subject to the approval of
shareholders at the 2025 AGM) and the 2024 Special
Dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the
Company after the close of business of the Company
at 4:30 p.m. on 16 June 2025 and the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 16
June 2025 to 19 June 2025, both days inclusive and
during which no transfer of shares of the Company
will be registered. In order to qualify for the 2024 Final
Dividend and the 2024 Special Dividend, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at the above address
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 June 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short
positions of our Directors or chief executives of
the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

Interest in the Company:

Exps BEME EBRREBO BoL®

Number of  Approximate

ordinary percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest shares® holding®

) % B 5T A Efh© 358,304 (L) 0.02%
Mr. Yu Linkang Others®

TER%L Hih® 52,955 (L) 0.00%
Mr. Wang Haimin Others®

BEELL BE&EBEAA 50,000(L) 0.00%

Mr. Nie Zhizhang

Beneficial owner




EERNA QA HEEAAB LB R -
HEROREEENERER AR ()

(1) FEILUEZALHAERAAFAERN (RADFE -

(2) ERZZZWUF+ZA=+—HBEZTIRMAELE2,282,500,000
fRABEENH -

(8) MWFHEFELLERTIERCEEBCICC Financial Trading Limited
BUMBEEEEFEREEEELHERBUFAER -8
BREEELZENE—TER FL2HBRER-

HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares
of the Company (“Share(s)”).

2) The calculation is based on the total number of 2,282,500,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

(3) Mr. Yu Linkang and Mr. Wang Haimin subscribed and hold
interests under the Employee Preferential Offering through the
asset management schemes established by CICC Financial
Trading Limited. For further information on the Employee
Preferential Offering, please refer to the Prospectus.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Interest in CR Land, an associated
corporation as defined under Part XV of
the SFO

BEEnR EHEME EERHEAO FRASHK®

Number of  Approximate
ordinary percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest shares( holding®

TRREE EmERA 40,000 (L) 0.00%

Mr. Li Xin Beneficial owner

BEE - Note:

1. FRILIEBZATAHERBRGOTE - 1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares

of CR Land.

2. BR-_ZE-_NE+-_A=1+—-HEBTEIBEHRMO AR
7,130,939,579f% A EETE o

M EE (E& R & R EKH5FXVE)
IHERROBERAFER

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 7,130,939,579
shares of CR Land in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Interest in Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd, an associated corporation as
defined under Part XV of the SFO

A
EEpE EmME EBEREE"Y FHRESHLE®
Number of  Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest shares™ holding®
HHEBLE Bz 60,000 (L) 0.01%
Mr. Guo Shiging Interest of spouse®
B 5 Note:
1. FRLIBZATAFIPEERGBRIDRMNIEE 1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares

2. BRZEZNF+ A=+ ABRBITIFEEROARA
AIPLAD 42 $1629,444 958 L B EHELHE o

3. SPHIE S AR R YA H AL 18.2 60,000 R AR (7 2 #E & -

of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 629,444,958
shares in issue of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd as at
31 December 2024.

3. Mr. Guo Shiging was deemed to be interested in 60,000
shares through interest of his spouse.
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HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Interest in China Resources
Pharmaceutical Group Limited, an
associated corporation as defined under
Part XV of the SFO

B4
EEnR EEMEE EBEREBY BHRESHK®
Number of  Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest shares® holding®
BEBELL BB A 32,000 (L) 0.00%
Mr. Nie Zhizhang Beneficial owner
Bt 5 Note:
1. FRLIEZATAIFEBBRESEBRATNRNITE - 1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares

2. BR-ZZ-NF+-_A=+—HEBERTEHEBHEEEARD
BIRL 1D 4286,282,510,461 L A E £ E o

BEXHEEE R -NE+-_A=+—8
BEMNEEHARAEEZTHABRARQ G SHEM
HEAZBE (ERERFHFRBEGOIEXVED) BRMD
AR KERERTHE B REREEFES LB
BISEXVERE 7 X873 A E AR B KM R Fr 2 ({7
BHIKE (BREREELFARPERANBRBEES
WEEIRAER ZEZRAR)  NIREBESR K
BB E3521EMEARRIAGTE 2 B MATREEER
EfERSOA R - HIRBIZARETRIABAA D7) R
R ERIERSOAR ©

of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited.

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 6,282,510,461
shares of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited in
issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024,
none of the Directors or the chief executives of the
Company had, or were to have any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or were required to be entered in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO; or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors
are aware, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company) and
companies had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded
in the register required to be kept by our Company
under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

EERHEAO HFRASHK®
Approximate
Number of percentage of

Name of the Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares® holding®
FEERERAFO Rz NSIE 35 1,682,666,000 (L) 73.72%
China Resources Company Limited®  Interest in controlled corporation
EHROHBRQF® e INIL £ 1,682,666,000 (L) 73.72%
China Resources Inc.® Interest in controlled corporation
CRC Bluesky Limited® Rz NSIE 35 1,682,666,000 (L) 73.72%
CRC Bluesky Limited® Interest in controlled corporation
EH(EE) e INCIL 5 1,682,666,000 (L) 73.72%
CRH® Interest in controlled corporation
EFHEE () ARQAC e INCIL 5 1,650,000,000 (L) 72.29%
CRH (Land) Limited® Interest in controlled corporation

BEREAA 32,644,400 (L) 1.43%

Beneficial owner
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MBS EGAMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

B4
RREHE B REHE ZEREAO FRASL®
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of the Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares®™ holding®
BEBEBRAFO EmBEAA 21,600 (L) 0.001%
Commotra Company Limited® Beneficial owner
EHEHO E=lA A 1,650,000,000 (L) 72.29%
CR Land® Beneficial owner
JPMorgan Chase & Co.® E=lA A 13,431,061 (L) 0.59%
JPMorgan Chase & Co.* Beneficial owner 11,385,078 (S) 0.50%
REKE 33,045,994 (L) 1.45%
Investment manager
HERMOREBERHA 116,463 (L) 0.01%
Person having a security interest
in shares
ZEEERIEA 90,532,363 (P) 3.97%

Approved lending agent

FERILBZALABARBABRNER - FRISIEZALH
FARBBMKR - FEIPIEREEBZAE -

BR B UE+ = A=+—HEBTRMEE2,282,500,000
BB -

EHEN ABEERAFRILEREE (BE) BRARSAIE
B 4% 5 72 5 1,650,000,000 A% 21,600 A% LA K2 32,644,400 f%
B EHEHRERER (B BRAAFES9.51%1#
m EH(EE) AEEBERARIREREE (Bit) AR AR
ZME— R - i EE R (£ E) 2 CRC Bluesky Limited Hy 2 & [
/A 7] * CRC Bluesky Limited RZEBRHBR AR 2 EHE -
MEERNDERARABTFREEERARZERS
It EHER (Bt) AR AR - 28 (5£E) - CRC Bluesky
Limited * FEHBRHOD AR AU RPEEBERAAHIHEA
A 72 7] 1,682,666,000 & B 1) HyfE 25 o

RIEFHFRAEGOIBEXVHFE2REINDBREMANA B H
BEHERER - ZZ5 1% B JJPMorgan Chase & Co. B % 8k
BB 100%E 625 T ABMIEA - £ - 64242 A%
7 (3 &) 112,887 AR5 CAR) YA E W R KA FE 4T
£ T A% 3,104,400 I i 1) (47 &) 2 391,208 &5 O &) Tb
BRI EMITETE -

Notes:

(1)

@

()

“4)

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares
of the Company. The letter “S” denotes the person’s short
position in the shares of the Company. The letter “P” denotes
the position in lending pool.

The calculation is based on the total number of 2,282,500,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

CR Land, Commotra Company Limited and CRH (Land)
Limited directly held 1,650,000,000 Shares, 21,600 Shares
and 32,644,400 Shares of the Company, respectively. CR
Land is owned as to 59.51% by CRH (Land) Limited. CRH is
the sole shareholder of Commotra Company Limited and CRH
(Land) Limited. Moreover, CRH is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by
China Resources Inc. China Resources Inc. is wholly-owned
by China Resources Company Limited. Thus, CRH (Land)
Limited, CRH, CRC Bluesky Limited, China Resources Inc.
and China Resources Company Limited are deemed to be
interested in 1,682,666,000 Shares in the Company.

According to the information disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of SFO, these Shares were held
by certain corporations controlled directly or indirectly as
to 100% by JPMorgan Chase & Co. Among which, 64,242
Shares (long position) and 112,887 Shares (short position)
were physically settled unlisted derivatives and 3,104,400
Shares (long position) and 391,208 Shares (short position)
were cash settled unlisted derivatives.

153



154

TR PUEEHY  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(il

HE S

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FERRRNR A K& 868 MR 0 B 3 R %
B (&)

Br EXFTEESN R ZNFE+—A=+—H " #
EEMEMATREOIBERDFRBEREES K
HEHROIEXVHBE 2R FEIMO R EAMALRRKE
MR IOAR - REEHER AR RERE 7 B RD
FEIBHRFENTCMORREIRRE -

BE HEIIEELTES

BE-_FT_NF+_A=1T—HLFE ARAHHE
EAMBARMERE HEXBERARBEM LT
Ex (BRHEHEEEER(EER LTRAD) -
A ZE_MFE+_A=+—H  ARARLERFEEWN
R

LW RBRE

ARBRORZE_EF+ AL BRBZFKI £
W EHNBRAEBRAMEBRYT - ETWAMBRIBEFE
EERA) B AREE11,6004EETT °

RZZEZMF+ZA=+—H EWASEREARE
5784 AR E LB ARRBHA S _EF+— A
—tHRHNEREREAAGRASA T _NF=A
TT+HRBANREBEEE 2IREE RITFEBELRE
FSREFEAEHNAE ([ZAE])) ME BN
HAZBARER - WABDAMSREFEHARE
5816.0 B BL IRz A EME 2 Ad &t fl o
FR - BE-_E-_ME+_A=+—10 BEZASE
LAESET TR F BT R EwmT ¢

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2024, no
other person had any interest or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provision of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of
the Company (including sale or transfer of treasury
shares as defined under the Listing Rules) during the
year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December
2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

PROCEEDS OF THE LISTING

The shares of the Company were successfully
listed on the Stock Exchange on 9 December 2020,
with total net proceeds of the Listing amounted to
approximately RMB11,600.4 million after deducting
the underwriting fees and relevant expenses.

As at 31 December 2024, RMB5,784.4 million of the
proceeds of the Listing had been utilised and used
in accordance with the use of proceeds set out in
the prospectus of the Company dated 25 November
2020 and the announcement of the Company dated
25 March 2024 in relation to the change in use of net
proceeds from the global offering and the exercise of
the over-allotment option (the “Announcement”). The
unutilised net proceeds of approximately RMB5,816.0
million will be allocated and used in accordance
with the purposes and proportions set out in the
Announcement. As of 31 December 2024, the revised
proposed use of the net proceeds pursuant to the
Announcement is as follows:
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(continued)
Bz EZ Bz
“ECCF CEC@E CECO@EE BBEA
EEHE fBT% t=B=+-B t=B=t+-B tZA=t+-B WBLTHE
FieRE BERE SBITEABA LEECHA ABA  REREN
BEITEAEHEFENRERLE BENBAL ASHERE MENEFEC FMERERE MENEFE EHRER
Revised Utilised Expected
unutilised  net proceeds Unutilised  timeline for
Revised Revised  net proceeds forthe  netproceeds fully utilising
percentage  net proceeds as of year ended asof the remaining
of the net forthe 31 December 31 December 31 December  net proceeds
Revised proposed use of the net proceeds proceeds  proposed use 2023@ 2024 2024  from the Listing
ARBEER
RMB million
() BAYMFERNBHREERBNBRILR 45% 52203 28915 811.4 20801 RIZ-tE
ERKE TZRH
Making strategic investments and By December
acquisitions to expand property 2027
management and commercial operational
businesses
(i) REEERBNARDTE L THER 30% 3,4800 3,057.6 1575 29001 WZTZtF
MERERE TR
Pursuing strategic investment in providers By December
of value-added services and across the 2027
upstream and downstream supply chain
of the Company's industry
(i) REEERWARANER{LILE 15% 1,740.1 12424 406.6 838 HIZ_tE
TZRA
Investing in information technology By December
systems and smart communities 2027
(v EEEER-RAFME 10% 1,160.0 - - - RIZZ4E
TZRA
Working capital and general corporate By December
uses 2027
100% 11,600.4 71915 1,375.5 5,816.0
Bt 5 Notes:

1. MRPERA - EURATIRBER @ o

2. FRERTAENBE-_Z-_=F+t-_A=1t—"REEIER
REAMAGHRAFEEE BRSNS IRFEME

BB E R BN -

2.

The sum of the data may not add up to the total due to

rounding.

The revised unutilised net proceeds as of 31 December 2023
in respect of each proposed use are restated after taking into
account of the change in use of net proceeds set out in the

Announcement.

155



156

TR PUEEHY  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(il

HE S

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EREEERUUBBRRZ2ER

AAREERETHRAEI2EREEERTRIK
VEZERBEE BRZEBEEENAGKETHRE
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EEREXRAHENERSER
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MEELEFEAEENEATHE-

RREFE

EJN

FE

BE —E-_RF=A=+HA

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company has established the Audit Committee
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. Details of the role and work performed
by the Audit Committee are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report contained in this annual report.
The Audit Committee, which comprises three
independent non-executive Directors and one non-
executive Director (namely Mr. CHAN Chung Yee
Alan (Chairman), Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching, Ms.
LO Wing Sze and Mr. GUO Shiging), have reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 with the
Company’s management and considered that such
statements have been prepared in accordance with
applicable accounting standards and requirements
with sufficient disclosure. There had not been any
significant changes in accounting policies during
the reporting period and there are no prior period
adjustments due to correction of material errors
during the Reporting Period.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE
BALANCE SHEET DATE

There were no significant events affecting the Group
which have occurred after 31 December 2024 and up
to date of this report.

On behalf of the Board
LI Xin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KPMG

BERERLEEFARLOIRRNBILBAREE

(RASHETMH A ERAA)

=z
=

AZEED A TR EFRINERFI72EE
FIBOEEHFERLEERAA ([ERR]) REHEB
REI(ATHEIEEE]) WEAMIBEERE - IRl
BHRRBER_Z_MFE+-_A=+—BN&KEH%
MREK  UNBEZBEFENGARBESEREMEER
W@k  HERGEIRNGARERERNANES
MBHRME BREASHBEREE -

BMRR  ZEHEEVBHRRERBETESHMAE
([BREEFMAE) BHRNEBMBREEN(E
AYBHREENDEEMT SRR SKRER_-F
“MFE+Z A=+ BNEEFBIRAAREEZA
LFENGEMBRAMGARERE Y ERE
BRBGIINBEEREZBRE

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of China Resources Mixc Lifestyle
Services Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 172 to 330, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement cash flows for
the year then ended and notes, to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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BEBARBISOERT & REHSABAED
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded goodwill
of RMB1,810 million in relation to business acquisitions,
which represented 6.3% of the Group’s consolidated
total assets.

B SN DR E BN 10 BY T 1T BV B RUE RS
TEEREEEHE LG ERARABAIREELE
B ((ReEEEM])  MEXREL BHRAEER
REBEREARFEE -

The goodwill impairment assessment, carried out by
management with the assistance of external valuer,
involves the exercise of significant management
judgements and estimations including those regarding
identification of cash-generating units (“CGUs”),
forecasted profit margin, short-term revenue growth
and long-term growth rates and discount rates.

B REEEREN GEAREREZER  JIH
RFBRECELEMANESBEARNEZRNE X
FETEEREEEBHE LG K< HRBRK
B E R R A E BRI -

We identified the assessment of impairment of goodwill
as a key audit matter because the assessment of
the recoverable amount of CGUs can be inherently
subjective and requires the exercise of significant
management judgement and estimation which
increases the risk of error or management bias.

MBS /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B EEERENEZEFBEEA TSI

Our audit procedures to assess impairment of
goodwill included the following:

o  WRERTEAERNMRTE  FHEBRIRESESE
BUMKEESRESRSELSMNEEE:

° evaluating the appropriateness of the
identification of CGUs and the allocation of
assets to each CGU with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

s WMEETEPED BESL-—FEHRR
TREBATEENEARBRRERNFEENE
BETLE U LE-—FENHRRER
EFRANSEY YREEEERHMERN
ETAHEAZHFNRE RESHFEEAEERRE
R APR :

° performing a retrospective review, on
a sample basis, by comparing the key
assumptions included in the prior year’s
discounted cash flow forecasts with the
current year’s performance to assess the
reasonableness of the prior year’s discounted
cash flow forecasts and making enquiries
of management as to the reasons for any
significant variations identified and whether
there were any indications of management
bias;
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BAREXSEIE(H) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

o HHEBEEEBZAENINNMEEMNERE &
MBI

° assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuer appointed by
management;

e BBRFLEREETHE  FAEEHRAL
RERRBAFNBERNEIEME

° evaluating the reasonableness of short-term
revenue growth rates and forecasted profit
margin by comparing these with historical
results;

s THTAMBEZIRHNHY T 2ERTEE
AR EFEMERATEZNEE L LEB
HETREMAELRQBNEELBFFA
PTHRENGEN  UREBEEERES
MEBHRMERXNABEREER

° with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialist, evaluating the appropriateness of
methodology adopted with the reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards and reasonableness of the
discount rates by benchmarking against other
comparable companies in the same industry;
and challenging the reasonableness of long-
term growth rates by comparing with historical
economic results;
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AREXSIE(HE) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

e HAEEEHNRRSAERATRANE
R R RRARmAENBEREDN - AEEBZ

ERENAEEH T GH S B NE
ELEBRTE:

° evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management for each of the key assumptions
adopted in the discounted cash flow forecasts
to consider whether a reasonable variation
in the assumption would materially affect the
measurement of accounting estimate;

o BIFFERERENGENEEERNE Rk

° testing the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of the goodwill impairment
assessments; and

o RERTEFERNRE - SHERENGIEN -
° assessing the reasonableness of the

disclosures with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

R-Z-_WE+-—A=1+—H0 BEEZEREWENL
RAPBERH AREBEEAARKELII60BEETL H B
EEGABREEN14.4% °

As at 31 December 2024, the investment properties
of the Group were located in Chinese Mainland with
a fair value of RMB4,160 million, which represented
approximately 14.4% of the Group’s consolidated totall
assets.

EEEREMENLAABEDNHEEBREIBLESE
Y EGEMRENGEETHE TEEFHRE
MENRIABERIEHERHE RMES  LERAH
BEBERMEDE  EMEMERRITHSHESL -

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties
was assessed by management based on valuations
prepared by external qualified property valuer.
Management's assessment of the fair values of
investment properties requires significant judgements
and estimates, particularly in relation to selecting the
appropriate valuation methodology, capitalisation rates
and prevailing market rents.

BB RENEEEIR SEREZSFE  JTARZK
REHEBERGAMBREAMEBEXR  UARAEFYE
MR EBESREAHE - CERERERMEERE -

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter because of the significance of
the balance to the consolidated financial statements
as a whole and the significant judgements involved in
estimating the fair values of the properties, particularly
in light of the current economic circumstances.

BAEBERENERENEZREFEREATEE

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
investment properties included the following:

s HRYREHEEEZEMINEMEMGEER
R AEFRERBHREMEAAEEE
AR EEN G ERS

o obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports
prepared by the external property valuers
engaged by management and on which the
management’ assessment of the fair values of
investment properties was based on;

o HIHEINBEAERMEMREMNERE £H K
HEE

° assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external qualified property
valuer;

s HERHMEGEEZERMHE T - HEINEHE
HEME®GETE  2FBRITEFELN
MERHEZ R EE S - WAEP A &
AEMSEBBELER  HEETFRANER
EMERBTHSESHSEMRDE R

° with the assistance of our internal property
valuation specialists, discussing with the
external property valuer the valuation
methodology, evaluating the appropriateness
of the methodology with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards and challenging the reasonableness
of capitalisation rates and prevailing market
rents adopted in the valuations, on a sample
basis, by comparison with available market
data;
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AREXSIE(HE) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

o HMEL® BEfERINEYE[EMREED
HEEH (BREAGFHEE MAEKRKLEER
BIRREHEEEH &

° comparing tenancy information, including
committed rents, tenancy terms and rental
areas, provided by the Group to the external
property valuer with existing tenancy
information, on a sample basis; and

o RBRITEFERNMRE  SHEWENSIEN -

° assessing the reasonableness of the
disclosures with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

R-Z-_WE+-_A=+—H  EXEEZEWAE
ZREEREASARE 2366 B&T  MGAMEEEE
(TEHEEERE) cBERBBARBII7TEETL - BS
IR FREFENE BESEEGEREE282% -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had trade
receivables with a total gross carrying amount of
RMB2,366 million, net of loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) of RMB137 million. The net
carrying amount of trade receivables represented 8.2%
of the Group’s consolidated total assets.

EXERE EREBEBELR BUWFIRZERER
BARREBREHARZIRITHR  MIEERFRER
BRERBEERRREER ABRREL A -

The Group used judgement in making the assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the ECL allowance
calculation, based on the Group’s historical loss
experience, ageing profile of the receivables, existing
market conditions at the end of each reporting period.

HRZHEHERGEAYBREAMEBEA - AFAY
EEREBAENTHAE LBETHYAFLERERE
BH - HEMEEZRESREREEEERER
P REEREZEEA -

We identified ECL allowances of trade receivables
as a key audit matter because of the significance of
the balance to the consolidated financial statements
as a whole and the assessment of the ECL allowance
is inherently subjective and requires the exercise of
significant management judgement.

BMEBEZREFTERBEEBRRENERZE
FEIEATRIA:

Our audit procedures in relation to the ECL
allowances for trade receivables included the
following:

s RBEFBUBHREEAFIRNME BEEE
A RREEBRREZBRRRITA

o evaluating the Group’s policy and method for
estimating the ECL allowance with reference
to HKFRS 9;

s CRBERERSEWFIRABEYNKBIRT GG
AREHEEEREMA2REERE A E
t ARBBKEREE RHEERRREAM
MR TS - M EE 5 ERA

ERREENREERSE

° assessing the accuracy and reliability of the
parameters used for the estimated ECL rates
by examining historical collection data of trade
receivables, and assessing, on a sample
basis, whether the trade receivables were
categorised in the appropriate time bands by
comparing individual items with sales invoices
and other underlying documentation;

o ERN BEREZEHBERRNABHAERZ
E_MFE+-_A=t—HNEHMEEEERE:
54

° re-performing the calculation of the ECL
allowances as at 31 December 2024 based
on the Group’s accounting policy and method;
and
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AREXSIE(HE) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

s REFEVBHEENE7TRHOBRE  FHEE
HEZRESFRBRCEEERRBREAH
R AR BEE -

° assessing the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of ECL
allowances for trade receivables with the
reference to the requirements of HKFRS 7.
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RRABREAMBHRRME - RANETAHER
fE8  NILBRET  EEEMEERT RERAUH
WRAURMEFZBETATHNBRAEE - il
FHEEEAHERRL -

HEERRMEETHIE  RARBRUEMEEL
RERERRL - ZPBARSEFEEE - Tz
EEMNFEHETERS

INFORMATION OTHER THAN
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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MR TE - R B RERSE SR AT AR IEE K -

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the
directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur
conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a
statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence and, where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Chun Pong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2025
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)

Bt 5E AREET T ARET T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

g Revenue 4 17,042,658 14,766,952
$H & AR Cost of sales (11,433,190) (10,072,674)
ER Gross profit 5,609,468 4,694,278
KEMEZ AREE Gain on changes in fair value of

FE)zs investment properties 12 40,702 39,353
H A WA K ez Other income and gains 5 704,663 576,502
misHEES M Marketing expenses (290,673) (284,707)
TE X Administrative expenses (975,174) (949,805)
HM Other expenses (81,120) (48,944)
e Finance costs 6(a) (115,768) (117,202)
FE (5 — B & 2 B 2 % Share of profit of an associate 57 4
FElE—EEaEhE & Share of profit of a joint venture 3,066 2,645
BR B A0 2 A Profit before tax 6 4,895,221 3,912,124
PGB X Income tax expenses 7 (1,165,114) (969,484)
FREFR Profit and total comprehensive

E2HWRHATE income for the year 3,730,107 2,942,640
BUR AL B : Attributable to:
NN 2 ) Equity shareholders of the

Company 3,629,375 2,928,749

JEVE AR M o Non-controlling interests 100,732 13,891
FRaEAR Profit and total comprehensive

2HKBEAEE income for the year 3,730,107 2,942,640
BREF Earnings per share 10
FRNERREE Basic and diluted for the year RMB159.0 cents  RMB128.3 cents

AR#159.0% AR 128.3%

F177T 230 BN FEKZEM B RERN—3 D

The notes on pages 177 to 330 form part of these
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(KAREZT)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

B 5 ARBTFT ARBTT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
RBEE Non-current assets
Wz - BERZRE Property, plant and equipment 11 614,194 551,857
LEYE Investment properties 12 4,160,000 3,788,000
EREE Intangible assets 13 1,358,855 1,573,593
ERAEEE Right-of-use assets 25(a) 85,471 112,161
EES Goodwill 14 1,809,503 1,900,340
) AN ol ey Interest in an associate 656 599
R—HEEELE RS Interest in a joint venture 6,630 3,703
RAENIE & B Deferred tax assets 26 142,552 117,122
TERTFRIE ~ HAth FEUGRIR Prepayments, other receivables
LEHMEE and other assets 18 1,231 15,595
TE HA 17 3K Time deposits 21 4,472,706 202,097
EmBEERE Total non-current assets 12,651,798 8,265,067
REEE Current assets
FE Inventories 16 239,771 202,745
B 5 e W IE K W 8 Trade and bill receivables 17 2,365,884 1,995,595
TERTFRIE ~ HAbFEWGRIR Prepayments, other receivables
ME ﬁi? BE and other assets 18 1,272,280 1,620,537
HEBEFR Structured deposits 20 2,607,951 =
T HATF 3K Time deposits 21 101,017 4,052,766
SRFIRITER Restricted bank deposits 19 98,618 66,613
RekReEED Cash and cash equivalents 19 9,570,816 11,580,159
mENEEMEE Total current assets 16,256,337 19,518,415
REBAE Current liabilities
2 5 e RIE Trade payables 22 1,655,727 1,546,118
Hip TR IEREFTE A Other payables and accruals 23 4,394,750 4,121,078
aRAaE Contract liabilities 24 2,279,382 2,171,612
HEBE Lease liabilities 25(b) 132,731 151,786
FERT S ARE Contingent consideration payables 28 34,793 114,025
BN ER75 18 Current taxation 330,556 235,088
MEVBEAE Total current liabilities 8,827,939 8,339,707
REBEEFE Net current assets 7,428,398 11,178,708
EEHABERABAE Total assets less current
liabilities 20,080,196 19,443,775
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(AAEREZT)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

B 5 ARBTT ARBTT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FkRBEE Non-current liabilities
HEAR Lease liabilities 25(b) 2,174,182 2,267,323
FERTSHARE Contingent consideration payables 28 151,209 221,131
BEmBaE Other liabilities 9,926 13,238
EEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 26 1,023,723 906,033
EREBEBRE Total non-current liabilities 3,359,040 3,407,725
EEFE NET ASSETS 16,721,156 16,036,050
E= EQUITY
fi& 7 Share capital 27(a) 152 152
i Reserves 27 16,525,220 15,948,084
EATRERBRR Equity attributable to equity
FEfhRE RS shareholders of the Company 16,525,372 15,948,236
FERER Non-controlling interests 195,784 87,814
ERAE TOTAL EQUITY 16,721,156 16,036,050

R-E_RAF=-A-_+tRHAEES=eHERR

BT -

EJN

Li Xin

EF

Director

F177T 230 BN FEKZEM B RERN—3 D

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 25 March 2025.

Ty 7% R
Yu Linkang
EF

Director

The notes on pages 177 to 330 form part of these
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
“ECMFE+ A=+ —HIEFE(UARKIIT)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)

MBS /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
RVB000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMBO0O0O  RMBO000  RMBO000  RMB000  RMB'000
(BizEor) (Wkor)  (Wisk2n)
(note 27) (note 27)  (note 27)
RZZ-=F-F-Az&H  Balanceat1 January 2023 152 11640394  (638,191) 378266 2899108 14,279,729 46,003 14,325,732
“ECCEERRE: Changes in equity for 2023:
En2ENELE Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - 298749 2928749 13891 2,942,640
FERERTE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - 34938 34938
WERBAF Acquisition of subsidiaries = - - = - = (3789)  (3789)
“RCCERERE Final dividend for 2022
(MTEz?( )(ii) (note 27 (o)) - - - - (151279)  (751,279) - (151219)
ZECCEdERE The interim dividend for 2023
(HzE2r(o)) (note 27(b)(i)) - - - - (508963  (508963) - (508,963)
RFEERERERRE Dividend declared to
non-controlling interests - - - - - - (3,229) (3,229)
ROERNE Appropriation of retained profts = o - AT (247020) - - -
RZB==F+-A=1-ARK Balance at 31 December 2023
ZE-ME-A-A248  and1January 2024 152 11,640,394  (638,191) 625286 4,320,595 15,948,236 87,814 16,036,050
“ECMEEREE: Changes in equity for 2024:
EnrENELT Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - 3629375 3,629,375 100,732 3,730,107
FERERLE Capital contribution from non-
controlling interests - - - - - - 17,215 17,215
“ECCERERE Final dividend for 2023
(B 27(0)i) (note 27(o)i) - - - - (1,097,883) (1,097,889) - (1,097,883)
ZECMERERE The interim dividend for 2024
(HzE27(0)) (note 27(b)(i)) - - - - (627823)  (627,8%3) - (627829)
E3IR 8 (3 27(b)i) Specil dividend (note 27(0)i) - - - - (132653) (1,3265%) - (132653)
RERRERERRS Dividend declared to
non-controlling interests - - - - - - (9,977) (9,977)
ROARNE Appropriation of retained profits - - - 349784 (349,784 - - -
R=B-ME+=A=1+-A  Balance at 31 December 2024
A 152 11640304  (638,191) 975070 4547947 16525372 195784 16,721,156

F£A77E B0 AWM B AT BT e — D -

The notes on pages 177 to 330 form part of these
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)

Bt 5 ARET T ARET T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
REEH Operating activities
KEFBIRE Cash generated from operations 19 5,232,950 3,776,580
BRI Tax paid (974,148) (735,075)
REFEMBEESTE Net cash generated from
operating activities 4,258,802 3,041,505
RETH Investing activities
S &S] Interest received 603,451 342,316
Blil— F’ﬁ/\ EhERE Dividend received from a joint
venture 1,139 -
BRER—REERE Investment to a joint venture (1,000) =
WEYERYE - BB Payments of items of investment
JBIEE MK property and property, plant and
equipment (355,661) (431,848)
EEERB MK Payments for items of
intangible assets (36,410) (149,826)
BEFERERB AR Payments for acquisition of
HRGBREKRERS) subsidiaries, in prior years
net of cash acquired (141,377) 2,196
FRERITER Placement of bank deposits (8,970,670) (1,600,000)
REVERITIF X Withdrawal of bank deposits 8,470,670 =
EEAEN Net cash outflow for purchase of
GFRORE R FEE structured deposits (2,541,031) =
HEYE - KE Proceeds from disposal of items of
REEARELEE property, plant and equipment
IE B iS58 and intangible assets 7,365 10,379
RETHFARESFEHE Net cash used in investing
activities (2,963,524) (1,826,783)
Rl & SE B Financing activities
RS B Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests 17,215 34,938
BERARR R SRS Dividends paid to equity
shareholders of the Company (3,052,239) (2,089,868)
BT IR AR AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests (9,977) (3,229)
HERK Payment for leases 19(c) (260,875) (169,801)
REEBFMARSEE Net cash used in financing
activities (3,305,876) (2,227,960)
ReERBESEEY Net decrease in cash and
WL EEE cash equivalents (2,010,598) (1,013,238)
R—B—HHNERER Cash and cash equivalents at
REEEY 1 January 19 11,580,159 12,592,832
SEERBE S Effect of foreign exchanges
rates changes 1,255 565
R+=—HA=+—H® Cash and cash equivalents at
RERREEEY 31 December 19 9,570,816 11,580,159

FA77EIB0 AWM B A TR BT — 2D ©

The notes on pages 177 to 330 form part of these
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ZTTHERE SN UAREST)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 —REH
ERBREFARDA(ARA) BR=

—t&FRA+tNBERE ﬁ%&ﬂﬁbﬁiiﬁ’]ﬁ
R A A o AN A A A 5E 9% = B2 3 & PO Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands °

FRARAREMBEAR((AKE]) TR
FEANBREIEMEET DEMBEL R

HEREEIERT

ARBBNR_Z_FTF+_ANBRELH
ERZAERAR ([BRM]) ERLED (TE

ml) e

ARAEERD  AABNEERERARRE
HEMERAR ((EHEH])  ZARA/RE
SHEEMKINRIRERAR - HAR )R
R EM - ARARMERER AR AT EER
BRAR([FEER] ZKRARASRTEAR

HME (TR ) FEMARZE A R

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited
(the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 May
2017. The registered office address of the
Company is PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) was mainly engaged
in commercial management business, property
management business and ecosystem business
in Chinese Mainland.

The Company’s shares became listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 9
December 2020 (the “Listing”).

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the
immediate holding company of the Company
is China Resources Land Limited (“CR Land”),
a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange. The ultimate holding company
of the Company is China Resources Company
Limited (“CRCL"), a company incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China (“The PRC”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
((giefsisff(ff ;e/\nm%t/)t ifijizerwise indicated)

2 BAREFBEER

(a)

EREH

ZEVBHRRCREBEAABERNTENE
BELE(FEHHHREER]) ETR
B BEVBHRELENCEATESFAED
RE([BEESMAR]) RiheAEE
RERIEEHBRELER  BEGHER
([ERGFHER ] k2B REE QG
MRTE > ZFMBEBENTTAEBHER
%FﬁﬁﬁE’AT g7 LR R AV E AR RS

c AEBRMHERGFBER T X

Ego

BERSHAMASERGE TR AEEEA
AR ERERK T HRESEMANES
B REERAEE] - BXERZEER
EEBEBAMERIMSIBEM S BMNE
ATBOREE ERBRZEMEREA
BEERFERME2(C)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain
amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.



2 EXREEEEE

(b)

MBRREREE

HE-_Z-_WF+-_A=1+—HBHLFEN
HEVMBHRREEAKEARNEER —
FHERAAR—HAEEEMNER -

MBBRRAARBZY  SREEEREK
MET T - MEM B RERAANGTEEE
RELRAL B BRMENRED
X (RKfEE2(h) ZHARNBEFELESR
B AEHBRENEREEREAR(ER
AERHEHFAEHRENERAE (R
BfsE2(p)) R AR BEIIRERIN -

RETEBEMBRERANNMBRERST
ZEEBFELAE - A RERR I&RF
HIE - A REREFEBRRAER KA
EHRNEE - BFE  WARRXEE %
SR REERRDBRERBELRERR
RZEBRTIEBSEMNTREMREAEM
fEH - PS4 RIE AR AR BE L L At SRR E
SFREHNEER B BREEFLD A HE
% BRERXSBHINZFMET -

MBS/ BTG APRAY]  China Resources Mixce Lifestyle Services Limited

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
comprise the Group and the Group’s
interests in an associate and a joint
venture.

The financial statements are presented in
RMB rounded to the nearest thousand. The
measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that investment property
(see note 2(h)), financial assets measured
at fair value through profit or loss and
financial liabilities measured at fair value
through profit or loss (see note 2(p)) are
stated at fair value as explained in the
accounting policies.

The preparation of financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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(B = 1T1EHE S

 UAREST)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 EXREEEEE

(b)

(c)

MBHRREREE ()

AEEF AR FTEMGET RERRR - W
SR A ERTERFEERT AT HMAE -

AIERMAFHERT R NE R IERT ey AR R 3R
AR ERT S AN HE R AR PRI SEK
E - g RIELEET A B R AR 2R HA e e

7
o

BEHEEEERABEMBRE EARA
ERHMBRRBEARZE N H B ARG
FHIHEE A=A = 2 HRRA I i B M RES o

BBEREE

BEGMAGERMG FTIRARELS
AAHEERERNEETEEMBEHREE
Al - Eep o DA RS0 SR 5 [ B 75
KB

o FHEGERFE 15 (BR]) MBREK
M2 — BREIER/RBHIER
B(—F=_FFET) kFES
HERFE R (BET) ﬁﬂ‘k#&%mi
5 — SRR FERBRE (=
— &1

e FAMBHSEAF165 (BF])HE
— ERMARNBEERRE

. ﬁiﬁéﬁJrEEE‘J%?%ﬁ(fl%ET)IE/i\/ﬁE
REEBEEVHEREEANFE7HRSE
B WE - HERRERH

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the

(c)

financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant
effect on the financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty
are set out in note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following
amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective for the current accounting period
of the Group. Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the Group’s
financial statements:

° Amendments to HKAS 1,
Presentation of financial statements
— Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current (“2020
amendments”) and amendments
to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Non-current
liabilities with covenants (“2022
amendments”)

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases
— Lease liability in a sale and
leaseback

o Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement
of cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures — Supplier
finance arrangements



2 EXREEEEE

(c)

(d)

SRS E (8)

ZEEAZHRBHAEEEE AT A
EHE ZZDH%%‘E%?'J%ZE&EM%H%)M%
REAZE - AEBEYERBEIMEER
SR M R R AR EA LR -

B B8 2 B e SR R AE 5

MEARIDNAEEZEGNERE EXEE
ARG ZELHEBEEMGE 2AEBR - A
BB RBEHERCBNIZEZEE®H
B IR EESZER - MWEARKE
xBTS E B R AGRE VB
W&k EEBEEHIEKEER AL -

SEARBRNGEHRER S  UREBR
NEIRNR ZAELNERREREAR
R (SMNER 5 U RERER SN 5T K
He KREARRHENRZMELNARER
BRI EARER W AR T N EE -
RERERY AEFERETROER -

MBS AMAYN]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies
(continued)

None of these developments have had a
material effect on how the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or
prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any
new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting
period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling
interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity.
The financial statements of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control
commences until the date on which control
ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions,
and any unrealised income and expenses
(except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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2 EBEAEFBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

(d) FHE2ARFZRES (&)

IEBEXBAMH  AKEAEERENARLE
Bk FF R s ([ SRR 2 ) 1R L ) P&
BB AR THANEEFENNDRAE
TR e - SRR TIAGE Y
BARRKROERRA  BARBERRIR
%E%E”ﬁﬂ% REEXBE R IEE
harFaBaRrkGaBEa kA AME
[ER € %Wﬂﬁ%#%k%ﬁﬁ$“ﬂ%
BRREGEFANRESE RS ERSELED
—ENEIRE - FEREETAEAZER
EEZERBAAEZEMAREEER
FREEERENE20)RERE B EIRR
xEIRERAE -

AEERMEBARMEREE N TERK
EEGIE - I ARSERRS

interests (continued)

For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests (“NCI”) either at fair value or
at the NCI's proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCl are
presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the
results of the Group are presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between NCI and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of NCI and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial
position in accordance with note 2(p),
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.
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ERMBEARIMNEERAR  ARIMAE
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BERBRANEESARBHEM RE
ERRBEBEATES  BXFTHIEL
HKAZEHE2ER - SECERAKEY
$ AEEARENENLHE EPAE
B ARBRAEZ L EEFENER -
MIFHEEENENRBBENRT
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R—EBERRE—BaEhE 2K
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TENIHAREFRELERSL -

YRS EIRAMAR]  China Resources Mixce Lifestyle Services Limited

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

(e)

interests (continued)

When the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related
NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former subsidiary is measured at fair value
when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses (see
note 2(1)).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the
Group or the Company has significant
influence, but not control or joint control,
over the financial and operating policies.
A joint venture is an arrangement in
which the Group or the Company has
joint control, whereby the Group or the
Company has the rights to the net assets
of the arrangement, rather than rights to its
assets and obligations for its liabilities.

An interest in an associate or a joint
venture is accounted for using the equity
method. They are initially recognised at
cost, which includes transaction costs.
Subsequently, the consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) of those investees, until
the date on which significant influence or
joint control ceases.
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2 EBEAEFBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

() BELARAREE X (H)

EAKERBERRASELENRIAEERRE
BEENATOERE  ARENEDRE SR
LET WA TBHEARINEGE  BMAEHE
BBITAEREERD  IRNKREHRELM
HANERIN - UL B M E - AEREFHE O E S
REEDEATENREREE  ERGEHRE
EEEELERAEREMRYES QER) RS
EELBRASERBEARHALLENR
BFENEAEMREES -

Eﬁi%ﬁn)\ﬁﬁx:ﬁﬁ%ZX%ﬁﬁFiZEE“fEH&
SRAEERZREHR 2 R BHIRE -
FEYEBBPRETFRZEBERT ﬁiﬁiﬁﬁiﬂﬁ

TR ER W R 2 5 3 T AR -

RARBRHBERRRANR — ML QA —
A &2 2 S T IRA AR 2= R E B 1R 51 BR
(B HzE2(1)) °

POLICIES (continued)

(e) Associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds
its interest in the associate or the joint
venture, the Group’s interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method,
together with any other long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the joint
venture, after applying the ECL model
to such other long-term interests where
applicable.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions
with equity-accounted investees are
eliminated against the investment to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains, but
only to the extent there is no evidence of
impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an interest in an associate
or a joint venture is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(1)).
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MBS/ BTG APRAY]  China Resources Mixce Lifestyle Services Limited

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Business combinations and
goodwill

Business combinations are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred is measured at
the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.
The Group determines that it has acquired
a business when the acquired set of
activities and assets includes an input
and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the previously held equity interest
is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the acquirer is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an
asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured
and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.
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2 EXREEEEE
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Business combinations and
goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost,
being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is
measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may
be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 December. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Business combinations and
goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing
the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwiill
associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of
the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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The group’s policies for investments
in securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
are set out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the group
commits to purchase/sell the investment.
The investments are initially stated
at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of
how the group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see note 29 These
investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their
classification.

Non-equity investments are classified
into one of the following measurement
categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective
interest method (see note 2(v)(ii)),
foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other investments in securities
(continued)

FVOCI — recycling, if the contractual
cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit
losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or
loss and computed in the same
manner as if the financial asset was
measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the fair value
and the amortised cost is recognised
in OCI. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OCI is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Investment property

Investment properties are interests
in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use
asset which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held
to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in
the fair values of investment properties are
included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or
disposal of an investment property are
recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the year of the retirement or
disposal.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other
than construction in progress, are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of
property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the
cost or valuation of items of property,
plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values, if any, using the straight
line method over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Building 30-40 years
Machinery equipment 3-10 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
Other equipment 3-10 years
Leasehold improvements Over the

respective

lease term

Where parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful
lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially
recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment
(continued)

Construction in progress represents
plant and machinery under construction
or installation, which are stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than
goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are
measured on initial recognition at cost.
The cost of intangible assets acquired in
a business combination is the fair value
at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year
end.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Intangible assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)

Expenditure incurred on projects to
develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to
use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated
at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products not exceeding three
years, commencing from the date when
the products are put into commercial
production.

—  Software

Software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses (see note 2(l))
and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of
2to 10 years.
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2 EAEFBUER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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() BREE(BEBRMH (B (j) Intangible assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)
ff 2% —  Research and development

Costs associated with research and
development software programmes
are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs that
are directly attributable to the design
and testing of identifiable and unique
software products controlled by the
Group are recognised as intangible
assets where the following criteria
are met:

o it is technically feasible to
complete the software so that it
will be available for use

° management intends to
complete the software and use
or sell it

° there is an ability to use or sell
the software

° it can be demonstrated how the
software will generate probable
future economic benefits

° adequate technical, financial
and other resources to
complete the development and
to use or sell the software are
available, and

o the expenditure attributable
to the software during its
development can be reliably
measured.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(j) Intangible assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)

Research and development
(continued)

Directly attributable costs that are
capitalised as part of the software
include employee costs and an
appropriate portion of relevant
overheads.

Capitalised development costs are
recorded as intangible assets and
amortised from the point at which the
asset is ready for use.

Research expenditure and
development expenditure that
do not meet the criteria in above
are recognised as an expense
as incurred. Development costs
previously recognised as an expense
are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.
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2 EAEFBUER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
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goodwill) (continued)

—  Customer relationships acquired in
business combinations

Customer relationships acquired
in business combinations are
recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date and are amortised
on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 15 years.
The Group estimates the useful
life of the customer relationships
and determines the amortisation
periods with reference to its industry
experience and taking into account
the customer turnover history and
expectation of the renewal pattern of
property management contracts.

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Other intangible assets, including patents
and trademarks, that are acquired by
the Group and have finite useful lives
are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(1)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(k)

Intangible assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)

Amortisation is calculated to write off
the cost of intangible assets less their
estimated residual values using the
straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, if any, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and
residual values are reviewed at each
reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the
use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

(i) As alessee

The Group applies a single
recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises
lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leases (continued)

(i) As alessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets
are recognised at the
commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-
use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at
or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of
the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased
asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation
is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the
asset.
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2 EBEAEFBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leases (continued)
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(i) As alessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised
at the commencement date
of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term.
The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also
include the exercise price of
a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which
the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.
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2 EAEFBUER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(k) HE (&) (k) Leases (continued)
(iy tEREFMEAE) (i) As a lessee (continued)
— MHEeEaEE@E) —  Lease liabilities (continued)
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In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date
because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable. After
the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there
is a modification, a change in
the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change
to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2 EBEAEFBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leases (continued)
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(i) As alessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-
term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term
leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the
commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-
value assets to leases of
office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered
to be of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leases (continued)

(ii)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not
transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership
of an asset are classified as
operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they
are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leases (continued)

(ii)

(

As a lessor (continued)

When the Group is an intermediate
lessor, a sublease is classified as
a finance lease or operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term
lease to which the Group applies
the recognition exemption in the
statement of financial position, the
Group classifies the sublease as an
operating lease.

) Credit losses and impairment of

assets

(i)

The Group recognises a loss
allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECL”s) on: financial
assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash
equivalents, time deposits,
trade receivables and other
receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses. Generally,
credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash
shortfalls between the contractual
and expected amounts.
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2 EAEFBUER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of

() FEEEREERE(H)

assets (continued)

iy (&) (i) (continued)
BRI BEEm AT E (&) Measurement of ECLs (continued)
WAL IR B E XN AITERRESE8E The expected cash shortfalls are
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discounted using the following rates
if the effect is material:

— BEAMEemEE -ZBEHRE — fixed-rate financial assets,
HEWRIBEREREE R trade and other receivables

and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof; and

— variable-rate financial assets:
current effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the
portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the
reporting date (or a shorter
period if the expected life of
the instrument is less than 12
months); and
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2 EBEAEFBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of

() FEEEREERE(H)

(i)
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assets (continued)

(i)

(continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

— lifetime ECLs: these are the
ECLs that result from all
possible default events over
the expected lives of the
items to which the ECL model
applies.

The Group measures loss allowances
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
except for the following, which are
measured at 12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are
determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments
(including loan commitments
issued) for which credit risk (i.e.
the risk of default occurring
over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not
increased significantly since
initial recognition.



2 EXREEEEE

() FEEEREERE(H)

(i)

(%)
A B AR 2
B SRR B RS RIES

ARBEFENEHAEEERENS
B E-REeRMEENBHEER
BERDNDREAEEBECFEERL
@ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ@@ﬁ'ﬂ%ﬁ%A
MEERERBEEHNENER
RN RHAE T DA EE o

R EHEMERTIATME  A5E
ERNEEREHESN12EAEH

EEER BRIFBNHERARE
ﬂIEMEfHFK%ﬁM jiylid
BT BERBEENRASNEME

FERPEHEEEENSHEAE -

(2 185 T o e L T
1= B 7 fg X g L

EET-HRERIANGERARSE
CEBVBRERARKEBIEG N &
EFERHEERRR A&EHS
EEEERNHEZKAREANAT
IR S E A BRI EE K - It
BRBREASEEETER LD ANE
EFXEBHNEEMELEER D
1 BREAEEES -

YRS EIRAMAR]  China Resources Mixce Lifestyle Services Limited 207

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of
assets (continued)

(i)

(continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade
receivables are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of
both the current general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in
the financial instrument’s credit risk
since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit
risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial
recognition and when measuring
ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed
credit assessment, that includes
forward-looking information.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of
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assets (continued)

(i)

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

(continued)

The Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly if it is more
than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial
asset to be in default when:

— the debtor is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is
held); or

— the financial asset is 90 days
past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each
reporting date to reflect changes in
the financial instrument’s credit risk
since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as
an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss.
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2 EAEFBUER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of

() FEEEREERE(H)
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assets (continued)

(i)

(continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset
is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties
of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a
default or being more than 90
days past due;

— the restructuring of a loan or
advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active
market for a security because
of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of
assets (continued)

(i)

(continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, lease receivable
or contract asset is written off to
the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the asset
becomes when the Group otherwise
determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject
to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset
that was previously written off
are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of
assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-
current assets

At each reporting date, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts
of its non-financial assets (other
than property carried at revalued
amounts, investment property,
inventories and other contract costs,
contract assets and deferred tax
assets) to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If
any such indication exists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. Goodwill is tested
annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are
grouped together into the smallest
group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use
that are largely independent of
the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU”s).
Goodwill arising from a business
combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.
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2 EBEAEFBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of

() FEEEREERE(H)
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assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-
current assets (continued)

The recoverable amount of an asset
or CGU is the greater of its value
in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal. Value in use is based
on the estimated future cash flows,
discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised
if the carrying amount of an asset
or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in
profit or loss. They are allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and
then to reduce the carrying amounts
of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect
of goodwill is not reversed. For
other assets, an impairment loss
is reversed only to the extent that
the resulting carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation,
if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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2 EAEFBUER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of
assets (continued)
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impairment

Under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year
(see notes 2(1)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an
interim period in respect of goodwill
are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no
loss, or a smaller loss, would have
been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the
financial year to which the interim
period relates.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value as follows:

Parking spaces

Parking spaces are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Other inventories

Other inventories, comprising
ornamental plants and other
materials, are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n)

(0)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when
the customer pays non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2(v)(i)). A
contract liability is also recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue.
In such latter cases, a corresponding
receivable is also recognised (see note

2(0)).

When the contract includes a significant
financing component, the contract
balance includes interest accrued under
the effective interest method (see note 2(v)

(1))

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the
Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration and only the
passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component are
initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain
a significant financing component and
other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All
receivables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost.
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2 EBEAEFBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial liabilities
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Initial recognition and
measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include
trade payables, other payables and
accruals, financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial
liabilities depends on their classification
as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss include financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss are designated at the initial date
of recognition, and only if the criteria in
HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses
on liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised
in the consolidated income statement,
except for the gains or losses arising from
the Group’s own credit risk which are
presented in other comprehensive income
with no subsequent reclassification to the
consolidated income statement. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in the
consolidated income statement does not
include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised
cost

After initial recognition, trade payables
and other payables and accruals are
subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income
when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2 EBEAEFBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial liabilities (continued)
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised
when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
offset and the net amount is reported in
the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

()

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions
that are held for meeting short-term cash
commitments, and other short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated cash flow statement. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL (note 2(1)(i)).

Trade and other payables (other
than refund liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value. Subsequent
to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated
at invoice amounts.
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2 EBEAEFBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(s) Employee benefits
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(i)

Short term employee benefits
and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are
expensed as the related service is
provided. A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid
if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service
provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
are expensed as the related service
is provided.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed
at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group
recognises costs for a restructuring.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

®)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current
tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income (“OCI").

Current tax comprises the estimated tax
payable or receivable on the taxable
income or loss for the year and any
adjustments to the tax payable or
receivable in respect of previous years.
The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received
that reflects any uncertainty related to
income taxes. It is measured using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset
only if certain criteria are met.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

®)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect
of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

— temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

— temporary differences related
to investment in subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future;

— taxable temporary differences arising
on the initial recognition of goodwill;
and

— those related to the income taxes
arising from tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted to implement
the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

®)

Income tax (continued)

The Group recognised deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities separately in
relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-
use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and
deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits
are determined based on the reversal of
relevant taxable temporary differences.
If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals
of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans
for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realised;
such reductions are reversed when
the probability of future taxable profits
improves.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

®)

(u)

Income tax (continued)

Where investment properties are carried
at their fair value in accordance with note
12, the amount of deferred tax recognised
is measured using the tax rates that
would apply on sale of those assets at
their carrying value at the reporting date,
unless the property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied
in the property over time, rather than
through sale. In all other cases, the
measurement of deferred tax reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects,
at the reporting date, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset only if certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent
liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised
when the underlying products or services
are sold, based on historical warranty data
and a weighting of possible outcomes
against their associated probabilities.
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2 EAEFBUER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(u) Provisions and contingent
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liabilities (continued)

A provision for onerous contracts is
measured at the present value of the
lower of the expected cost of terminating
the contract and the expected net cost
of continuing with the contract, which is
determined based on the incremental
costs of fulfilling the obligation under that
contract and an allocation of other costs
directly related to fulfilling that contract.
Before a provision is established, the
Group recognises any impairment loss on
the assets associated with that contract
(see note 2(I)(ii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure
required to settle a provision is expected
to be reimbursed by another party, a
separate asset is recognised for any
expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised
for the reimbursement is limited to the
carrying amount of the provision.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income
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Income is classified by the Group as
revenue when it arises from the sale of
goods, the provision of services or the
use by others of the Group’s assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the
Group’s business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and
other income recognition policies are as
follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with
customers

The Group provides residential
property management services
and commercial operational and
property management services.
Revenue from contracts with
customers is recognised when
services are rendered to the
customer at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange of
those services.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income
(continued)

(i)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)

When the consideration in a contract
includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
— Residential property
management services

Residential property
management services
comprise: (i) property
management services; (ii)
value-added services to
property developers; and
(iii) community value-added
services.
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2 EESTBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income
(continued)

(v) sk EMEA (&)

() RKEEFERMHBKA E) (i) Revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)
— (EMEEERY(E) — Residential property
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management services
(continued)

Property management services
mainly include security,
cleaning and greening, repair
and maintenance services
and customer services to
residential properties and
other properties. For property
management services, the
Group bills a fixed amount for
services provided on a monthly
basis and recognises it as
revenue in the amount to which
the Group has a right to invoice
and that corresponds directly
with the value of performance
completed. Property
management service income
from residential properties is
managed on lump sum basis,
where the Group acts as a
principal. The Group entitles
to revenue at the value of
property management service
fee received or receivable.
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2 EESBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income
(continued)

(v) WmKkHE MW A (%)

() KEEFERMHKA ) (i) Revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)
— (EVEEERYS (H) — Residential property
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management services
(continued)

Value-added services to
property developers mainly
include pre-delivery marketing
services, preliminary planning
and preparation services,
preliminary consultancy
services and other services
including housing trust and
vacant unit management.
The Group agrees the
price for each service with
the customers upfront and
issues the monthly bill to
the customers which varies
based on the actual level of
service completed in that
month. Revenue from value-
added services is recognised
over time, in the amount to
which the Group has a right to
invoice, because the customer
simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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2 EEGBCE(E) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(v) mRHEMLKA () (v) Revenue and other income
(continued)
(i) RERFERMNKA(E) (i) Revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)
— (EMEEERY(E) — Residential property

management services
(continued)

HHEEBERE (2FELEE For community value-added
ARG AL R EER) M services including community
T WA IR AR B R T R R living services and brokerage
R ME PR =L E R and asset services, revenue
B ARSI HREERIBASL is recognised when the
- EmEEFABEER - related services are rendered.
BEmHEWARE @IES Payment of the transaction
BEEPFP (BEARREFPENE is due immediately when
m) KR - KL RBWAE the community value-added
R B BT PEARER services are rendered to the

customer. Sales of goods are
included in asset services.
Revenue from sales of goods
is recognised at the point in
time when control of the goods
is transferred to the customer,
generally on the acceptance
of the goods by the customer.
Revenue from brokerage
services is recognised at the
point in time when the services
are rendered and accepted by
the customers.
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2 EESBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income
(continued)

(v) WmKkHE MW A (%)

() KEEFERMHKA ) (i) Revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)
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property management services

Commercial operational and
property management services
are provided to property
developers, and owners or
tenants of i) shopping malls
and ii) office buildings.

For shopping malls, the Group
provides:

Property management
and other services, mainly
including security, cleaning
and greening, repair and
maintenance and customer
services for shopping malls.
Property management fees
are charged on a lump sum
basis or commission basis. The
Group bills a fixed amount for
services provided on a monthly
basis and recognises it as
revenue in the amount to which
the Group has a right to invoice
and that corresponds directly
with the value of performance
completed.
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2 EESTBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income
(continued)
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customers (continued)

Commercial operational and
property management services
(continued)

For property management
service income from properties
managed under commission
basis, the Group considers
its obligation is only limited to
arranging and monitoring the
services provided by other
parties to the property owners
as an agent and accordingly
recognises the commission,
which is calculated based
on fixed fee on a per sgq.m.
basis, as its revenue. On a
commission basis, the Group
is not entitled to any excess
of the property management
fees paid by customers (after
deducting the fees receivable
by the Group as the property
manager) over the costs and
expenses associated with the
provision of services to the
shopping malls. Therefore,
the Group does not recognise
any direct cost under property
management service contracts
charged on a commission
basis in general. Such costs
are borne by the property
owners.



HEMBRETGAH AT China Resources Mixe Lifestyle Services Limited 233

2 EESBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income
(continued)

(i) KEEFPE&ENKAGE) (i)

(v) WmKkHE MW A (%)
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customers (continued)

Commercial operational and
property management services
(continued)

Commercial operational
services, including pre-opening
management and post-opening
operation management
services. The Group charges
pre-opening management
service fees at a fixed rate per
square meter or per monthly
rent, or an annual fixed fee
depending on the nature of
services rendered. The Group
collects fees from providing
post-opening operation
management services typically
as a percentage of the rental
income, operating income
and/or operating profit of
the relevant shopping malls.
Revenue from commercial
operational services is
recognised in the amount to
which the Group has a right
to invoice that corresponds
directly with the value of
performance completed.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income
(continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)

Commercial operational and
property management services
(continued)

For office buildings, the
Group provides property
management and other
services, mainly including
security, cleaning and repair
and maintenance services.
Property management fees are
charged on a lump sum basis.
The Group bills a fixed amount
for services provided on a
monthly basis and recognises
it as revenue in the amount to
which the Group has a right
to invoice that corresponds
directly with the value of
performance completed.

Sales of goods and properties

Revenue from the sales of
goods and properties is
recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer.
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2 EESBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income
(continued)

(v) WmKkHE MW A (%)

(i) 2RB EAMRIRAWAREM (i) Revenue from other sources
WA and other income
— KEHEMESWA — Rental income from operating
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leases

Rental income from operating
leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives granted are
recognised as an integral part
of the total rental income, over
the term of the lease. Variable
lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which
they are earned.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised
on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by
applying the rate that discounts
the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument of
the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income
(continued)

Revenue from other sources
and other income (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are
recognised in the statement of
financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and
that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to
them.

Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in
profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are
incurred.

Grants that compensate the
Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over
the useful life of the asset by
way of reduced depreciation
expense.
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(w) Translation of foreign currencies
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Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the respective functional
currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured
based on historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated at the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign
operations, including goodwill and fair
value adjustments arising on acquisition,
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates at the reporting date.
The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions.
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2 EBEAEFBER (&) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

ﬁi\ﬁmﬁﬁ/‘ﬁﬁiﬁ&l\iﬁ%ﬁ%@%ﬁf%ﬁ%&* :
S22k KR HIRE - BIE NS AR
EﬁZERﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ HEHHBEAER
ERHERSHEEZ 35 REER
%iﬁ&l\%i’%ﬂﬁ% Gl Eiiwl\%i%
SRR TS R AE R R AT IE B E 4
Ltﬁﬁam BRESEEEZ - fﬁﬁ%lﬁ
EMBRARMI D ESWIREZEHIE - R
TR ABEIO EEH R BN IEEAE
moBAKBEHER B ERKEE
TETREBEAFZE NS ERZFE - 2
ez EERsEM o EAER -

(continued)

When a foreign operation is disposed of
in its entirety or partially such that control,
significant influence or joint control is lost,
the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation
is reclassified to profit or loss as part of
the gain or loss on disposal. On disposal
of a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation that have been attributed
to the NCI shall be derecognised, but
shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. If
the Group disposes of part of its interest
in a subsidiary but retains control, then
the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reattributed to NCI. When
the Group disposes of only part of an
associate or joint venture while retaining
significant influence or joint control, the
relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x) Related parties

(i)

(i)

A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the
Group if that person:

— has control or joint control over
the Group;

— has significant influence over
the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the
Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group
if any of the following conditions
applies:

— The entity and the Group are
members of the same group
(which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the
others);

— One entity is an associate or
joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a
member);

— Both entities are joint ventures
of the same third party;

— One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity
is an associate of the third
entity;
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2 BEAREFBE(E) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(x) E@EEA (&) (x) Related parties (continued)
(i) FEUTHRGEMNERDEAREES (i) An entity is related to the Group
Bk - (%) if any of the following conditions

applies: (continued)

— ZEEREEREENTASE —  The entity is a post-employment
HEEAREEBBEEBNEREN benefit plan for the benefit of
EEMEERZENEE employees of either the Group

or an entity related to the
Group;

— HEBX@HEFRMAEMAL — The entity is controlled or

PRl g LR I jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

— @OEMEBATHZERRE — A person identified in (a)(i) has
AEEN SR ATEZER significant influence over the
(quAELEME’]t AMEEE entity or is a member of the
BEKE key management personnel of

the entity (or of a parent of the
entity); and

— RERIHMBSE®EMK — The entity, or any member of
BRAMASEN M ASED a group of which it is a part,
BRARREFEEEABRY - provides key management

personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.



BEDBRMBRENLHEHBHEE 0
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts
of each segment item reported in the
financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines
of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments
are not aggregated for financial reporting
purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if
they share a majority of these criteria.

A measure of assets and liabilities for each
reportable segment should be disclosed
if such amounts are provided regularly to
the CODM.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

(a) Critical accounting judgements in

3 ERtHETRME

(a)

ERAEEEBRERNEEZS
Rl

EEAASENSTHRBREY EEE
EEH AT &5 2 -

(i) MEHEDHE — AKBER

HHEA
AEBEREREVMEEAFI LA
EVMEHE -REHBEBELHGER
KAt 2 5¥ 4 BB A
MEZEBESTHNEEA Y ARE
HERBEREITFTREARAYMEZR
ARBAORAEBE AKSEEEEH
REZFHEMEMARMTOE
ARBAERRAREER I K E
BRAEEHEAR-

applying the Group’s accounting
policies

In the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies, management
has made the following accounting
judgements:

(iy Property lease classification
— Group as lessor

The Group has entered into
commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio.
The Group has determined, based
on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such
as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life
of the commercial property and
the present value of the minimum
lease payments not amounting to
substantially all the fair value of the
commercial property, that it retains
substantially all the significant risks
and rewards incidental to ownership
of these properties which are leased
out and accounts for the contracts
as operating leases.



3 ERrHER AR (&)

() ERXAEESTRRRNEERS
=t ()

(ii)

ETAEEREESRMNMA
RS P AR & K B

AEEEZNERTEHRARILEE
ROHEHEAR AKEEFGEEE
TEREEEEEIKUIHAERELY
Hgh - BN EEEAAHEETER
HRIEERESHROBEBREE -
EMAME  MELEEREHHR
SECEAENSEERN YERXE
HITEE A TREBERLLHER
BRENEN (il 2EASTHER
BERHHEEEENERES) - A
SEBEHFEHEHERR -

HRZEEEHEEZENERM
AEEKEERIERHBREASNE
EM 2D REHEENTAH
HEEE - HMERTBERR Alg
HAEEEREATNZE -
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(a) Critical accounting judgements in
applying the Group’s accounting
policies (continued)

(i) Significant judgement in
determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease
contracts that include extension
and termination options. The Group
applies judgement in evaluating
whether or not to exercise the option
to renew or terminate the lease.
That is, it considers all relevant
factors that create an economic
incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the
commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there
is a significant event or change
in circumstances that is within
its control and affects its ability
to exercise or not to exercise the
option to renew or to terminate
the lease (e.g., construction of
significant leasehold improvements
or significant customisation to the
leased asset).

The Group includes the renewal
period as part of the lease term
for leases of machinery due to the
significance of these assets to its
operations. These leases have a
short non-cancellable period and
there will be a significant negative
effect on production if a replacement
is not readily available.
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3 EFtHERMEE () 3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(a) Critical accounting judgements in
applying the Group’s accounting
policies (continued)

() ERAEESTRRRNEERS
=t 3 ()

(i) MEEBRBERFAEEA

(i) Principal versus agent

HEAEANZERE

EEAKERST —“‘?E%Aiﬁ@
ARBZEZEMERBETERIS
L‘A&%%%iﬁﬁ%é\ﬁﬁ@éﬂﬂ%?ﬂ 0

AEERBEE®HHIXMEHEEY
X-RNERHERT  AEEEEX
EANAEBEERMEZREDE
BERY AHERIEREEN
MEEERBER/EREREMA
HEMEEERARERSEREK
K-BREMEHEENDEZY
XEERBUA AEERSHEE
FERRAREBANG HDLBERE
REMETRAETREORS R
%%M@ﬁwﬁﬁwk MerE
FhHAKBEEERAGE

consideration for property
management service
contracts

Determining whether the Group is
acting as a principal or as an agent
requires consideration of all relevant
facts and circumstances, and
the contractual terms of property
management service contracts.

The Group manages properties
either under lump sum basis or
commission basis. Under lump sum
basis, the Group acts as a principal
and is primarily responsible for
providing property management
services to the property owners,
and recognises the property
management fee received or
receivable from property owners as
its revenue and all related property
management costs as its cost of
services. For property management
service income from properties
managed under commission basis,
the Group considers its obligation
is only limited to arranging and
monitoring the services provided
by other parties to the property
owners as an agent and accordingly
recognises the commission, which
is calculated based on fixed fee per
square metre basis, as its revenue.
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3 EFHERM&E () 3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Sources of estimation

(b) HEEE5HHIR

AT RBRERREEARARREMEETE
EfFRRZEEZRR - HRAEEHA
BT —EHRFENEERABBREEE
HEARFHBHNE AR -

() EZERUARBEBLREREZERN
TEHEEEEREG

AEEFERBRGEREFEESRK
REREERZENBEREEESE-
BREXDERABBUBEEREADN
ZEEPHEMAR (AR - IRES
BE RPBEARFRE D) a
RYETE -

BREEERONDERAKRENBE
BRENXMEL - AKEHRIE
FEEAZAEEERABRBEER
RS o a0 - fis TEEATRORI AR AR
MR RER( - TREEEROH
B AELENRETIARE -

uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning
the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

(i) Provision for expected credit
losses on trade and bill
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix
to calculate ECLs for trade and bill
receivables. The provision rates
are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, service
type, customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based
on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults, the historical
default rates are adjusted.
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3 EFtHERMEE () 3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Sources of estimation

(b) HEEGEHHIR ()

(i)

B2 RWHIELERERD
BHREEEREE (B)

BESRENE  BALERR R
BHREEERZENBBLETES
EXRGF-EHEEFENSEY
RERBAKLBERAOEHRAK
R AEENBTEEBBRLERK
TER L EAMR RIS T RER KRR
ROBERENBRL BRAAEEN
BORKRFERERERAREM
BYFENBREEEENER S
Bl BB AR A B A5 $R R M R 17 R B
18

uncertainty (continued)

(i)

Provision for expected credit
losses on trade and bill
receivables (continued)

The assessment of the correlation
among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive
to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit
loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not
be representative of a customer’s
actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade and bill receivables
and other receivables is disclosed in
note 17 and note 18 to the financial
statements, respectively.



3 ERrHER AR (&)

(b) HEE 5T ()

(ii)

REMENRAEE

BRENX (BRERERAREERA
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Sources of estimation
uncertainty (continued)

(ii)

Fair value of investment
properties

Investment properties, including
the leasehold property held as a
right-of-use asset, are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial
position at their fair value, details
of which are disclosed in note 12.
The fair value of the investment
properties was determined by
reference to valuations conducted on
these properties by an independent
and professionally qualified valuer
using property valuation techniques
which involve certain assumptions
of prevailing market conditions.
Favorable or unfavorable changes
to these assumptions may result
in changes in the fair value of the
Group’s investment properties
included in the consolidated
statement of financial position and
the corresponding adjustments to
the changes in fair value reported in
the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive
income. Details of the fair value of
investment properties are disclosed
in note 12 to the financial statements.
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3 EFtHERMEE () 3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Sources of estimation

(b) HEEGEHHIR ()

(i) PEERE
AEEBZLBFIEHERSEAL
BE SEREEI>EHENRE
EEBANERAEBEETMHT @
ArTEAEER AEEFEMETR
Eﬁé&i%ﬁﬂ’ﬁéﬁﬁﬁikfﬁ%ﬁ

RARKERRENTBREFEZ
—rﬁﬁum%ﬁ"ﬁﬁfﬁ BEZHBHER
BisE14 -

4 WRRDEHRE

(a)

DR E

AARNRMITES (RAEBEEZEZLE)
RE([EELEREE]) MENELRFRR
HIANEEMEER VEMBEBRE
REEBSI - ZZFEDAREERES
RIS E R FE 8L E D EIRE D

BRI ©

uncertainty (continued)
(iii) Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether
goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the
value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those
cash flows. Further details are given
in note 14.

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING

(a) Segment reporting

Information reported to the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision makers (“CODM”) of
the Group, was specifically focused on the
segments of the commercial management
business, property management business
and ecosystem business. These divisions
are the basis on which the Group reports
its segment information under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments.



4 WEkoHHRE (&)

(a)

i)
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BEMEBXED  AEMBRGREH
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (continued)

(a) Segment reporting (continued)

Commercial management business:
Commercial management services
are provided to property owners
or tenants of shopping malls and
office buildings. For shopping
malls, the Group provides property
management and other services,
commercial operational services and
commercial subleasing services. For
office buildings, the Group provides
commercial operational services,
property management and other
services.

Property management business:
The Group provides property
management services to community
space properties and urban
space properties. Such services
mainly include (i) basic property
management services; (ii) value-
added services to non-property
owners; and (iii) value-added
services to property owners.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (continued)

(a) Segment reporting (continued)

7 EREE ()

(a) pa) %B $& ( o=} )

EREER ARBEREEENE

RRY - BRtumBE  LEE

R B A AR

AN ALB%

7B E B E o BB T AT R A s
MKEENEBE KROBFELEN
FEFELERRETHARAERLK
EREEBNOWASRAS  MEM
WARWE  pih—BE & hEE
2w Al o fh — BB R R A
2w ROETHEERARRS AR
X o nEWAREEZE AR EEL
ERBEREADRERRFTHE
M EEFLE -

D

Ecosystem business: The Group
provides ample eco-services,
including self-owned cosmetics,
cultural operation and other services.

Segment results

Segment results represent the
profit earned or loss incurred
before taxation by each segment
without allocation of income or
expenses which are not recurring in
nature or unrelated to the CODM'’s
assessment of the Group’s operating
performance, e.g., other income
and gains, share of profit of interest
in a joint venture, share of profit of
interest in an associate, unallocated
finance costs, and unallocated
expenses. Segment revenues and
results are the measures reported
to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (continued)

(@) Segment reporting (continued)

(a) 2#;HE (K)
(i) &b (&)
AT & Wk&%ﬁﬁﬁ

BEZE-_ZF-_NF+=-A=+—HL
EE

(i)

Segment results (continued)

The following is an analysis of the
Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segments:

Year ended 31 December 2024

ARETT  ARETT AREFT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A Revenue
REEFARHKA Revenue from contracts with
customers
EE-RERD Recognised at a point in time 18,228 874,323 32,862 925,413
E-BERRER Recognised over time 5,683,320 9,807,878 20542 15,511,740
5,701,548 10,682,201 53,404 16,437,153
REEMRREH KA Revenue from other sources
iU Rental income 572,758 32,747 - 605,505
RENFEFHBA Revenue from external customers 6,274,306 10,714,948 53404 17,042,658
PREE Segment results 3,706,223 1,904,281 13,357 5,623,861
Els—MAERE 2R  Share of profit of a joint venture 3,066
JE(E—RIBE N A Z8H  Share of profit of an associate 57
HEA RN & Other income and gains 553,198
RAERAX Unallocated expenses (1,279,691)
AOEHKER Unallocated finance costs (5,270)
BB ADE A Profit before tax 4,895,221
BERREY* Capital expenditure* 282,681 109,185 205 392,071
* BERARZBEREDE BB RZEN * The capital expenditure consists

NAET A EE

of additions to property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets.
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4 WEkDHHRE (FH)

(a) ZHEP®E (&)

(i) »EBXEAE (&)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (continued)

(@) Segment reporting (continued)

(i) Segment results (continued)

HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HIL Year ended 31 December 2023

FE

ARETR ARETR ARETR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

WA Revenue
REEFRBHRA Revenue from contracts with customers

EE-BEED Recognised at a point in time 17,812 672,354 690,166

E-BEARER Recognised over time 4,699,231 8,898,480 13,597,711

4717043 9,570,834 14,287 877

REEMRREHRA Revenue from other sources

REWA Rental income 449 297 29778 479,075
RESNBEEHRA Revenue from external customers 5,166,340 9,600,612 14,766,952
ARMEE Segment results 2,950,541 1729125 4,679,666
ElE—AagtE 087 Share of profit of a joint venture 2,645
il VNS v Share of profit of an associate 4
1 NS Other income and gains 525,519
FAERX Unallocated expenses (1,283 456)
KAEEBER Unallocated finance costs (12,254)
BBt anaA Profit before tax 3912,124
BRE% Capital expenditure* 346,646 235,028 581674
* BARZBEREWE BB RZREN * The capital expenditure consists

REREE - of additions to property, plant and

(i) Hol@ &R

HRASEXRBEIIBELHOKRAZ
MREFEAMER  BARNKER
BIRBEEAMNTEAM -
It 4 2 51 30 [ B R

equipment and intangible assets.

(i) Geographic information

No geographical information is
presented as the Group’s revenue
from the external customers is
derived solely from its operation
in Chinese Mainland and all non-
current assets of the Group are
located in Chinese Mainland.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (continued)

(b) Revenue

Revenue mainly comprises proceeds
from commercial management business,
and property management business and
ecosystem business. Disaggregation of
revenue from contracts with customers by
each significant category is as follows:

ARETTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
EAMBREERESH Revenue from contracts with customers
HEERNNEFSREMNKBA within the scope of HKFRS 15
REEFEREA Revenue from contracts with customers
BEME Commercial management business
— By — Shopping malls 3,636,440 2,789,010
— BT — Office buildings 2,065,108 1,928,033
5,701,548 4,717,043
L ES R Property management business
HEZH Community space 8,861,312 8,234,826
— MEEBRE — Property management services 6,659,780 6,017,782
— ST IEE AL E RS — Value-added services to
non-property owners 718,427 821,016
— S EFRIEERY — Value-added services to
property owners 1,175,510 1,088,092
— HEBMREN — Sales of goods and carparks 307,595 307,936
HHEE Urban space 1,820,889 1,336,008
10,682,201 9,570,834
EREEL Ecosystem business 53,404 =
REEFERAMN Total revenue from contracts
LN 1 with customers 16,437,153 14,287,877
KB H b RIR A WA Revenue from other sources
HeBlmA Gross rental income
— PHURRIE Ek A R /Y — Variable lease payments that do
AIBHEEMK not depend on an index or rate 114,514 111,026
— HEMBENR — Other lease payments,
(BEEERF) including fixed payments 490,991 368,049
REHMRIR A EUA Total revenue from other sources 605,505 479,075
U A Total revenue 17,042,658 14,766,952
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4 WakoH®mE (&) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (continued)

(b) WA (&) (b) Revenue (continued)
HE_Z-_WF+-—A=1+—HIFE - For the year ended 31 December 2024,
DY=h=¥ ? BRARIRERME QR GER revenue from the ultimate holding company
ZEMEERERBERR) HKARA and the fellow subsidiaries (along with their
K #5,580,630,0007c (ZE=Z=%F: AR respective joint ventures and associates)
#4,409,618,0007T) ° B R B RLZITER A amounted to RMB5,580,630,000 (2023:
ARBRMBRBDOKAN BEZZ RMB4,409,618,000). Other than the
THERZE=FFT_A=T—HIF revenue from the ultimate holding company
B BEREHE -—FPAX LR ZEHD and the fellow subsidiaries, no revenue
—HEPHENBAGAREER KA 10% derived from sales to a single customer
gk LA E o or a Group of customers under common

control accounted for 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

5 HtWARWKZE 5 OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

ARBTIE ARETRT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FEUWA Interest revenue 412,603 395,186
BEARBEFEABEES) T Net gain on changes in fair value of

AEHERZ S/ financial assets measured at fair value

BENANEBE through profit or loss

W 5 F5R 66,920 -
BT 8 B Government grants 40,743 95,743
5 (B18) W55 Exchange (loss)/gain, net (3,278) 6,064
HEME - BE KE&HE Net gain on disposal of items of

T B m e 558 property, plant and equipment 298 3,559
ERSHARER Gain on changes in fair value of

AAEEEFKE contingent consideration payables

(BtzE29(e)) (note 29(e)) 151,465 50,983
=uiie} Others 35,912 24,967

704,663 576,502
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6 PBRBIADER 6 PROFIT BEFORE TAX
ANEBHBRBE AR A LM (GEA) TH& The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after
HEFTE charging/(crediting):

(a) M¥KEHA (a) Finance costs

ARBFTIT AR®BTRT
RMB'000 RMB'000

HEARAE Interest on lease liabilities 115,768 117,202

(b) EIRA (b) Staff costs

ARBTIT AR®BTE

RMB’000 RMB’000
BIKA  BIEEEH M Staff costs, including directors’
emoluments 5,060,702 4,922,971
B R TE R RGT 81 BRI AR Costs related to defined
contributions scheme 498,482 437,326
5,559,184 5,360,297
fig: BE-_T-_WEE-_ZT_=F+=-A=+—8 Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024 and
WEFE - ANEE WA AR IR - B IERIR 2023 the Group had no forfeited contributions
RRFERRBFEIBHERK o available to reduce its contributions to the

pension schemes in future years.
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6 MRBANEF (&) 6 PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)
(c) HftiEH (c) Other items

ARBTTET ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
21 AR 75 HY K AR Cost of services provided 11,181,832 9,813,510
BEEFEMNAR Cost of inventories sold 251,358 259,164
M - B RBHITE Depreciation of property,
(PfFEE11) plant and equipment (note 11) 110,904 102,051
CRAEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(K3 25(a)) (note 25(a)) 58,782 59,431
A EEE (HEE13) Amortisation of intangible assets
(note 13) 185,863 113,436
B 5 e TE & e N Z R B Impairment of trade and bill
(fF5E17) receivables (note 17) 57,633 32,160
TEAT IR « H A FE U Impairment of prepayments,
RIE R HAth & EE R B other receivables and other assets
(H¥5E18) (note 18) 9,643 7,028
M - BB R Impairment losses on property,
AEEE (FEE11) plant and equipment (note 11) 1,666 =
TFEMOR, (MR B E) = Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of
A& %ME inventories to net realisable value 914 (207)
BE N B 1R (Mhes) FEE Exchange loss/(gain), net 3,278 (6,064)
1% B RN B & Auditor’s remuneration 2,965 2,550
TE Y E WA Rentals receivable from
investment properties (458,244) (338,271)
W REMECEERX Less: direct outgoings from
investment properties 150,932 136,090

(307,312) (202,181)
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7 FBEEX 7 INCOME TAX EXPENSES
(a) REBERIRPWBIEIE !

(@) Taxation in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss

represents:

ARETT ARBTET

RMB’000 RMB’000

BN HAR 18 Current taxation 1,069,616 835,125
AR B £t I (E R PRC Land Appreciation

(T3 sgER ) Tax (“LAT”) 1,813 2,632

IRIEFE 1A (P 7% 26) Deferred taxation (note 26) 93,685 131,727

FABIA LA Total tax charge for the year 1,165,114 969,484

AEEARBERBEERRAKEKE AT
M RE S 2 B REEERAES
SRR NBERAEN - REFASEHS
REBRLZESRARER  AEEET
RASHENRBREZESEMRINE
BORABMERMEH

REBERFAREBEEN G BT
A 16.5% (T = =4 : 16.5% ) K Fi
RHMMBBNER - AR AEBREEC
E_NFE+ZA=+—HILEFEILERE
BEERTT RS - MU EREENESH
EHBE(ZS==F : |&) -

The Group is subject to income tax on
an entity basis on profits arising in or
derived from the tax jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled
and operate. Pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the Cayman Islands and
British Virgin Islands, the entities within the
Group incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and British Virgin Islands are not subject
to any income tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided
at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. No provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
as the Group had no assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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7 FEBRX (&) 7 INCOME TAX EXPENSES

(continued)
(a) REBERRPWBIEE @ (&)

(@) Taxation in the consolidated

TR AREB R B A ER N B A A

—MREIR25% (Z T =4 : 25%) Bi &
mPEARLNMBE ((RE]) CEMEH
(IEEFRBR]D  HAEBENETHEA
o Bt B A B (RZ AR ﬂllﬁu/i/ ﬁéiﬁﬁﬁlﬁ*
EEEE  ASHMRERE A/ NI E
%)TEAHHW&15%E’HE$$R $ S E TS
FriS a5 »

BIE(PEAREMBECEMGSHRE)

NGERE A D VA= PN &= S A R NEE s
BEEE th_M&m%mm$@@ﬁm
o ZMEB T N\F—A—BRBER
BRAR_ZETLF+A=+—HEMNA
F o fi R B A H B AN B3R B A PR AR B
BEERITARMEGE - TEABRENTEN
BE - HAEEMS  BAREES% -

TR ERBEEIRET BREBERE AR
FOERMREME - LHIBERCHIEE
Y RBERRELEME - WMBRETA
HERIEE ©

statement of profit or loss
represents: (continued)

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in
Chinese Mainland are generally subject
to the People’s Republic of China (“the
PRC”) Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”)
rate of 25% (2023: 25%) during the
year, excluding certain subsidiaries of
the Group in Chinese Mainland which
are either located in Shenzhen Qianhai
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service
Industry Cooperation Zone, western
cities or qualified as Small and Micro
Profit Enterprises and were subject to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% during
the period.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income
Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Chinese Mainland. The
requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between Chinese Mainland and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5%.

The provision for LAT is estimated
according to the requirements set forth
in the relevant the PRC tax laws and
regulations. LAT has been provided
at ranges of progressive rates of the
appreciation value, with certain allowable
deductions.
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7 FBHEBAX(E) 7 INCOME TAX EXPENSES
(continued)

(b) HIEMIHEEABRETENS (b) Reconciliation between tax

a5 Kl 49 ¥ BR expense and accounting profit

at applicable tax rates

ARETT ARBTE

RMB’000 RMB’000
FR 75 A1 g A Profit before tax 4,895,221 3,912,124
R 35 B & FI ) 48 = R IR National tax on profit before taxation,
(IRRAEA AR calculated at the rates applicable
HAMERE) to the jurisdictions concerned 1,028,953 807,135
BRBHE WA Income not subject to tax (25,524) (13,929)
DEEL b Expenses not deductible for tax 1,770 932
LRIARTER - REBERD Tax losses and deductible temporary
TS EE R AT 5 difference previously not
TR ERE R recognised, now recognised, net - 22,136
BEFEREBTR Under-provision in respect of prior
years 1,592 12,636
AR Withholding tax 156,510 137,942
IR ER LAT 2,417 3,509
THIREROHEZE Tax effect of LAT (604) (877)

RSB BB R E /T IE Tax charge at the Group’s
gt effective rate 1,165,114 969,484
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8 EEIM

RIE ETAR R BB R FFRBIE 383(1) R A K&
RE (REEEMNREN) ROIF28 AFE

EEFMMEENT

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part

2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:

ARBTE  ARETE ARETE ARETT ARETE
RMBOO0 ~ RMB00O  RWMBOO0  RMBO00O  RMBIOOD

“ECQE 2024
£33 Chairmen
FMEAE Mr. LI Xin = = = = =
HiTES! Executive directors:
W AR BR 6 A Mr. YU Linkang - 1,598 1,704 210 3,512
THR%EE Mr. WANG Haimin - 954 1,823 210 2,987
TaEEE(RZTomE Mr. WANG Lei (appointed with
—ﬁ ZTNBEZ) effect from 29 January 2024) - 706 1,964 170 2,840
BRERAE Mr. NIE Zhizhang - 721 1,427 181 2,329
iﬁﬁﬁ%fii (R=2=pmF Mr. GUO Ruifeng (appointed with

—AZTHhBEEARR
“EMEAATARRE)

effect from 29 January 2024
and resigned with effect from

19 June 2024) - 403 668 104 1,175
WhETT(RZZZREF Ms. WEI Xiaohua (retired with
—A+RARE) effect from 15 January 2024) - 27 227 48 512
FHUTES: Non-executive director:
PEEE Mr. GUO Shiging = = = = -
BUkHTES: Independent Non-executive
directors:
AMELE Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer 364 - = = 364
REIE%E Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 364 - - - 364
Rr&tE Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan 364 - - - 364
Bkt Ms. LO Wing Sze 364 - - - 364

1,456 4,619 7,813 923 14,811
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8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

ARBTL AREBTT ARETL ARETR ARETR
RMBO000 ~ RVMBOO0 ~ RMB000 ~ RMBOOO  RMB'00O

—ECCF 2023
£ Chairmen
FMEE Mr. LI Xin - - - - _
HiTEE: Executive directors:
WARR LA Mr. YU Linkang = 1,624 4,651 157 6,432
WpELL Ms. WEI Xiaohua - 1,087 3,626 157 4,820
TEREE Mr. WANG Haimin - 977 3,786 157 4,920
BAEZE(M=F==%F  Ms. YANG Hongxia (resigned
NA+EAEE) with effect from 17 August
2023) - 488 3,618 88 4,194
BEERE(WZZZ=F  Mr NIE Zhizhang (appointed
NA+tBEZME) with effect from 17 August
2023) - 264 1,343 59 1,666
FHITES: Non-executive director:
PHF LA Mr. GUO Shiging - - = = =
BUEHTES: Independent Non-executive
directors:
AMELE Mr. LAU Ping Cheung Kaizer 360 - = = 360
REELE Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ching 360 = = = 360
Rk Mr. CHAN Chung Yee Alan 360 - - - 360
Rzt Ms. QIN Hong 180 = = = 180
EAFRT Ms. LO Wing Sze 180 = = = 180
1,440 4,390 17,024 618 23,472

6 PO B B E T E S MBI (=

—ZF | o

FAYBEEHREST

ERFF B Tk -

THRABRELRBHNE

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the
year (2023: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a
director or the chief executive waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during the year.
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9 BEHFMAL 9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

TEZEFMALH  HE(ZZEZ=F: MH) Of the five individuals with the highest

REE BEZHMNERERITES - BEASIN— emoluments 4 (2023: 4) are directors whose

H(ZEZ=F: —F) ATHEFMARRENOT : emolument is disclosed in note 8. The

aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
other 1 (2023: 1) individuals are as follows:

AR®ET T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
e EMEREYETF Salaries, allowance, and benefits-in-kind 786 2,455
BB IEAL Discretionary bonuses 1,521 2,407
BIRSE B Retirement scheme contributions 185 187
2,492 5,049
—B(ZE2Z=F: —RB)HSFMALHEFM The emoluments of the 1 (2023: 1) individuals
BRIATEME : with the highest emoluments are within the
following bands:
EEAH

Number of employees

52,000,001 TTE HKD2,000,001-HKD2,500,000
7B ¥ 2 500,000 7T 1 -
7B #°5 000,001 L& HKD5,000,001-HKD5,500,000

& % 5,500,000 7T = 1




10 ERZAEF

(a)

(b)

BREXER

BREARRF TIIBER AR 7 2 R R B
A AREE 3,629,375,000 7T (T - =4
AR M2 928,749,0007T) A R F N E B1T
38 A% A DN AE 15 #2,282,500,000 % (=
T = =4 :2282,500,000 B @A) 5 E -

EREEER
ARBRBE-_ZT_NER_T_=F
+ A=+ HIFEYETMEETE
E#ELT R -
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10 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings
per share is based on the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company of RMB3,629,375,000
(2023: RMB2,928,749,000) and the
weighted average of ordinary shares
of 2,282,500,000 (2023: 2,282,500,000
ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

The Company had no potentially dilutive
ordinary shares in issue during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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11 Y BERRKE 11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

ARBTR  ARMTR ARMTRL ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOOO  RWBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO

A& Cost
RZE-=%-f-F: At1 January 2023: 377,867 153,778 54,268 268,325 129,611 6,982 990,831
AE Additions - 14,827 3,966 69,175 1,204 - 89,172
WERERA Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 30 3579 102 - 3711
a5 Transfer - 6,982 - - - (6,982) -
Eﬁﬁ Disposals (24,261) (2.241) (1807) (9,194) (17,882) - (55,385)
\ZE-=E+-F=+-F At31 December 2023 and
k=2-m%E-A-H 1 January 2024 353,606 173,346 56,457 331,885 113,035 - 1,028,329
B Additions 4919 16,019 62,733 38,878 53,967 7,684 184,200
Eerid Transfer - - - 1519 4,186 (5,705) -
BE Disposals - (B8 (348 (77S0)  (1686) - (645)
RZZZMETZA=T—H At31December 2024 358,525 185,679 1157020 354,691 169,502 1979 1,186,078
ZHARRNE: Accumulated amortisation
and depreciation:
RoB-ZE-F-B: AU Janvay 2023 @475 (246 (1314)  (1810%8)  (71,609) S (w16%)
ERd Charge for the year (10660) (15893  (6842)  (49800)  (18856) S (10205
WEHBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries - = = (2,735) = - (2.735)
B2 Disposals 22,171 1,223 1,323 7592 17,103 - 50,012
- T - Z@r A=1—H At31 December 2023 and
2-mE-A-A 1 January 2024 (368 7116 (18661) (25969 (73362 - msem)
ﬁmiﬁ Charge for the year (10,545) (14,008) (24,650  (46,027) (15,584) - (110,904)
RE Disposals - 1,264 1,231 13,352 1311 - 17,158
RZFZME+ZA=T—H At31 December 2024 (81,909) (99950)  (42,080)  (258,644) (87,635) - (570219)
ZitHERS: Accumulated impairment
losses:
M:T:_EJr ~“A=t—H At31December 2023 and
ZZME-A-H at 1 January 2024 - - - - - - -
3 WﬁEwE’WE Impairments recognised
during the year - - (1,666) - - - (1,666)
RZFZIETZA=1T—H Ai31December 2024 - - (1,666) - - - (1,666)
BEFE: Net book value:
RZE-ME+-B=F—H At31December 2024 276,616 85,729 71,956 96,047 81,867 1,979 614,194

WZFZ=FFZA=1—H At31December 2023 282,042 86,230 37,7% 105,916 39673 = 551,857
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12 REYE 12
ERREMENE ST -

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The movements in investment properties during
the year is summarised as follows:

ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RZEZ—_F+=A=+—HK= At 31 December 2022 and
T-_=%—Hf—H 1 January 2023 3,366,000 - 3,366,000
NE Additions 24,681 357,966 382,647
REMELAABEEDOHKR Gain on changes in fair value
of investment properties 21,319 18,034 39,353
RZEZ=F+=A=+—HK= At31 December 2023 and
E-NFE—A—H 1 January 2024 3,412,000 376,000 3,788,000
NE Additions 3,783 327,515 331,298
R Transfer 703,515 (703,515) -
BREMEAABEEDHNE Gain on changes in fair value
of investment properties 40,702 - 40,702
RZE-_NF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2024 4,160,000 - 4,160,000
B3 - Notes:
(a) AEEOEHEER (a)  Valuation processes of the Group

AEBREMEMNPEAM - AERERA R (EER

The Group’s investment properties are situated in

(b)

BERAME AKEREVMER_FT-_NF+=A
=+ BENAABEDEREESERMGEMTEE
T ERERAAER AR ([P EBTT]) ETHME
BEE °

A E R
REFRBNGETDESBAZE -
WAE — RAENEFEZERRERBRENYEMA

SRAMEENEEERRAELEERE) AR
UEE B R AN AEE -

(b)

Chinese Mainland. The Group measures its investment
properties at fair value. The fair value of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 December 2024 have
been determined on the basis of valuation carried
out by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited (“JLL"), a professionally qualified
valuer.

Valuation techniques

The valuation methodology adopted in valuation is the
income approach.

Income approach — the income approach operates by
considering the rental income of the property derived
from the existing tenancy with due allowance for the
reversionary income potential of the tenancy, which
is then capitalised into the value at an appropriate
capitalisation rate.
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12 ®&EY = (H)

FieE - ()

(c)

(d)

(e)

ERERERTABERAZENA
# (5 34%)

# miEE R OHE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

B (%)

RIEMEBLTSHSEE
(BRBFIRARETT)

Capitalisation rate (%)

Adopted range of unit market rent
(RMB per square meter per month)

6.25 to 7.50 6.25 to 7.50
6.25 £7.50 6.25 £ 7.50
32.00-322.00 30.00-310.00

TRIBR A AZIBER A BENBEK

EREREE  AABEEBE
DABEYES -

CHITHSEHSEE

RER > RAEBEMEFIREFE 2R HEIL MER -
MY EEAXEHFEIR(CE_=F: |) -

RER - REMENLETES WA R AR 458,244,000
T(ZZEZ=% : AR#%¥338,271,0007T) °

(d)

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:

The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair
value. The higher the prevailing market rents, the
higher the fair value.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).

During the year, the gross rental income from
investment properties amounted to RMB458,244,000
(2023: RMB338,271,000).
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13 BREE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

AREFT AREFTT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B Cost:
RZE-_=F—H—H At 1 January 2023 1,424,300 141,156 1,565,456
W B 2 A Acquisition of subsidiaries 67,600 46 67,646
NE Additions - 149,826 149,826
RE Disposals = (1,641) (1,641)
RZE-_=F+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2023 and
k=—ZE-mFE—HF—H 1 January 2024 1,491,900 289,387 1,781,287
N Additions - 36,410 36,410
B (BT EE14()) Adjustments (note 14(ii)) (5,700) - (5,700)
BE (M) Disposals (Note) (72,687) (46) (72,733)
RZZZNF+=RA=+—H At 31 December 2024 1,413,513 325,751 1,739,264
RtEes Accumulated amortisation:
RZZE-_=%—H—H At 1 January 2023 (68,203) (27,235) (95,438)
FRZH Charge for the year (95,705) (17,731) (113,436)
BE Disposals = 1,180 1,180
R-ZE-_=#+-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 and
R-Z-mE—A—H 1 January 2024 (163,908) (43,786) (207,694)
FALH Charge for the year (99,017) (86,846) (185,863)
BE (fiE) Disposals (Note) 13,102 46 13,148
RZZEZME+=A=+—H At 31 December 2024 (249,823) (130,586) (380,409)
BRMEFE Net book value:
RZBZWE+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2024 1,163,690 195,165 1,358,855
R-BE-_=%+-HA=+—H At 31 December 2023 1,327,992 245,601 1,573,593
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3 BEEE (H)

EPBEDIERERA B0 WE - 1R
BHHMARBERR  ERNGEFERFEH
AABEGRZHEE ZEFPBEERKEBRHNHQ
REBEENTAARREFTLEL2ERERERMGE
BETTR B ERETE °

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Customer relationship was acquired as part
of business combination). It is recognised at
their fair value at the date of acquisitions and
is subsequently amortised on a straight-line
basis over the estimated contract lives. Fair
values of this customer relationship at the date
of acquisition was determined by the directors
of the Company with reference to the valuation
performed by a qualified professional valuer.

e : R NG EEERBAIFEIREFIEEN Note: In 2024, management withdrew certain property
Mahz BEERARE IHTEUAREMNNE management projects from Nantong Changle and

THXEREE SRNLERAZZTERIEDES
BEEBEMHENEFHER((EEEE]) - £8AA
K # 59,585,000 7T ° DA&%%JHEEMHEEF@S%AE%
74,510,0007C ° AR - g MR % IMPEU RS
MFER S AR EIR D AR ¥ 134,095,0007T © HEE
BHERTETE -

Jiangsu Zhongnan and Yuzhou under the supplemental
signed agreements with the non-property owners and
vendors, which resulting in the disposals of customer
relationships related to those terminated property
management projects (the “Disposals”) amounting
of RMB59,585,000 and the associated goodwill of
RMB74,510,000 were derecognised. Meanwhile,
the contingent consideration payables for Nantong
Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan and Yuzhou were
reduced in an amount of RMB134,095,000. No impact
to profit or loss arose from the Disposals.
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14 GOODWILL
ARETIT
RMB’000
RN : Cost:
R-_ZTE-_=F—H—H At 1 January 2023 1,804,719
U BE B B A &) Acquisition of subsidiaries 95,621

RZE—_=F+-_A=+—H

At 31 December 2023 and at

MZF-UFE—H—H 1 January 2024 1,900,340
BE N HIAH MR R IR Derecognition in relation to

(BEE13) the Disposals (note 13) (74,510)
Rk Adjustments (16,327)
RZZE_MOE+_A=+—H At 31 December 2024 1,809,503
BREE : Carrying value:
MRZZEZWE+=A=+—H At 31 December 2024 1,809,503
R-E-_=F+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2023 1,900,340

REBAfTFRENEEERBEROEZAENM
WERBAERRR (&M ~ @I T Y
ERBAR2BD(TmIAM])  rEBREDE
BR2A((HBRE]) IHTEDEREE
RAF(DIgF A kRSB HARELEEREE
RAR(AEDWBReELEM ((REeELE
fz) e

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is
allocated, at acquisitions, to the cash generated
units (“CGUSs”) of Yuzhou Property Service Co.
Ltd. (*Yuzhou”), Sichuan Jiuzhou Qiancheng
Property Service Co. Ltd. (“Sichuan Jiuzhou”),
Nantong Changle Property Co., Ltd (“Nantong
Changle”) and Jiangsu Zhongnan Property
Services Co., Ltd. (*Jiangsu Zhongnan”) and
Chengdu Langiji Life Service Co., Ltd (“Langji”)
as below:
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14 &£ (&) 14 GOODWILL (continued)

AR®ET T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

MBRRERTI&HTE Nantong Changle and

(PR3 (i) Jiangsu Zhongnan (note (i)) 1,098,311 1,153,274

&M B E (i) Yuzhou (note (i)) 611,216 630,763

)1 M Sichuan Jiuzhou 20,682 20,682

BAE (BT 7% (ii)) Langiji (note (ii)) 79,294 95,621

1,809,503 1,900,340

B 5 Notes:

(i) FRN - ARKFEISAMNEERE  BHORKRERR (i) During the year, as a result of the Disposals as set out
RERTIHPEARBMNMEENEIGEEREAERR in note 13, part of goodwill arising from the acquisitions
KRB AR IEFERR - FIBAE2MMEE13 - of Nantong Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan and

Yuzhou associated with the respective intangible
assets was derecognised Please refer to note 13 for
details.

(ii) FR ABERE—FRAUHEFBAENEEAAE (ii) During the year, as a result of the reassessment
BERENKAREBETENTE - HRBHEEEN of fair value of intangible assets for the customer
EEETHEERE ZARHEBERIETE - relationships and contingent consideration payable

in respect of the acquisition of Langji within one year
of the acquisition, goodwill arising from acquisition of
Langji was adjusted accordingly. No impact to profit or
loss arose from such adjustment.



14 BHE (&)

BEBHENREELEEUNRENR

BEEN_FT_MF+_A=tT—BHHEE
TRENR mBREMIFTE &M O
NMANEBRAEXRBNREEEEMAAIKE S
MR- 2EEMBYARREETREERE
BEREEDFEEE -HAJ S BEE
RETEUIZRR FERAENTRER
BHENTFMMBRENRA R REFRR -
W& E B &FAEIEB RS - BB TER AR
MR M EE A A T A a R EE & KA - 18
REVEBLBRCELBEUMEERBITED
REIFIGERE - PTABIR KT ABATRL IR X
VYRBEBITESERR REELEBEMLANY
kEwEALBMMZEMRMBBENRBIRE -
PTRRERTI R AREIR R RRBREITRE
TR BREELEEUAT REBILERNEE

B -

R=B-mE+-A=+—0 EEEEHT
AR S B B R R 0 B R -
REFE REELBUMHTHRELBRRS
EEBUNEEERS  KAEERAEAY
BT E AN BSNALE -
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14 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating
units containing goodwill

Management performed impairment testing
on goodwill as at 31 December 2024. The
recoverable amounts of CGUs of Nantong
Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan, Yuzhou,
Sichuan Jiuzhou and Langji business are
determined based on the value in use (“VIU”)
calculation by the directors of the Company with
the assistance of a valuer. Their recoverable
amounts are based on certain similar key
assumptions. The calculation use pre-tax cash
flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by senior management covering
a five-year period after considering latest
projects delivery scheme. Cash flow beyond
the projection period is extrapolated using
the estimated long-term growth rates below.
The growth rates do not exceed the long-term
average growth rate for the related industry in
which the CGUs operates. The discount rates
used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant industry and the CGU
itself and macro-environment of the relevant
region which the CGUs operates. The discount
rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant industry and the CGU
itself and macro-environment of the relevant
region.

As at 31 December 2024, management
reassessed the key assumptions for impairment
testing of goodwill of all CGUs. Based on the
assessment, the recoverable amounts of CGUs
approximated the carrying amount of CGUs and
the Group considered that no material additional
impairment of goodwill was required.
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14 BEE (&) 14 GOODWILL (continued)
BEHENASEABENNRENR Impairment tests for cash-generating
(&) units containing goodwill (continued)
B ERRCELESEMNMNAIKESEMAEE The key assumptions used in estimating the
(EE S UNNE recoverable amount of significant CGUs are as
follows:
R=EB-MNE+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2024

W FEERE Annual growth rate of revenue -5.8% to 12.6% 0.9% to 6.5%
-5.8% £12.6% 0.9% £ 6.5%

A= Profit margin 8.7%1t010.7%  8.9% to 11.2%
8.7% £10.7% 8.9% £11.2%

RAEfIE R X Long-term growth rate 1.5% 1.5%

T A B IR % Pre-tax discount rate 18.3% 17.7%
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14 BHE (&) 14 GOODWILL (continued)
BEHENASEABENNRENR Impairment tests for cash-generating
(&) units containing goodwill (continued)
RZT_=F+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023

W FEERE Annual growth rate of revenue 27%1t0139% -8.4%to 11.9%

-2.7% %2 13.9% -8.4% %= 11.9%

FE = Profit margin 95%1t011.4% 11.0% to 13.8%

95%F11.4% 11.0% E 13.8%

RAEIER X Long-term growth rate 2.0% 2.0%

T ATALEER X Pre-tax discount rate 18.3% 17.8%
EEEDSBI G EBERERFEENFE Management has undertaken sensitivity analysis
BER FEXR - R ERL AR XM on the impairment test of goodwill by evaluating
REE)  HEERENSETHREDN the hypothetical changes to annual growth rate,

profit margin rate, long-term growth rate and
pre-tax discount rate that would, in isolation,
have removed the remaining headroom
respectively.
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15 RIB AR 2RE 15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
THREPEFEXEAEREE BENXARE The following list contains only the particulars
BB ARMEIE -BRBEHBIN FTFRMD of subsidiaries which principally affected the
BRI AL AR - results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The

class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise
stated.

HREREARAA B AH100,0007T 100 100 - RERR
Super Honour Development Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Investment
holding
BREERE (R BRAR (i) hER, AR %1,000,000,00070 100 - 100 HWEEEER
TR
Runxin Commercial Investment Chinese Mainland  RMB1,000,000,000 Commercial
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. (ii) operational
management
services
ERMER R A R A (i) hER, AR%3,000,000,00070 100 - 100 YXREERHK
Runying Property Technology Chinese Mainland  RMB3,000,000,000 Property
Services Co. Ltd. (ii) management
services
BENZERYE (BR)BRAR() hER, AR%20,000,0007C 100 - 100 WEERRK
Runjia (Shenyang) Property Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Property
Management Co. Ltd. (i) management
services
BRMERS (R2) BRAR () FER AR120,000,0007 100 - 100 MEERRE
Runying (Chengdu) Property Chinese Mainland RMB120,000,000 Property
Management Co. Ltd. (i) management

services
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15 RMIB AR 2RE (&) 15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

BENFER (LR)BRAT() HEA AR 400,000,007 100 - 100 WEEREH
Runjia (Beiling) Property Management  Chinese Mainland RMB400,000,000 Property
Co. Ltd. (i) management
services
Bz R (RN ERAE () HERH AR 400,000,000 100 - 100 NEEBRK
Runjia (Shenzhen) Property Chinese Mainland RMB400,000,000 Property
Management Co. Ltd. (i) management
services
BnERE (L8 BRAE () HER, AR 120,000,000 70 100 - 100 HNEEERK
Runjia (Shanghai) Property Chinese Mainland RMB120,000,000 Property
Management Co. Ltd. (i) management
services
TEHENEREARAA () Lol AR%10,101,0107 100 - 100 WEERRK
Jiangsu Zhongnan Property Chinese Mainland RMB10,101,010 Property
Services Co. Ltd. (i) management
services
EREFER(RI)ERAA() B, AR#510,000,0007T 100 - 100 WxEBRE
Runxin Commercial Management Chinese Mainland RMB510,000,000 Property
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (i) management

services
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15

16

RHELEZRE (&)
R SRR S PN B ES €A

ARREFHZERARNTXBRENETH
#E REAESRFARAEIEANEXHTE -

B

(i) EERARBPBEEAREMAIZBEARE -

EARBHEEEEMRLZIHBEDRE -

(if) LEEE

rE&

15

16

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

The English names of all group companies
registered in Chinese Mainland represent
the best efforts made by the directors of the
Company to translate the Chinese names of
these companies as they do not have official
English names.

Notes:

(i) These entities were registered as domestic enterprises
under the laws of the PRC.

(i) These entities were registered as wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises under the laws of the PRC.

INVENTORIES

ARET T ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

AL Parking spaces 216,615 183,715
HEiFE Other inventories 23,156 19,030
239,771 202,745

R-ZBE-_mNE+-_A=+—H Bl EFE
A #IE F AR EE ARK3,219,0007T (=
T — =4 : AR¥23050007T) °

As at 31 December 2024, the provision for
write-down of inventories to net realisable
value amounted to RMB3,219,000 (2023:
RMB2,305,000).
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17 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

ARETFIT ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

g 5 EWRFRIE Trade receivables
BaEE 5 (MIEE31) Related parties (note 31) 985,939 878,178
B=ZH Third parties 1,483,704 1,195,366
2,469,643 2,073,544

e E Bill receivables

B 7 (FsE31) Related parties (note 31) = 777
F=h Third parties 33,280 3,762
33,280 4,539
W RS Less: loss allowance (137,039) (82,488)
2,365,884 1,995,595

BORBKIEARBURREEERIZ B HHEE
MY EE IR M IR ERBMEL ©

BB i) 56 B R AR A% M A\ 1R PR AR BB W 3R AR 7% 15
w2 HO (5 R OER - W0 3 B FE AR A% 0 IR TS U A B B
EEHERHRBEF AT A% B KBS 2 5l
HARW D EW IR - B EEEE S
EH BN EXP - BASENE S E WK
HAERKREBESREH T E-—FEFPIARED
BONEF BUYBREEERREAET -BEHE
WRE R EREE TS

Trade and bill receivables mainly arise from
property management services managed on a
lump sum basis and value-added services.

Property management service income on a
lump sum basis are received in accordance
with the term of the relevant property service
agreements. Service income from property
management services is due for payment by
the property owners upon rendering of services.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by management. In
view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group’s trade and bill receivables related
to related parties, single customers or a large
number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
and bill receivables are non-interest bearing.
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17 ESERREREWREE (F) 17 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES
(continued)
AR iR 2 AT Aging analysis

LHZEAMNKREKEDOTOT -

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade and bill receivable, based on
the invoice date, is as follows:

AREFTT ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

1FR Within 1 year 2,012,085 1,901,026

1224 1to 2 years 395,066 132,195

F3F 2to 3 years 55,595 28,948

SEM E Over 3 years 40,177 15,914

2,502,923 2,078,083

W EERE Less: loss allowance (137,039) (82,488)
B 5 e WA K IR Trade and bills receivable,

ZiE - Ik EERE net of loss allowance 2,365,884 1,995,595

B RUHIRK BERERERBEREESNT :

The movements in the loss allowance for
impairment of trade and bill receivables are as

follows:

ARBTIT ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

REA] At beginning of year 82,488 48,061
W B B A &) Acquisition of subsidiaries = 3,105
B E IR Impairment losses, net 57,633 32,160
FRNIZH Written off during the year (3,082) (838)
RER At end of year 137,039 82,488




17 ESRERRERERERE (&)

R 2 ()

REHREBHERBEERETRED T - A
AREEHEERE - BEXDNERAFRUE
BREANZERTP 2 HEAR (X PRI KR
BRE) B HRBRETE - 5t ERRY R NS
R -EREFHEMBREABEEBRETEF
BRI MR R GEMRERANAERE X8
MEF - BT NEREEBEERTER0%
(ZF-=F:01%) - BERBEUFEIE -

TXEHINERAKEE S EUGRIAE R BRER
M ERERBRIER
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17

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Aging analysis (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date using a provision matrix to
measure ECLs. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns
(i.e. customer type and service type). The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. The expected credit
loss rate for related parties is calculated as
0.1% (2023: 0.1%) by considering the historical
collection data.

Set out below is the information about the credit
risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables
using a provision matrix:

ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARET:
RMBOOO  RMB000  RMB0OOO ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO00O
RZE-ME At 31 December 2024
+=A=+-AH
BAGERER Expected credit loss rate 2.34% 15.21% 55.16% 100.00% 0.10%
FHaE Gross carrying amount 1,101,133 295,117 49,129 38,325 985,939 2,469,643
BHEERR Expected credit losses 25,739 44,890 27,099 38,325 986 137,039
RZEZ=% At 31 December 2023
+=A=+-H
BHCEBRR Expected credit loss rate 241% 18.16% 72.21% 100.00% 0.10%
RERE Gross carrying amount 1,031,694 120,168 28,174 14,553 878955 2073544
BHGEER Expected credit losses 24,870 21,827 20,360 14,553 878 82,488
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18 FE{TRIE

CHitEWRIER EME

18 PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

E

RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS

AREFT ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B Current
FE {38 Prepayments 285,005 299,674
o Deposits 81,279 73,341
H fth fE U R IE Other receivables 547,716 601,105
TE A B H b jE Y B B 77 Prepayment to and other receivables from
RIE (FH5E31) related parties (note 31) 396,955 675,453
1,310,955 1,649,573
W EERE Less: loss allowance (38,675) (29,036)
1,272,280 1,620,537
R Non-current
SEENE /@] Prepayments 1,231 15,595
B & - Notes:
HiEWREN AR BEAEREEES  -BRE=ZFHHE The fair value of other receivables approximated to their

o IR R B - 2 B RARENREER - RIREIE T A
HibBUFIRRRE » BRI ES1KE o

AEBFGERR  BYRERREEKRENEERRLE
EREEM - REE—F_WF+-_A=+—"HILFEAR"
AEERBEBERFERRBUHFHEERARNEMAR
B FTERKEER T MR RRRN EREREEE -

carrying amounts. Other receivables with third parties are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Other
receivables with related parties are interest-free, details of
which are disclosed in note 31.

The Group has assessed that the credit risk of other
receivables has not increased significantly since initial
recognition During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group calculated the ECL rate for other receivables from
related parties based on historical collection experiences
and other public information of the credit risk of similar
counterparties.
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18 AR E HMEWRERHEME 18 PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

= (&) RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS (continued)
Hih e W IE R EEEREFENE ST The movements in the loss allowance for

impairment of other receivables are as follows:

ARBTT ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

REA) At beginning of year 29,036 19,914

B B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries = 2,094

REERFEE Impairment losses, net 9,643 7,028

FRIZH Written off during the year (4) =

RER At end of year 38,675 29,036

19 RERREEEY 19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(a) ReERFAEEYEE (a) Cash and cash equivalents

comprise:

ARBETT AR®ETTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

BITRFERSE Cash at bank and in hand 9,669,434 11,646,772
W ZREIRTFR(IFE)  Less: restricted bank deposits (Note) (98,618) (66,613)

HenekthwRe Cash and cash equivalents in the

KREEEY cash flow statement 9,570,816 11,580,159
Mzt : KBRS REHMEETZRAREEMEBTERBED Note: The restricted cash balances mainly represent
RESRREFPEINIRS  ARECKREE guaranteed deposits and cash collected on
BRZRHEANRS - behalf of the customers in Group’s property

management service, and cash with restricted
use in SOE Reform Projects.
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19 RERBSEEY (&) 19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(continued)

(b) BRFBIADEFIELLLFIBESHEER (b) Reconciliation of profit before
taxation to cash generated from

operations:

i AR®T T ARBFT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
BR B Al 7 Profit before tax 4,895,221 3,912,124
AR Adjustments for:
BBER Finance costs 6(a) 115,768 117,202
PE % &8 (Weas) Exchange loss/(gain) 6(c) 3,278 (6,064)
FEWA Interest income 5 (412,603) (395,186)
BANRBEFEAE Net gain on changes in fair value of
BT AEHER Y financial assets measured at fair
CREENAAEBE value through profit or loss
S FE 5 (66,920) -
MR (B @MOR) FE  Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of
EAERFE inventories to net realisable value 6(c) 914 (207)
FERT SR AN ER AR EE Gain on changes in fair value of
el e contingent consideration payables 29 (151,465) (50,983)
B 5 WA R U Impairment of trade and bill
ZBRRE receivables 6(c) 57,633 32,160
FERTFRIE Bl R Impairment of prepayments, other
RERHEMEERE receivables and other assets 6(c) 9,643 7,028
WE - BENRERE  Impairment of property, plant and
equipment 1,666 -
BEWMEANEBEZEHR Gain on changes in fair value of
Wz investment properties 12 (40,702) (39,353)
JEIE—FIAEEEF  Share of profit of a joint venture (3,066) (2,645)
fEfh—fEH = ARA  Share of profit of an associate (57) (4)
WE - BERZENE  Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 6(c) 110,904 102,051
FERESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6(c) 58,782 59,431
A B Amortisation of intangible assets 6(c) 185,863 113,436
HEME  BERHRBEE Net gain on disposal of items of
B e #5 property, plant and equipment 5 (298) (3,559)
FEEM Increase in inventories (37,940) (54,556)
B 5 g RIE K& Increase in trade and bill receivables
JE M R HRIE N (427,922) (389,349)
FEf 3 - EfbEUEIE Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments,
REMEERL,/(3I0) other receivables and other assets 342,048 (260,457)
ZHEMNZIECHY),  (Decrease)fincrease in trade payables
bl (22,122) 59,300
Hfth A F0IE )2 Increase in other payables and
et & FIE accruals 509,867 275,871
SREEEN Increase in contract liabilities 107,770 301,437
Hith & B Decrease in other liabilities (3,312) (1,097)
KEMERE Cash generated from operations 5,232,950 3,776,580
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19 REeRASEEY (&) 19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(continued)
(c) MEEHELENEEHK (c) Reconciliation of liabilities
arising from financing activities

TR AEEREZTHEEANEEED The table below details changes in
HE(BRESLIFRSES) - BMEETD the group’s liabilities from financing
EXNBEDREREXARAKRBESRER activities, including both cash and non-
REERNGERERERSEARME T cash changes. Liabilities arising from
EXNBRERENEE- financing activities are liabilities for which

cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the group’s consolidated
cash flow statement as cash flows from
financing activities.

ARBTIT
RMB’000
NR-ZE-_WE—H—H At 1 January 2024 2,419,109
RERERESE : Changes from financing cash flows:
BNEERSHN S Interest element of lease rentals paid (260,875)
MERSRESDHEHE Total changes from financing cash flows (260,875)
Hin# g : Other changes:
HEAEAE Interest on lease liabilities 115,768
49 New leases 34,865
TR FE OB SNE S ELL  Revision of a lease term arising from a change
THERERT in the non-cancellable period of a lease (1,954)
Hih g% Total other changes 148,679

R-ZE-_WFE+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2024 2,306,913
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19 RERBSEEY (R 19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(continued)
(c) MEFTBELENEESH K (E)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities
arising from financing activities
(continued)

ARBT T
RMB’000
R-B-=%—H—H At 1 January 2023 2,401,717
MERSRESE Changes from financing cash flows:
EREERESMNEH S Interest element of lease rentals paid (169,801)
MERSRESEARE Total changes from financing cash flows (169,801)
Hip# 5 : Other changes:
HEBERNE Interest on lease liabilities 117,202
AL New leases 95,792
AT 45 A %) HA A A Revision of a lease term arising from a change
EERHEEE] in the non-cancellable period of a lease (25,801)
Hit BBy Total other changes 187,193

R-ZB-=5+-"A=+—H

At 31 December 2023

2,419,109
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19 REeRASEEY (&) 19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(continued)
(d HERSRLHAE (d) Total cash outflow for leases
ARESRERNEERS ML BRENT The total cash outflow for leases included

in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

AR¥ET T ARETE

RMB’000 RMB’000
KEEHN Within operating activities 47,847 44,520
MEESA Within financing activities 260,875 169,801

308,722 214,321
ZEHEETYSIERRA These amounts relate to the following:

ARETT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
BENEERS Lease rentals paid 308,722 214,321
EEMERER 20 STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

EEMEFERERFEANMEERERFNRITEE Structured deposits represent deposits
WER ZEEBUEFTROEREEDREEE T purchased from a creditworthy bank in Chinese
HEE R EREEES - W EHNFTEERNR Mainland. The investment return rates of these
/ALEI?FE%{’E§1‘fﬁi1ﬁﬁ$%ﬁ’]$%&ﬂ structured deposits are linked to the price
cAL - AEMERIREAABEGER changes in certain underlying commodity. The
E@@Dﬁk%ﬁﬂﬁ?&Z%@ﬁE cash flows arising from this contract are not

solely for payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding. For such
purpose, the structured deposits are accounted
for as financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss.
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21 EHER

21 TIME DEPOSITS

ARETIT ARETF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ZIHAR R =E A Bank deposits with maturity over
HITIFK three months 721,017 1,612,254
NEEFE (FE) Deposit certificates (Note) 3,852,706 2,642,609
et Total 4,573,723 4,254,863
V=1 Analysed into:
BN HA Current 101,017 4,052,766
JERNHA Non-current 4,472,706 202,097
BaE: REERTEAMEESENIFERITEENKRE Note: The balance represents deposit certificates purchased

GE BAEFMNENT20%ZE26% (ZTE==4F:

3.5%) RETHBRAB12E36EA(ZT==4F:36
BA) - FEA FLAEE - FEHFRAE RIRRREE

FHELANRERBEATAE R AEERASTEMN
N XRE RS/ ENERERRSREBHEBE
AEFE - Bt EEMERARIEREHRAGTEN
EREE -

from creditworthy licensed banks in Chinese Mainland
earning interest at a fixed rate of 2.0% to 2.6% (2023:
3.5%) per annum with an original maturity period
of 12 to 36 months (2023: 36 months). The deposit
certificates are redeemable, and the contractual terms
of the time deposits give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding and are
held within a business model with the objective to
hold in order to collect contractual cash flows. For
such purpose, the time deposits are accounted for as
financial assets at amortised cost.
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22 E5REARE 22 TRADE PAYABLES

AR®ET T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
B S IE Trade payables
BaEE S (FIaE31) Related parties (note 31) 67,671 83,808
F=5 Third parties 1,588,056 1,462,310
1,655,727 1,546,118
HEREHR ZHERMNRBENEZAHDY As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing
BREC DT : analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice

date, is as follows:

ARBTT ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
1R Within 1 year 1,539,649 1,443,103
1224 1to 2 years 71,033 60,564
2FE34F 2 to 3 years 22,124 22,136
3FELAE Over 3 years 22,921 20,315

1,655,727 1,646,118
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HENSFERETEH 23 OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS

AR¥ET T AR®ETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
EMEMFEREFER  Other payables and accruals
BanE 5 (M93E31) Related parties (note 31) 252,838 311,027
F= Third parties 1,494,557 1,424,691
RE SN ANFTE/ Financial liabilities measured
SHEaRE at amortised cost 1,747,395 1,735,718
EEHehES Salaries and bonus payables 1,501,414 1,369,988
e Deposits 924,956 863,378
BVERFTIS T B B LASNEY Tax payables other than
FERT IR current income tax liabilities 220,985 151,994
4,394,750 4,121,078
et : BRE=ANHEGEMNKEREFEARERR & Note: Other payables and accruals with third parties are
BRARERER - A EMNRENSRE BEARD unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
AR BEAEEENKRAERS The fair values of other payables at the end of

each of the reporting period approximated to their
corresponding carrying amounts.
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24 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise
from the advance payments received from
customers while the underlying services are yet
to be provided. Such liabilities increased as a
result of the growth of the Group’s business.

ARETFIT ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

B 7 (FisE31) Related parties (note 31) 43,349 41,121
F=5 Third parties 2,236,033 2,130,491
2,279,382 2,171,612

ERAEZEHUWT : Movements in contract liabilities are as follows:

ARET T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
n—HA—H At 1 January 2,171,612 1,831,887
BEEFAFEVIERAR Revenue recognised that was included
HEARE R in the balance of contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year (2,171,612) (1,586,636)
U BE B B A &) Acquisition of subsidiaries = 38,288
A B L ETIE RS Net increase in contract liabilities as a
IER IR & M B 2 A [ result of cash received for property
BEEINFE management services in advance 2,279,382 1,888,073
R+=ZA=+—HH/H#%E  Balance at 31 December 2,279,382 2,171,612
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24

ERAE (&)

BRER

SREEMEEERSG (BLERS B Bmk
MEHERIIN BEBXELRYEETERSTM
FOARESARSERNFAAERENER (B
HEASBEZSBAOHEPHNEE) BARUWA
AEBEARERNRER L SEREREF
FHEEKRDRBE  FRAXRFRE=THERZ
e AEEEREBEREVBRELREIGRF
1210) BN ERER L T REZFHE
HERMGR NEOREF

RERBREEIRE (—RTB —F) 24 »
—ECNFERF_=FF+_A=t—HLE
ERITHEAORS - RERA TP REREE
B 25 -

REAN BaEYEREENS BORHEE
ERHREERTEFRHEK -FEAREFIE

+*7|<‘?ﬁuu&%%ﬁﬁ,\@fﬁﬁ%i‘\%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
KA R ZNFR TS =F+=
A=+—RH UBRBITXIDBITHRTE
OET

24 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(continued)
Performance obligations

For residential property management services
(except for brokerage services, sales of
planting stocks, merchandise and properties)
and commercial operational and property
management services, the Group recognises
revenue in the amount that equals the right
to invoice which corresponds directly with
the value to the customer of the Group’s
performance to date on a monthly basis. The
Group bills the amount for services provided
on a monthly basis or pre-charges service fee
on a half year basis and payment is due within
30 days of invoice. The Group has elected the
practical expedient as described in HKFRS
15.121(b) for not to disclose the remaining
performance obligations for these types of
contracts.

For brokerage services, the services are
rendered in a short period of time which is
generally less than a year and there was no
satisfied performance obligation as at 31
December 2024 and 2023. The payment is due
immediately when the services are rendered to
the customer.

For sales of planting stocks, merchandise
and properties, the performance obligation
is satisfied when control of the asset is
transferred to the customers. The payment is
due immediately when the customer obtains
the physical possession or the legal title of the
planting stocks, merchandise and properties.
There were no remaining performance
obligations unsatisfied or partially satisfied as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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25 HE 25 LEASES
EEBEEREBEA The Group as a lessee
AEERELERFTRANSEEFTRAEA The Group has lease contracts for various
HEAR - EFHNHEIA2E20F ' M/TEW items of buildings and motor vehicles used in
HEBEENT1E3F - HMRENHBA KRR its operations. Leases of buildings have lease
1218 A AT B/ S AR BEEIK - terms between 2 and 26 years, while motor

(a) EAREE

vehicles generally have lease terms between
1 and 3 years. Other equipment generally has
lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is
individually of low value.

(a) Right-of-use assets

RAFEE  AEBFEREEECEEER The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-
HEZHWT : of-use assets and the movements during

the year are as follows:

ARBTE ARBTT ARETTL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R-Z-=%5-8-H At 1 January 2023 100,983 1,541 102,524
NE Additions 95,136 656 95,792
NEER Depreciation charge (58,544) (887) (59,431)
HET AT HEE S Revision of a lease term arising

WEEARBNEGE from a change in the non-

cancellable period of a lease (26,535) (189) (26,724)

R-B-=%+-A=1—-H At 31 December 2023 and

k=-Z-_mE-A—H 1 January 2024 111,040 1,121 112,161
NE Additions 33,044 1,821 34,865
nEER Depreciation charge (57,772) (1,010) (58,782)
& AT sE A8 Revision of a lease term arising

B ES EHER]

from a change in the non-
cancellable period of a lease (2,391) (382) (2,773)

R-E-WFE+-A=+—H

At 31 December 2024 83,921 1,550 85,471
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25 #HE (&)
AEBEREHEA ()

25 LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

(b)y FEAE
() REEE HBEEEZEOBERAZH (i)
W

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities
and the movements during the year are

as follows:

ARBT T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—A—B®EEE Carrying amount at 1 January 2,419,109 2,401,717
HaE New leases 34,865 95,792
KA F R Accretion of interest recognised
RSl during the year 115,768 117,202
D Payments (260,875) (169,801)
& A AT EH A A Revision of a lease term arising
N P EE TR AR 1B from a change in the non-
H cancellable period of a lease (1,954) (25,801)
W+-—A=+—HH Carrying amount at 31 December
REE 2,306,913 2,419,109
DA Analysed into:
mENE D Current portion 132,731 151,786
B Non-current portion 2,174,182 2,267,323

AEBRMETHEES TURFTER
WEOBYHOLORREASE  LEB
KEMESHETHP ARRES K
A-HENEREEEDNEESN

BREVMENERE °

HERBENIHMBEITNES
7= Bt 7% 25(b)(iii) # 5

81 7%

AEERFAEHHBEAREES

THRELRRBRENAEAERME
SRERMNERBEET X -

The Group leased certain shopping
malls and service apartments located
in Chinese Mainland, from property
owners and subleased to tenants
through operating leases to earn
rental income. The right-of-use assets
of the leases are determined to meet
the definition of investment property.

The maturity analysis of lease
liabilities is disclosed in note 25(b)(iii)
to the financial statements.

The Group has applied the practical
expedient to all eligible rent
concessions granted by the lessors
for leases of certain plant and
equipment during the year.
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25 LEASES (continued)

EEBEEREABEA (B) The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) HERBEBE(HE) (b) Lease liabilities (continued)
(i) RERERABERBEZZEMT (i) The amounts recognised in profit or loss

(iii)

in relation to leases are as follows:

AREF T ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEABHNS Interest on lease liabilities 115,768 117,202
TREEENEER Depreciation charge on right of
use assets 58,782 59,431
HEHEEREEE Expense relating to short-term leases
EEHERENAS and leases of low-value assets 10,916 11,697
RFAHEBEFEZ  Variable lease payments not
AERENK included in the measurement
of lease liabilities 36,931 32,823
RERRRANEELTE Total amount recognised in
profit or loss 222,397 221,158

AREBEERHBEANA

RZE-_ME+=_A=+—H &
SEHEABEAGTEER  REDSA
BoE LA ER A TERERHA R
RARBEAENRAT ¢

(iii) ~ The Group as a lessor

At 31 December 2024, the Group
had contracted with lessees for the
following future undiscounted lease
payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as

follows:

AREF T ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FR Within one year 400,393 259,899
RE_FEFHF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BEERME) 496,740 400,060

HFR Atfter five years 124,920 210,945

1,022,053 870,904
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26

(i)

REMBMRRRFOHAEH

EREIDEEBREEERAE
LLﬁﬁﬁF&ET 48 Bk 2B
RAFEE  REEVBRARERZELE

HMIREE/(AfE) EXRED REESHMT :

26

INCOME TAX

IN THE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised:

(i)

Movement of each component of
deferred tax assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

ABBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETr ARBTT ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBIOOO
RTECZE-F-B A Januay 23 BE3 163 M 0 a1 06 108 (58 (074 (1000 (618 (640789)
WEMBATEERASN  Deferred tax ncreased
from acquisiton of
subsidiaries - 504 - - - - - - - (16,900) (16,39)
ERfIBE/GEA)ERH  Deferred tax charged of
EEHE (oreolted to) profit or loss
during the year 26,176 9797 = 2,188 (450) (40.784) (807) (34831) (137942 21,000 2896 (181727)
RZB-=E+-A=1-H A3t December 2023 and
Bog-mE-f-A 1 anuery 2004 W L6 WM au 61 B (009 (%11 - (sgn)
A Adjustments - - - - - - - - - - 1425 1425
ERGEA)/ABEARS  Defered tax (crecited to)f
EEHE charged to proft or loss
dung e yer (2340 16819 2 @O S TS6 () (1029 (S50 (8% BT (968)
RZEZME+ZA=T-R  At31 December 2024 311425 43461 670 3242 61,130 68,998 91 (62,118)  (494626)  (23,9%3)  (269511)  (881,171)
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(ii)
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26

INCOME TAX IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised: (continued)

(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated
statement of financial position:

AR®ETT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
A M AR TR A A Net deferred tax asset in the
EIER IR & EEF R consolidated statement of
financial position (142,552) (117,122)
HREVBIRARPH Net deferred tax liability in the
EEFRIA A EF5E consolidated statement of
financial position 1,023,723 906,033
881,171 788,911

BHE-_Z-_WE+-_A=+—HIEE
$EliﬂﬁﬁE%%AE%%mmﬁ
— 2 =%: AR®3,156,0007T) R
BEFGEMEE -BBEEBBAIAERZ T
& o

For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets in respect of tax
losses amounting to RMB257,000 (2023:
RMB3,156,000). The tax losses could
be carried forward for a maximum of five
years.
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26 ZEMBRRAKRFOAEHR (F)

=

(ii)

RELEREEERERE : (&)
A MBNRREER  (8)

REBE(PEARAXMBEEMRETE)
KBRS WINIRE R E RN R
BEBIRMRB AL 10% K B R EA IR
B ZREB_TT/N\F-A—HEER
BEAN—ZETLF+t _A=+—BRERHNA
Ao firp B A EINR IR EERERDEE
BEEABEIRE - ATEARENROB
BE - WAKEME  BRREH5% - B
it AEE AR B RSB B A
AR —ETN\FE-A—BEELNEFFR
DIRE BB BMTEHR - AREE LT E
MBARZAMNBERERREREAE
RARAEEFEKAAEZSFANDIRE
REIES) o

INCOME TAX

IN THE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised: (continued)

(ii)

Reconciliation to the consolidated
statement of financial position:
(continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income
Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Chinese Mainland. The
requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between Chinese Mainland and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The
Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008. The Group has
fully recognised deferred tax liabilities
in respect of the earnings of the PRC
subsidiaries as the Group has a plan to
distribute all these earnings out of the
PRC.
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27 EX - HEERE 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS
(a) B (a) Share capital

ARBTT ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

ERE Authorised:
5,000,000,000 fi% 5,000,000,000

(=B =—=%: (2023: 5,000,000,000) ordinary

5,000,000,000 f%) shares of US$0.00001 each

AR E{E0.00001 37T

Z &R 338 338
ERTRAE: Issued and fully paid:
2,282,500,000 fi% 2,282,500,000

(ZZE==%F: (2023: 2,282,500,000) ordinary

2,282,500,000 f%) shares at US$0.00001 each

B R™E(E0.00001FE T

2 EE 152 152
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27 BEX - #ERRE (&)

(b) B2

(i)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND

DIVIDENDS (continued)
(b) Dividends
AEEERAARAERRRZRE (i)

Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year.

ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
P B HA ] 14 B IR A9 R Interim dividend declared after the
REEIRE B interim period of RMB27.9 cents per
ARE279%  MEBK ordinary share, equivalent to
I FA% 30.5 4L HK30.5 cents per ordinary share
(ZZ==%: gRELBR (2023: RMB22.3 cents per ordinary
AR¥223% 1A 243 share, equivalent to HK24.3 cents)
) 627,823 508,963
AR ERERFE 14 B IR A0 5 Special dividend declared after the
REFkREER interim period of RMB57.5 cents per
ARES75% 1A ordinary share, equivalent to
G E Ak 62.9 51l HK62.9 cents per ordinary share
(ZZ==F &) (2023: Nil) 1,326,533 =
RAFEERE R RRE Final dividend declared after the year
@H&%ﬁﬂﬁ/\ﬁ?ﬁ@‘& 3% of RMB64.3 cents per ordinary share
(ZZ2==%: gRELBR (2023: RMB48.1 cents per ordinary
AREE481D A share, equivalent to HK52.9 cents
BT FERL52.9781l) per ordinary share) 1,467,648 1,097,883
RAFERE R RIRE Special dividend declared after the
%jt BARKG1.4D year of RMB61.4 cents per ordinary
(ZT==%: &) share (2023: Nil) 1,401,455 =
A F E 1% 5K #) R B RS A4 R Both of the final dividend and

BREYENBERRERREE -

special dividend declared after the

year have not been recognised as
a liability at the end of the reporting

period.
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27 EX - #ERKRE (&) 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)
(b) B2 (&) (b) Dividends (continued)

(i) BEMBREERMNAABERSBRRE (i) Dividends payable to equity

AR E - ERAFERE shareholders of the Company

attributable to the previous
financial year, approved during
the year

ARBFTIT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

RZAREFRERE Final dividend in respect of the
BB B R R EARR B previous financial year,
TR E AR approved during the year,
AR¥E4815 A of RMB48.1 cents per ordinary
SRR B 52.975 1 share, equivalent to HK52.9
(ZZE==% : gk %] cents per ordinary share (2023:
BARE312%  ITA&E  RMB31.2 cents per ordinary
fi% I3/ A% 35.7 L) share, equivalent to HK35.7

cents per ordinary share) 1,097,883 751,279
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27 BX - #BERRE (H) 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND

DIVIDENDS (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(c) MEZMHEREN

AEERAFEREFENRERER
HBHNHHRENGSERESHRZT -

(i) AHRERE
KRB YA B o 1 15 AN 5= B3R B 1R
THNMBAR SRR ANEREENE
Bl ARG T XS A 6T
REZENERE-

(iy ETHRREE

BEFEQARNEREBARISEZ
HEEZER RPEAREEFMOSA
AIZAEIB10% B IEFE A RS E
AIEE M RBEERNEETBBRRE
%~E§Eﬁﬁ%§$mm%ﬁto
B 2 RZ AR 2B A M) AR R 1 M R
SIRATVEL o

EEBBRHRBER/TAIDE  BRBR
B XA B BUA B E TR
MRER AIREEERFBERIE
e RBR AN o

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and
the movements therein for the current
and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the financial statements.

(iy Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group
represents the difference between
the aggregate of the paid-up share
capital of the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group and the
consideration paid by the Group
for the business combination under
common control.

(i) Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company
Law of the PRC and the respective
articles of association of the Group
companies, each of the companies
that is domiciled in the Chinese
Mainland is required to allocate 10%
of its profit after tax, as determined
in accordance with PRC GAAP, to
the statutory surplus reserve until
the reserve reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before
the distribution of a dividend to
shareholders.

The statutory surplus reserve is
non-distributable except that in the
event of liquidation where it can be
used to offset accumulated losses
or be capitalised as paid-up capital,
subject to certain restrictions set out
in the relevant PRC regulations.
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27 EX - FHEERE (&) 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) EXEE (d) Capital management

AEEEREERN  UHARAEEANER
BRENETHELE WEBBLEKE
B FERRRGEREAL R -

ARBESHERTABEEELE (B
BREBERNAEE)  FREARARE
ERELHANER AKEREEEE
HEGRBERRBES M FEREBEAR
B YERRBEREELER - ARENE
BEBRERBERFTE -

RoBE-NER-_T-_=FRNEBERE
ELLRMT :

The Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The directors of the Company review
the liability-to-asset ratio, which is total
liabilities divided by total assets, on a
continuous basis, taking into account the
cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure
through the raising of new debts as well
as the redemption of the existing debts,
and manage the liability to asset ratio.
The Group’s overall strategy remained
unchanged during the year.

The liability-to-asset ratios at the end of
2024 and 2023 are as follows:

ARETT ARBETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

REE Total assets

waE Total liabilities
BEHEEELX Liability-to-asset ratio

28,908,135 27,783,482
12,186,979 11,747,432
42.2% 42.3%
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28 BNHAKE

BNIXRRELSEERARRE - BHIRAKE
EEIREBAMHIFLNEERER -BAIR
RERVEERBEESSHAE  YNEH
SRR AR BEITE - MAKBELNETE
HRNREEEEEREEEFE ZIRARA
BEE AL REMNRKRRE AELAR
EonBEFEZE - FHBHRKEFE29eE)

REEEN BARL THIBELIHENE
HTETDALNBES RRZ A5EAF
EREFBRHAITE KRN TETNEER
ERBEEREDLEBAB INORE YEE
FLAFET ANEH

28 CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION

PAYABLES

The contingent consideration payables are
unsecured and interest-free. Contingent
consideration payables represent the
performance guarantee given by the vendors in
relation to the business combination. Contingent
consideration payables have been designated
as financial liabilities upon initial recognition
and is measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. Contingent consideration
payables will be realised if the acquired
businesses achieve their respective base year
revenue and profit target, calculated on certain
predetermined basis, during the designated
period of time. Further details regarding the fair
value measurement of contingent considerations
are disclosed in note 29(e).

Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement
with the sellers of Yuzhou, Nantong Changle,
Jiangsu Zhongnan and Langji (the “Sellers”),
the Group has a legally enforceable right to
offset the amounts due from the Sellers and their
related parties from the purchase consideration
payable to the sellers and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis.
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28 CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION
PAYABLES (continued)

The effect of the netting arrangements on the
Group’s financial position is as below:

As at 31 December 2024

ARBTRL  ARETL ARETRL ARETR  ARRTR
RMBOOO ~ RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO

SHEE Financial assets

EIRNTERENER Trade and bill receivables 311,136 (311,136) - 2,365,884 2,365,884
SRAE Financial liabilities

ERRARE Contingent consideration payables 497,138 (311,136) 186,002 - 186,002
LR Analysed into:

ikl Current 34,793 34,793
£k Non-current 151,209 151,209
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28 ENHARE (E) 28 CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION
PAYABLES (continued)
R-ZE-_=%+-_H=+—H As at 31 December 2023

ARRTE  ARMTR ARRTE ARMTR  ARETR
RMBOOO ~ RMBO0O  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBO0O

SHEE Financial assets

BARNTERENZE Trade and bill receivables 564,581 (564,581) - 1,995,595 1,995,595
SRERE Financial liabilities

ENRAKE Contingent consideration payables 899,737 (564,581) 335,156 - 335,156
- Analysed into:

e Current 114,025 114,025

i) Non-current 221,131 221,131
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The Group is also exposed
to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities and movements in
its own equity share price.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and
the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in
relation to its trade and bill receivables
and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and restricted bank deposits.

The Group expects that there is no
significant credit risk associated with
cash and cash equivalents and restricted
bank deposits since they are substantially
deposited at state-owned banks and
other medium or large-sized listed banks.
Management does not expect that there
will be any significant losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.

The Group expects that the credit risk
associated with trade and bill receivables
and other receivables due from related
parties to be low, since the related parties
have strong capacity to meet contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@) Credit risk (continued)

The Group trades only with recognised
and credit worthy third parties.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed
by analysis by customer/counterparty.
There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk within the Group as the
customer bases of the Group’s trade and
bill receivables and other receivables are
widely dispersed. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end
staging as at 31 December 2024
and 2023

The tables below show the credit quality
and the maximum exposure to credit risk
based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on historical collection
information unless other information is
available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31
December 2024 and 2023. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.
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29 cRIEMEEREMIANARE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

5 (&) AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) FERR (&) (a) Credit risk (continued)
RZEZMFER= 2 —=F+= Maximum exposure and year-end
A=+—BN&aREEREFRA staging as at 31 December 2024
B fE B (&) and 2023 (continued)

Wit ARRTL ARMTE ARETR ARRTL ARKTR
Noe ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMWBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO

ESRUGERENZE  Trade and bill receivables (i) 33,280 - - 2,332,604 2,365,884
SIABNFE - Efufe  Financial assets included in

FEREMEEL prepayments, other

PHAE receivables and other assets
—I% — Normal (ii) 900,607 - - - 900,607
XBHETER Restricted bank deposits 98,618 - - - 98,618
BeRALEEN Cash and cash equivalents 9,570,816 - - - 9570816
THER Time deposits 4,573,723 - - - 4573723

15,177,044 = - 2332604 17,509,648
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end
staging as at 31 December 2024
2023 (continued)

and

WE ARETr ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ZHERNFEREYNEE  Trade and bill receivables (i) 4539 - - 199105 1,995,595
SIAERFE  EftfEY  Financial assets included
HERAMEE in prepayments, other
EHEE receivables and other assets
—IE5 — Normal (ii) 1,215,506 - - - 1,215,506
XBHIRIER Restricted bank deposits 66,613 - - - 66,613
ReRALEEN Cash and cash equivalents 11,580,159 - - - 11,580,159
EBER Time deposits 4,254,863 - = - 4254863
17,121,680 - - 1991056 19,112,736
et - Notes:

(ii)

RAEEERGSLEITRENE S EKRIE
Ms ERBREEENERBERNGSMBER
RMFEAT o

FINEEKRRERAMEENEREENE
FHZAEVERHAYEERBRAHSRE
EREERBR B 1562 B KR N 3R
BIER] B eREENEFEERRES
[AI&E] °

U]

For trade receivables to which the Group
applies the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets
included in other receivables and other assets
is considered to be “normal” when they are not
past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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29 SRIEAMEERESMIANAARE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

5 (&) AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) REBELR (b) Liquidity risk
REBAZKEEREEESHREER Individual operating entities within the

BERS BB RS E TR
NSRS TR ISR L R
S NARBERERESHER P
AT ¢

AEBNBRREEHEREARDELTE
REREREETIEERANMRE @ BRE
HBRRNRSHERKEESREER
BRANAHEERE  UWENEEME
BERAENRBDESHR

TRINFREFRAEEFTESHEE
MR TERBHER - ENARARMEAR
ERE (BREMAARMEN (N RFEF
R)ENRERROBITHNRFENFE
N3 RAKE AR R R & F B -

Group are responsible for their own
cash management, including the short-
term investment of cash surpluses and
the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by
management and directors when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority.

The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer terms.

The following tables show the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of
each year of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting
period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.
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(b) REBEERERR (F)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ZZZMEFZA=T-H 31December 2024
HEaR Lease liabilities 213,861 209,751 575939 2274374 3273925 2,306,913
BHEMNTA Trade payables 1,530,649 71,033 22,124 291 1655727 1,655,727
S AEAER FIBR Financial liabiliies included in
EirERNSRAR other payables and accruals 2,672,351 - - - 2672351 2,672,351
ERFIARE Contingent consideration
payables 37,354 45,081 121,803 - 204,238 186,002
4,463,215 325,865 719,866 2,297,295 7,806,241 6,820,993
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(b) RBEERERR (F)
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29

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETr ARETR
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMBO0O
“Z-=F+-A=1—H 31December 2023
HERR Lease liabilities 287925 2393 606164 2555234 3623259 2419109
BHEME Trade payables 1443103 60,564 22,136 20315 1,546,118  1546,118
DIAE A EMTER Financial liabiltties included in
S ERNSRAR other payables and accruals 2,599,096 = - - 259909 2599096
ERSARE Contingent consideration payables 123,188 78,774 176,223 - 378185 335,156
4403312 363274 804523 2575549 8146658 6,899,479
F 2= [ b (c) Interest rate risk

MNERBRREBIANDREERRKR
EnERETISNXEBELNBER
BHRRITREMEXFBA NS HRERES)
AtAKETeEGARRAS RS EE
YRR RHIR BN K@ -

AEEYERBIHFREHERLT  Bit
7K T e BRI R AR o

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The
Group is not exposed to significant interest
rate risk for cash and cash equivalents
or restricted cash because the interest
rates of cash at bank are not expected to
change significantly.

The Group is not exposed to material
interest rate risk as the Group has no
long term debt obligations with a floating
interest rate.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Currency risk

The functional currency of the Group’s
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland is
RMB. The Group considers the risk
of movements in exchange rates to
be insignificant except for dividends
distributed by a Chinese Mainland-
resident enterprise to its immediate
holding company outside Chinese
Mainland. Almost all of the Group’s
operating activities are carried out in
Chinese Mainland with most of the
transactions denominated in RMB. The
cash held by the Company and Hong
Kong subsidiary are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar (*“HKD”) and the functional
currency of these entities are HKD.

(e) Fair value measurement

(iy Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the
fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to
the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement
(continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value
(continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value
measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value
measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market
data are not available.

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value
measured using significant
unobservable inputs

The Group’s finance department
headed by the chief financial officer
is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the
fair value measurement of financial
instruments. At each reporting date,
the finance manager analyses the
movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the
major inputs applied in the valuation.
The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial
officer.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement
(continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value
(continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair
value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s financial instruments:

ARETT  ARETT ARET:  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BERAAEBENE Recurring fair value
measurement
SREE Financial assets:
G ET Structured deposits 2,607,951 - 2,607,951 -
TRAR: Financial liabiltties:
FERZARE(FE29)  Contingent consideration
payables (note 29) 497,138 - - 497,138
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement
(continued)

(iy Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value
(continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

ARBTL  ARETRT  ARETT  AR®TR
RMB'000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BERDNAEETE Recurring fair value
measurement

FER S ARE(FIE29)  Contingent consideration
payables (note 29)

899,737 = = 899,737

REZE-_ET_NWNEFRER_FT_=1F
+_A=+—"BI&EE F—HH4E
FEoR AW EEE . I EE A

FELF=R - -AEENBERR
BENAEBEEERBRZBER R
R iR A RS -

During the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level
2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.
The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.
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29 SREREERSBMIAEMNAALE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

8 (&) AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(e) AREEGE (&) () Fair value measurement
(continued)
() AR EBEAENEHEE (i) Financial assets and liabilities
kEE (&) measured at fair value
(continued)
DABEER(E) Fair value hierarchy (continued)
F_R/AABEFEERANGEER Valuation techniques and
IPSEPNN inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements
EEUEERNAABEMEBITHE The fair value of structured deposits
JC 3R T 25 T HY B B BE R A 4 o is linked to the EUR vs USD or
B ERERE BHEXRETE - AUD vs USD spot exchange rate.

The return rate are determined by
the exchange rate on the date of

observation.
BREFE=ZMAABEFENER Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements
ARBEFEHANGBERINLE The value technique and the inputs
ABHRES 0T - used in the fair value measurements

are set out as below:

APERES MAEREREZ EHEES —ZAFHLPR

Contingent consideration payables ~ Discounted cash flow method Discount rate 1 or 5-year LPR
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) AAREEGTE (&) () Fair value measurement
(continued)
() BAREBEFENTHEE (i) Financial assets and liabilities
NafE (&) measured at fair value
(continued)
DAEBEER (B Fair value hierarchy (continued)
FNE=ZBRAAEBEEFEEHNE The movement during the year in
T : the balance of Level 3 fair value
measurements is as follows:
AR®F T ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—A—B®&aE Gross amounts at 1 January 899,737 935,043
NE Addition - 41,426
FHEEHERD (HFE13) Reduction in relation to the
Disposals (note 13) (134,095) =
A (FRE 14(01) Adjustments (note 14(ii)) (20,602) -
FARBRBERNALBE Net changes in fair value
558 (MI3E5) recognised in profit or loss
during the year (note 5) (151,465) (50,983)
XA IR 8 Cost reimbursements - (25,749)
HNEEINARE Settlement of contingent
consideration for the period (96,437) -
RNt+-—A=+—HHNHE%E Gross amounts at 31 December 497,138 899,737
(i) WL AALBEIERNS @ (i) Fair values of financial assets

R-B_NMER-_ZT_=F+_#

=+-8-

AEEIEEAEZR -

AN 6% [ 92 P AN B S AR
RIENERMTEANKRAEEALR

and liabilities carried at other
than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s
financial instruments carried at cost
or amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair values as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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30 &L 30 COMMITMENTS
REBEFTANBERNGS M BHREFREL BE The Group has following material commitments
RSB RAPENT which are contracted for but not provided in the

consolidated financial statements:

ARBTT ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
BB TEENERYEAR Contracted capital expenditure
M : in respect of:
— REYE — Investment properties 24,075 392,380
— W BERFK — Property, plant and equipment 2,533 24,848
26,608 417,228
RZE_NWF+ A AEBEEARMNET RS In October 2024, the Group entered into an
wHEELERAR ([HEADFT—HAH agreement to lease a property from Hangzhou
TTENYEHEERZ HEHEEHEARAKNE Binjiang District Reserved Land Development
ERXNHAEMEZBREXBERNZARERSE and Operation Co., Ltd. (“Lessor”) with a 20-
FAEpZIPEZA (UAREELA%E) -AERE year lease term. The lease will start from the
# 5 AN R #1,447,000,000 7T Hﬁﬁ’\fﬂﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁéﬁ% date of delivery of the respective property
REAEENFERAEEEREESRE by the lessor to the Group or from the date

of delivery to the expiry date of the overall
development agreement, whichever is earlier.
The present value of the lease of approximately
RMB1,447,000,000 will be recognised as right
of use assets and lease liabilities of the Group
upon the commencement of the lease.
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31 EXBEBAERS 31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

(a) BB LT HWEBRER (a) Name and relationship with a

related party
SERER AR ATHER  BEEERAFR The ultimate holding company is CRCL
REREEM o and the immediate holding company is CR

Land.

(b) EEEEE S IS (b) Transactions with related parties
MRZER SRR E MG RmRZR S5 In addition to the transactions detailed
AEFERAFECHBE T EITUNTIRS elsewhere in these financial statements,

the Group had the following transactions
with related parties during the year:

ARBETT AR®ETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
FEMHER RIEERE Residential property management and
value-added services
EBEN S Property management services
— BRERRABRENE — The ultimate holding company and
AA([EHEE]) R its subsidiaries (the “CRH Group”),
HEpg ARG E R (D and its associates and joint
BREERBHEE) ventures (excluding the CR Land
Group) 363,793 289,920
— ERERRARRENE — The immediate holding company
REl([EHEHEE]) - and its subsidiaries (the “CR
BELERME AR Land Group”), joint venture and
associates 474,153 314,477
837,946 604,397
fR3EE F HVIRE RS Value-added services to
non-property owners
— ERRERABENA — The CRH Group and its associates
HELPE(TBE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHBMER) CR Land Group) - 17
—EREMEERARE — The CR Land Group and its
UNGIEE R associates and joint ventures 617,748 594,644

617,748 594,661
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31 EXRBEBMALIRS (&)

(b) EBREABLTHNXS ()

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties
(continued)

AR®BTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RETHILERY Value-added services for property
owners
— EHEERABRE N — The CRH Group and its associates
HELRE(TBE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEWEE) CR Land Group) 74,248 24,035
— **EF'E]EﬁEE B B — The CR Land Group and its
HESME associates and joint ventures 262,492 161,284
336,740 185,319
EEMENHEEER Commercial operational and property
MEEBEREL RS management and operational services
for commercial properties
— EHRERABENRA — The CRH Group and its associates
HAELPE(TBE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEMWEE) CR Land Group) 45,703 49,837
—EHENSERAES — The CR Land Group and its
NEIHEGEDE associates and joint ventures 3,016,580 2,298,018
3,062,283 2,347,855
WAMERMEBTER Property management and operational
EBERS services for office properties
— EHEEREBERT — The CRH Group and its associates
HAELEPE(TBE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEMWEE) CR Land Group) 215,443 201,473
— EHEMSERHESE — The CR Land Group and its
NAEAEME associates and joint ventures 494,920 475,913
710,363 677,386
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31 EXBEBAERS (&) 31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties
(continued)

(b) EBEABLSHNRS ()

ARBTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
7% 4 R B AR 15 Commercial ecosystem services
— EHEEREBE QA — The CRH Group and its associates
HELEPE(TRE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEMEE) CR Land Group) 14,404 =
— EHENEEREE — The CR Land Group and its
NREEERE associates and joint ventures 1,146 =
15,550 -
BEEm BMURRH% Purchase of goods, carparks and
services
— EHEE R HEBE N — The CRH Group and its associates
HELERE(TRE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEMEE) CR Land Group) 214,897 91,848
—EHEMHEEREE — The CR Land Group and its
NREEE R associates and joint ventures 412,122 389,259
627,019 481,107
S5 2 Interest expenses
— ERRBERAEBEAA — The CRH Group and its associates
HEBRE(TBE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHBMER) CR Land Group) 345 56
—EHEMEE RS — The CR Land Group and its
NAEAE M associates and joint ventures 2,723 2127
3,068 2,183
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31 ERBEBMALIRS (&)

(b) EBREABLTHNXS ()

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties
(continued)

AR®BTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REFREEE Additions of right-of-use assets
— EHEEREBRE QA — The CRH Group and its associates
HELRE(TBRE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEHNEE) CR Land Group) 3,000 1,828
—%ﬁﬁﬂ%@&ﬁ”% — The CR Land Group and its
HAEERE associates and joint ventures 12,312 85,640
15,312 87,468
52 H g AT A B 1R Short-term or variable-lease payments
— EHRBEREBERA — The CRH Group and its associates
HEBRE (TR and joint ventures (excluding the
EHBMER) CR Land Group) 89 877
—EHENEERAES — The CR Land Group and its
REEAERE associates and joint ventures 4,337 9,381
4,426 10,258
B & - Notes:
(i) RINGEBRITROERAF ([FHIRT] (i) Deposits with Zhuhai China Resources Bank

RAEENFRRMEBAE) BFR -

RZFE-_WMFE+=_A=+—H
THBEEAEEFRNE

BRI R

AR#625332,000L (ZE-=F: AR

#527,711,0007T) °
=t—HLEFE:

BE_ZT_MWME+_H
% 5 17 SR A R AR B

BARMK22058000TC (ZTE=_=F: AR

3,460,0007T) °

(i) RETZZWER=T==
B REME RIS IR o

EBRELAESR (i

Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”), a fellow subsidiary of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2024, cash and bank
balances included deposits of RMB625,332,000
(2023: RMB527,711,000) which were made by
the Group to CR Bank. The aggregate interest
income arising from such deposits amounted
to RMB22,058,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB3,460,000).

During 2024 and 2023, Mixc Commercial was
entitled to use some trademarks of CR Land for
free.
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31 EXBELIRS (&) 31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) EEREE L M4&EER (c) Balances with related parties

ARBETT ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
JFE 5 A B 75 R 0E Receivables from related parties
B 5 RNFRIBRERER Trade and bill receivables
— EHEE R EBE QA — The CRH Group and its associates
HELEPE(TRE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEMERE) CR Land Group) 123,024 114,516
— EHENEEREE — The CR Land Group and its
NREEE R associates and joint ventures 862,915 764,439
985,939 878,955
BRI - Efb IR Prepayments, other receivables
RE A& E and other assets
— EHEE R EBE N — The CRH Group and its associates
HELEPE(TRE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEHEE) CR Land Group) 31,662 68,290
—EHEMHEEREE — The CR Land Group and its
NREEE R associates and joint ventures 365,293 607,163

396,955 675,453
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31 EXBHERS (&) 31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Balances with related parties
(continued)

(c) ERBAHEET V4S8R ()

AR®BTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
JE 1< BB B 7 3k IR Payables to related parties
B 5N HIE Trade payables
— EHRERABENA — The CRH Group and its associates
HERRE (TBE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEHER) CR Land Group) 9,081 12,764
—EHENRERARS — The CR Land Group and its
NAEAEME associates and joint ventures 58,590 71,044
67,671 83,808
Hofth & 508 Other payables
— EHEE R EBRE QA — The CRH Group and its associates
HELRE(TBE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEHEE) CR Land Group) 46,559 43,778
— EHENEERHEESE — The CR Land Group and its
NEEGERE associates and joint ventures 206,279 267,249
252,838 311,027
&RAE Contract liabilities
— EHEE R EBE QA — The CRH Group and its associates
HEBRE (TR and joint ventures (excluding the
EHEMEE) CR Land Group) 3,761 7,694
—EHENEEREE — The CR Land Group and its
NREEERE associates and joint ventures 39,588 33,427
43,349 41,121
HEBRE (M) Lease liabilities (note)
— EHREREBERA — The CRH Group and its associates
HAEZEPE(TBE and joint ventures (excluding the
EHBMER) CR Land Group) 3,836 4,332
—EHEMEERERE — The CR Land Group and its
NEEAE M associates and joint ventures 42,440 55,512
46,276 59,844




31 EXEBMALIRS (&)

(c) ERRAEET V4S8R (FE)

FEE -

FR - HENRAARKS31,071,000 L (ZFE==F:
AR#25720,0007T)  R-_ZE-_ME+=-_F=+—
A AEEAZSHEARBHRZEAREEAAR
# 41,395,000 T (ZE=—=4 : AR¥57,689,0007T) °

d) EEEEAESHM

AEET2EEABNEHH (BREMES
FRBEEN AR EETNSRARMEIMN
BEOCNETESFMEENSF) T
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31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Balances with related parties
(continued)

Note:

The lease payment during the year amounted to
RMB31,071,000 (2023: RMB25,720,000). As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s right-of-use assets
relating to such rental contracts amounted to
RMB41,395,000 (2023: RMB57,689,000).

(d) Key management personnel
remuneration

Remuneration for key management
personnel of the Group, including
amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in
note 9, is as follows:

ARBFT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000

e EUREVET Salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind 5,405 4,390
BB TEAT Discretionary bonuses 9,334 17,024
BIREFEIER Retirement scheme contributions 1,108 618
15,847 22,032

FEMaEEst ATE IR (RHEE6(b)) °

Total remuneration is included in “staff
costs” (see note 6(b)).
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32 BEREATNEMIA 32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

RZB_NMERZZT_=F+-_A=+—8" The carrying amounts of each of the categories

ZHESRTAMKABENT : of financial instruments as at the 31 December

2024 and 2023 are as follows:

(a) EMEE (a) Financial assets

ARBTT ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
EHREFA R MR R Trade and bill receivables 2,365,884 1,995,595
B AFERT A ~ E i fE U RUE M Financial assets included in prepayments,

HthEEMESRMEE other receivables and other assets 900,607 1,215,506
SR HIRITE X Restricted bank deposits 98,618 66,613
RekBReEED Cash and cash equivalents 9,570,816 11,580,159
HEEFER Structured deposits 2,607,951 =
TE HATE 5K Time deposits 4,573,723 4,254,863

20,117,599 19,112,736
(b) ERMEE (b) Financial liabilities
R-B-WME+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2024

ARETT ARETT ARETT

RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2 S ENHRE Trade payables - 1,655,727 1,655,727
Bl N EL A A 30E ] Financial liabilities included in
B ERMERAE other payables and accruals - 2,672,351 2,672,351
Bk ARE Contingent consideration
payables 186,002 - 186,002
HEEE Lease liabilities - 2,306,913 2,306,913

186,002 6,634,991 6,820,993
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32 ZERHEINERTIA (&) 32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)
(b) TRAME (&) (b) Financial liabilities (continued)
R-E-_=F+-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2023

ARETT ARETT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
B HEMNFTIE Trade payables = 1,546,118 1,546,118
Bl A EL At FE 1 5018 I Financial liabilities included in
B BEANSRAE other payables and accruals - 2,599,096 2,599,096
ERSARE Contingent consideration
payables 335,156 - 335,156
HEEE Lease liabilities - 2,419,109 2,419,109

335,156 6,564,323 6,899,479
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BRARAREPRMBRRARZERDT ¢

& T 9 B B AR R 2R

33 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Information about the statement of financial

position of the Company at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

ARETFIT ARETF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREEE Non-current assets
W - BRER&E Property, plant and equipment 25 39
KRB RRINEE Investment in a subsidiary 1,835,034 158
EMEBEERE Total non-current assets 1,835,059 197
REEE Current assets
RERBECEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 979,360 146,888
EHFR Time deposits = 1,410,157
FERRIE - ek Prepayments, deposits and other
H fth fE Y R IE receivables 2,835,834 7,036,381
MENEERE Total current assets 3,815,194 8,593,426
REEE Current liabilities
HibhENZENEEA  Other payables and accruals 8,358 36,442
mENBEARE Total current liabilities 8,358 36,442
ENE R Net current assets 3,806,836 8,556,984
BEERARDAR Total assets less current liabilities 5,641,895 8,557,181
BEE NET ASSETS 5,641,895 8,557,181
e EQUITY
[N Share capital 152 152
Hfth A 1@ Other reserves 5,641,743 8,557,029
ESBEE TOTAL EQUITY 5,641,895 8,557,181
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33 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company'’s share capital and reserves is as
follows:

ARET T AREFT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
R=-ZB=-=%—-—HA—8H At 1 January 2023 152 11,640,394 (1,857,258) 9,783,288
FAEER =B Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 34,135 34,135
T FREARS Final dividend for 2022 - - (751,279) (751,279)
ZE=FPHRE The interim dividend for 2023 - - (508,963) (508,963)
R=-B=-=%F At 31 December 2023 and
+T=ZHA=+t-HBR 1 January 2024
—E-NE-A—H 152 11,640,394 (3,083,365) 8,557,181
FAEER R AT Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 136,953 136,953
—E=FRERE Final dividend for 2023 - - (1,097,883) (1,097,883)
Rl AR R Special dividend - - (1,326,533) (1,326,533)
—TomMERERE The interim dividend for 2024 - - (627,823) (627,823)
R-Z-ME At 31 December 2024
+=—A=+—H 152 11,640,394 (5,998,651) 5,641,895

BERRNFEFARSZE

34 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER

THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period the
directors proposed a final dividend. Further
details are disclosed in note 27(b).
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3B BE_FT_-_MWE+=-_HA=+—HL 35 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF

FECEMEERERNEE - #
ZARZRENEESE

BEEZSHBHREATIERY FESFMAE
BB M ZHF] RGBT R ZFHFT LK
B EAREE—_FT _MFE+ _A=1t—H81
FERRER - ARNZEHBRRAEARERR -
ZEEANB BRI T EAKE A RN IR -

AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number
of new or amended standards, which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in
these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to
the Group.

FEGFEF 215 (B EXEHNTE —

Lack of exchangeability

FEMBHRELENEIR  eMTARBFEMBEREER

Rz AR
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates —

—ZE-h¥—HA—H
1 January 2025

—?—/\fﬁ ﬂ E!

F7HUER]) c ERMTA - ®KE — ST AN BRE (BFD

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7,

1 January 2026

Financial instruments: disclosures — Amendments to the classification

and measurement of financial instruments
BB B EER 2 FREHE — F115

Annual improvements to HKFRSs — Volume 11

BEUEHRELERIZE185 - MIEHmEREN RHEE

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements
BBMBMEERNE19%  FARZTEAMBAR : #E
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures

AEE L FEA K E &R ERMEE
PRE BTG - ES B H AR BRMAZ
FRAUBMAKRAEHEEMBEREEREKN

I=7%7:14
=

—E-RF—A—H
1 January 2026
—E-t&—H—H
1 January 2027
—E-+F—HA—H
1 January 2027

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these
developments is expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'0OO ~ RMBOO0  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000
s Revenue 17,042,658 14,766,952 12,016,179 80875384 6,778,911
BRAE AT A Profit before tax 4,895,221 3912124 2906153 2336556 1,134,926
FEHAX Income tax expenses (1,165,114)  (969,484)  (692,905)  (610,486)  (317,216)
FRRH Profit for the year 3,730,107 2942640 2213248 1726070 817,710
ATALER: Attributable to;
KRR ERRE Equity shareholders of
the Company 3,629,375 2928749 2206126 1724925 817,170
s Non-controlling interests 100,732 13,891 7,122 1,145 -
RERBRR Consolidated financial position
ERBEE Non-current assets 12,651,798 8265067 9,998,710 5561773 2,744,185
mEBEE Current assets 16,256,337 19,518415 15,839,132 16,030,149 16,331,769
MEAE Current liabilities 8,827,939 8339707 8039561 6,079,062 5055330
TWEEE,/(BE)FE  Netcurrent assets/(liabilities) 7,428,398 11,178,708  7,799571 9951087 11,276,439
BELEHRDEE Total assets less current liabilities 20,080,196 19,443,775 17,798,281 15,512,860 14,020,624
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 3,359,040 3407725 3472549 1623835 1557592
BEZE Net assets 16,721,156 16,036,050 14,325,732 13,889,025 12,463,032
4oy Equity
BRA Share capital 152 152 152 152 152
&1 Reserves 16,525,220 15,948,084 14,279,577 13,887,728 12,462,880
KRR ERRE Equity attributable to equity
e R shareholders of the Company 16,525,372 15948236 14,279,729 13,887,880 12,463,032
R Non-controlling interests 195,784 87,814 46,003 1,145 =
i Total equity 16,721,156 16,036,050 14,325,732 13889025 12,463,032
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RAFRA - KXESBREN

BATEE -

[TE-_AFRERBEFAZ]
‘2025 AGM”

[#EE=2MmA) )
“Articles of Association”

=3
“Board”
[dEERFA

“CG Code”

[

“China” or “PRC”

[REDE]

“Companies Act”

EAVNCIN

“Company”

TAAZEKAZR In this annual report, unless the context otherwise
requires, the following words and expressions shall
have the following meanings.

RATHRZZE-_hF AR BE (EBAM) RITHRRBFAE
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 5 June
2025

RAREBERRMA - KLTFHERT - MR SAE A 7 &2k
the articles of association of the Company, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

ARPESRS

the board of directors of the Company

TR RIRT S C1 (RTFEMI 8% 1+ 10) FrEk (b B e <F Al
the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 (formerly known as
Appendix 14) of the Listing Rules

REARKNE HERXEMERERLIFHME - TEEEE - A ERM
FRIfTHE K& & &

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires and
only for the purpose of this annual report, excluding Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

FEHEFE2ERTNA(ZE=ZFBFIR)  KBIARER] - A EMm
HAE W

the Companies Act (2023 Revision), Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

EHEREFARAR —HARFEHESTMAINERELER AR - AR
T IRESE X P E AR BT (AR A5k © 1209)

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (ZEEB R4 /EBR A A]), an
exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and the shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 1209)



[ B R

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ZEBRTT]

“CR Bank”

[FEREX]

“CR Capital”

[FEHERNEE ]
“CR Capital Group”

[FERHEE )

“CR Group”

[FERHE

“CR Land”

[FEEEMWREAL]

“CR Land Connected Persons”
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AR FWRAMETORE  IXEME 28 (EE) R SEHEM
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and as the context
requires, CRH and/or CR Land

WEERRITRMARLDR - A —REMLNIKENWHRT REEER
ATEE EERMFHAEEPL49.77% HAE

China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (k)8 HRITR M ER A R]), a
municipal bank headquartered in Zhuhai, in which CRI holds approximately
49.77% equity interest as at the Latest Practicable Date

EREAEBARLDR —HREEIMAZIOHBRAR U R—BREE
AR AEEH(EE)REZERS

China Resources Capital Management Limited (E2HEAEEEFR A A)), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and an investment
holding company indirectly wholly owned by CRH

EHERAREBEA

CR Capital and its associates

EH(&EE)  HEHERQARREZENNBAR (ZARABRAEERI)
CRH, its holding companies, and their respective subsidiaries, unless

specifically defined otherwise

EREMBERAF  —ARFASHESEMAZAOBR DA - HR DR8P
IR ET (BRHRS : 1109) - APEERELFE  ULRARARNEEER
NG

China Resources Land Limited (E B & B[R/ 7), a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and the shares of which are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1109), ultimately held by
CRC and the immediate holding company of the Company

EHEM N EBEA
CR Land and its associates
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[ B2

“CRC”

(28 (£ H) ]

“CRH"

(8 (RE) BEAL]

“CRH Connected Persons”

[Z R

“CRI”

[E%]

“Director(s)”
[R&EE]

“Group”

[7%&7t)
“HKD”

PEEBARAR —HARPEKINAREERR - WX B E
FEEEBEEZEGRENEALRE  ARARRNRARERAF

China Resources Company Limited (B % 8 B R A 7)), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and a state-owned enterprise
under the supervision of State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council, PRC and the ultimate holding company of the

Company

EFH(EE)BRAR  —HREETMRINERAR] - AREERRERFE
W AR R EZER A A

China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (¥ 8 (52 )G R 2 7)), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, ultimately held by
CRC and the intermediate holding company of the Company

EH(EE)  HERAR HXENNBRARREBEA (TEREFEHEMWH
AL
CRH, its holding companies, their respective subsidiaries and their associates

(excluding CR Land Connected Persons)

EHROAERRAF - —HARPBEKXTNROERLAR - WARER(KE) B H
FERR 2 7]

China Resources Inc. (Z H & » BB 2 Al), a joint stock limited liability
company established in the PRC, which is an intermediate holding company of
CRH

RAREE
the director(s) of the Company

ARBREM B AR (FIRNEPIIE - ARE REER—HskZ BB L)
the Company and its subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or more of its
subsidiaries, as the context may require)

BEIEEEHET

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong



(&
“Hong Kong”

[ &R EFRAT1TH

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ 7]
“Listing”

[ EmARA

“Listing Rules”

[ =R

“Prospectus”

(&4

“Reorganisation”

AR
“RMB”

[ 58 7% M| 151

“SFO”

[ 47
“Share(s)”

HEM B S /BTG A PRAT]  China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

PEIEB R RITTHRER
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

—ERFMA+TARE BIRAFRNEDE MG REERNFRTAEE T
BHOKEERAIITAS

16 April 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the bulk printing
and publication of this annual report for the purpose of ascertaining certain

information contained in this annual report

AR FEBSE S2 P EAR BT
the listing of the Shares on the main board of the Stock Exchange

EEMERIMEBERARAESLTHRE BIRBEET #BRIAEMT R E
%

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

ARREHA-_Z_TF+-—A-_+tHBENBKRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 25 November 2020

AEERERELETETNER  FHHE2HUBRERIESL SARDCERE
— &4

the restructuring and reorganisation undergone by the Group in preparation
of the Listing, details of which are set out in “History, Reorganization and

Corporate Structure — Reorganization” in the Prospectus

FEUEEEB AR
Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

BEBEOESTI BEHZ RHABERD - K TRER] - AR AR MR BN
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

AR AR AN & AR I {E 0.00001 56 7T B & AR
ordinary shares of a par value of US$0.00001 each in the capital of the
Company
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[R% R SUEST=DN

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

[k 32 P ERBMER AR DA

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
[%] Btk

“%” per cent

RAFEHT - RXEABMEIN  [BRAI[E
BHEAl [BEAL] TBEXS] [HE&
BERS]  [ERER] - MEAF RIE2
PR | SRREAA _ EMARRIPTE TR -

In this annual report, the terms “associate”, “close
associate”, “connected person”, “connected transaction”,
“continuing connected transaction”, “controlling
shareholder”, “subsidiary” and “substantial shareholder”
shall have the same meanings ascribed to them in the

Listing Rules, unless the context otherwise requires.
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